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I.

INTRODUCTION
Over three years ago, Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre (“Plaintiff” or “LaBarre”) brought this

class action lawsuit against Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc. (“Defendant” or “Ceridian”) alleging
claims under the Biometric Information Privacy Act (“BIPA”), 740 ILCS 14/1, et seq. Ceridian
provides a finger-scanning timeclock system called Dayforce to employers across Illinois
(including Plaintiff’s former employer, The Standard Market, a grocery store), along with cloud
hosting services to store their workers’ fingerprint data. In this case, Plaintiff alleges that,
through the Dayforce system, Ceridian collected and stored her and thousands of class members’
biometric data on Ceridian-owned servers without first obtaining their informed written consent
or establishing a publicly-available retention policy for biometric data, all in violation of BIPA.
After years of contentious litigation—which included Class Counsel defeating two
motions to dismiss and a motion to strike class allegations, engaging in formal and informal
discovery with Ceridian, and attending a full-day mediation with the Honorable James F.
Holderman (ret.) of JAMS Chicago—Class Counsel was able to secure a remarkably strong
Settlement, which creates a non-reversionary cash Settlement Fund of $3,493,074.00 for the
benefit of 14,142 Settlement Class members.1 As the Court might know, there have been
hundreds of settlements in BIPA cases brought against employers who used biometric timeclocks
in Illinois, but there have been only a handful of BIPA settlements (and cases, for that matter)
with timeclock vendors like Ceridian. This Settlement outpaces its predecessors, providing the
highest per-person relief in a BIPA settlement with a technology vendor to date. Assuming a
claims rate of between 20–30%, each Class Member who submits a valid claim will receive a
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The capitalized terms used in this motion are those used in the Class Action Settlement
Agreement (the “Settlement” or “Agreement”), attached hereto as Exhibit 1.
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cash payment estimated to be between $525 and $790, after any attorneys’ fees and costs are
deducted.
In light of this excellent result, Class Counsel now respectfully move the Court to award
35% of the Settlement Fund in attorneys’ fees and expenses for a total of $1,222,575.90. As
explained below, the requested fee award is well in line with common fund fee awards in BIPA
cases in Illinois, (see Exhibit 2, Chart 1 (listing 35-37% fee awards)) and is in fact less as a
percentage than that often awarded in BIPA cases. (Id., Chart 2 (listing 40-47% fee awards).) An
award of 35% reasonably and fairly reflects the outstanding result produced here, especially in
light of the considerable risk of nonpayment Class Counsel faced in taking on an untested case
like this. See Ryan v. City of Chicago, 274 Ill. App. 3d 913, 924 (1st Dist. 1995).
Plaintiff LaBarre’s requested incentive award of $5,000 is similarly reasonable,
particularly because incentive awards in class action settlements frequently exceed $10,000. See
Theodore Eisenberg & Geoffrey P. Miller, Incentive Awards to Class Action Plaintiffs: An
Empirical Study, 53 UCLA L. Rev. 1303, 1308 (2006) (finding that “[t]he average award per
class representative was $15,992”). Here, Plaintiff’s requested award reflects her efforts in this
case over the past three years, which include the investigation of her and her fellow class
members’ claims and participating in the litigation and the settlement process and is comfortably
in line with what has been awarded in numerous similar BIPA cases. (See Exhibit 2, Chart 3
(listing incentive awards ranging from $5,000 to $10,000 in BIPA cases).)
For all of these reasons and as further explained below, Plaintiff requests that after the
final approval hearing set for October 3, 2022 the Court enter (1) an award of attorneys’ fees and
expenses to Class Counsel and (2) an incentive award to Plaintiff as class representative because
they are reasonable and deserving of this Court’s approval.
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II.

BACKGROUND
A brief summary of the underlying facts and law will lend context to the instant motion

and demonstrate the reasonableness of the requested fees, expenses, and incentive award.
A.

Illinois’ Biometric Information Privacy Act.

BIPA is landmark privacy law in Illinois, and one of the country’s only meaningful
regulations on the collection and use of biometric data, which includes retina scans, fingerprints,
voiceprints, and scans of hand or face geometry. The Illinois legislature unanimously passed
BIPA in 2008 to provide individuals recourse when companies failed to appropriately handle
their biometric data in accordance with the statute. See 740 ILCS 14/5. BIPA makes it unlawful
for any private entity to “collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise obtain a
person’s or a customer’s biometric identifier or biometric information, unless it first:
(1) informs the subject . . . in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric
information is being collected or stored;
(2) informs the subject . . . in writing of the specific purpose and length of term for
which a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected, stored, and
used; and
(3) receives a written release executed by the subject of the biometric identifier or
biometric information . . . .”
740 ILCS 14/15(b). In addition, BIPA also requires companies to develop and comply with a
written policy establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying
biometric information. 740 ILCS 14/15(a). BIPA enables enforcement through a civil private
right of action, allowing for statutory damages of $1,000 for negligent violations—or $5,000 for
willful violations—plus costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees to any person “aggrieved by a
violation” of the statute. See 740 ILCS 14/20.
As our Supreme Court assessed the legislature’s intent in passing BIPA, the statute:
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vests in individuals and customers the right to control their biometric information
by requiring notice before collection and giving them the power to say no by
withholding consent. . . . These procedural protections are particularly crucial in
our digital world because technology now permits the wholesale collection and
storage of an individual’s unique biometric identifiers—identifiers that cannot be
changed if compromised or misused. When a private entity fails to adhere to the
statutory procedures . . . the right of the individual to maintain her biometric privacy
vanishes into thin air. The precise harm the Illinois legislature sought to prevent is
then realized. This is no mere technicality. The injury is real and significant.
Rosenbach v. Six Flags Ent. Corp., 2019 IL 123186, ¶ 34 (internal citations and quotations
omitted).
This BIPA lawsuit arises from Plaintiff LaBarre’s experience as an employee at a
Standard Market grocery store between April 2018 and March 2019. (First Amended Complaint
(“FAC”), attached hereto as Exhibit 3 ¶¶ 28-36.) Defendant Ceridian provided Standard
Market—and dozens of other employers across Illinois—its cloud-based time and attendance
system called Dayforce, along with physical timeclocks with a biometric fingerprint scanner
attached.
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When employees first begin work at a company that uses Ceridian’s Dayforce system,
they are required to scan their fingerprint into the system as means of authentication and to
subsequently scan their fingerprint with the timeclock each time they “punch” into or out of
work. (Id. ¶¶ 2, 21, 23.) Unbeknownst to Plaintiff at the time, each time she and any other
employee scanned their fingerprints on a Ceridian timeclock, the timeclock would automatically
transmit their fingerprint data to Ceridian to be stored on its servers, she alleges. (Id. ¶¶ 21-22.)
In collecting and storing her fingerprint data, Plaintiff alleges that Ceridian violated two sections
of BIPA: section 15(b) by collecting, using, and storing her and other workers’ biometric data
without first obtaining their informed, written consent, and section 15(a) by failing to establish
and abide by a publicly-available retention and deletion policy for permanently destroying
biometric data. (Id. ¶¶ 24-25, 34-35.)
B.

Litigation History and the Work Performed for the Class.

As a result, Plaintiff LaBarre filed this putative class action lawsuit against Ceridian in
2019, and the case was assigned to former-presiding Judge Moshe Jacobius. In response to the
complaint, Ceridian moved to strike class allegations and to dismiss under 735 ILCS 2-619.1,
arguing that Plaintiff failed to plead sufficient facts to support her section 15(a) and (b) claims
and that her claims were time-barred by a one-year statute of limitations. Plaintiff vigorously
opposed the motion, arguing inter alia that a one-year limitations period is inapplicable to her
section 15(a) and (b) claims because neither involve “publication of matter violating the right of
privacy,” meaning the five-year “catch-all” limitations period applies. She further argued that
Ceridian’s motion to strike class allegations was premature prior to any discovery, as it raised
only hypothetical individualized issues. After full briefing and argument, Judge Jacobius rejected
Ceridian’s statute of limitations arguments brought under 735 ILCS 2-619 and denied its motion
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to strike class allegations. (Aug. 25, 2020, Memo. Op. & Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 4.)
Although Judge Jacobius granted Ceridian’s 735 ILCS 2-615 motion, he did so without
prejudice, giving Plaintiff leave to amend to bolster her section 15(a) and (b) allegations. (Id.)
Plaintiff promptly amended by adding more specific allegations—based on Class
Counsel’s pre-suit investigation—(1) about exactly how Ceridian collected her fingerprint data
in violation of section 15(b) (i.e., her fingerprint scan was automatically transmitted to Ceridian’s
cloud-based servers to be stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database when she scanned) and (2) to
clarify that Ceridian didn’t just fail to provide Plaintiff a biometric retention policy; it failed to
establish one at all in violation of section 15(a). (FAC ¶ 22, 31.)
The amended complaint prompted a second 2-619.1 motion to dismiss from Ceridian,
where it argued again that Plaintiff failed to state a claim under section 15(a) or (b), that her
claims were bared by Illinois’ extraterritoriality doctrine (largely because Ceridian’s servers are
located outside of Illinois), and that the case should be stayed pending the Illinois Appellate
Court’s then-pending decision about the applicable statute of limitations for BIPA claims in Tims
v. Black Horse Carriers, Inc., 1-20-0563 (Ill. App.). Again, Plaintiff vigorously opposed the
motion, arguing that her amended complaint easily cured the defects previously noted by Judge
Jacobius, that server location is just one of many factors involved in the extraterritoriality
analysis and all others factors involved in-state conduct (i.e., Plaintiff is an Illinois resident, who
worked for an Illinois employer, and scanned her finger in Illinois), and that a stay pending Tims
was not warranted given that virtually every trial court to consider the statute of limitations issue
(including Judge Jacobius) found that a five-year period applies to section 15(a) and (b) claims.
After full briefing and oral argument, Judge Jacobius denied Ceridian’s second motion to dismiss
in full and denied its request for a stay. (Mar. 4, 2021, Memo. Op. & Order, attached hereto as
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Exhibit 5.) Defendant then answered the amended complaint, denying all material allegations
and raising twenty-two affirmative defenses. (Apr. 1, 2021, Def.’s Ans., attached hereto as
Exhibit 6.)
As discovery commenced, Ceridian moved to bifurcate discovery into two phases—first
as to class certification issues and then as to merits issues—and moved to limit the number of
third-party subpoenas each party could serve to five. Plaintiff vigorously opposed the motion,
explaining inter alia that bifurcation would lead to constant discovery disputes between the
parties, because the class and merits issues in this case are inextricably intertwined, and that a
five-subpoena limit would unfairly disadvantage Plaintiff who couldn’t informally obtain
information from Ceridian’s customers like Ceridian could. After full briefing and oral argument,
Judge Jacobius continued Ceridian’s motion and directed Ceridian to file a supplemental
submission providing certain information to aid in ruling on the motion to bifurcate, such as the
number of Ceridian customers who deployed the timeclocks at issue in Illinois and, of those
customers, how many obtained a consent form to collect biometric data that identified Ceridian.
(July 6, 2021, Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 7.) Ceridian provided the information as
required. After another hearing on Ceridian's motion to bifurcate discovery, Judge Jacobius again
continued the motion but ordered the parties to commence limited written discovery into any
BIPA-related consent forms obtained or disclosures made by Ceridian or its customers. (Aug. 9,
2021, Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 8.) Plaintiff promptly served her first set of
interrogatories and documents requests on Ceridian on August 13, 2021, to which Ceridian
responded on September 20, 2021. (Declaration of Schuyler Ufkes (“Ufkes Decl.”), attached
hereto as Exhibit 9, at ¶ 3.)
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While this discovery was proceeding—and with Defendant’s motion to bifurcate still
pending—the parties began to explore the potential for class-wide resolution. After exchanging
several demands and counteroffers, the parties agreed that a formal mediation would be
productive. (Ufkes Decl. ¶ 4.) On February 3, 2022, the parties participated in a full-day, formal
mediation session with the Honorable James F. Holderman (Ret.) of JAMS in Chicago. (Id.) The
parties negotiated throughout the day and ultimately reached an agreement on the material terms
of a class-wide settlement at the end of the mediation session. (Id.) That agreement was
memorialized in a Memorandum of Understanding, after which Ceridian provided informal
discovery confirming that the proposed Settlement Class contains 14,142 members.
(See Declaration of Chester Cristobal (“Cristobal Decl.”), attached hereto as
Exhibit 10, at ¶ 15.) The parties then prepared and negotiated the final terms of the settlement
over the next several months, ultimately executing the final Settlement Agreement on April 20,
2022. (Ufkes Decl. ¶ 4.) During the parties’ negotiations, this case was reassigned to Judge
Raymond W. Mitchell due to Judge Jacobius’ retirement. As a result, Plaintiff moved for
preliminary approval of the settlement before Judge Mitchell, (see April 22, 2022, Plf.’s Mot.
Prelim. Approval of Class Action Settlement, attached hereto as Exhibit 11), who granted
Plaintiff’s motion after oral argument. (May 18, 2022, Prelim. Approval Order, attached hereto
as Exhibit 12).
To ensure that as many Settlement Class members as possible would receive direct notice
of the Settlement, the Settlement Agreement set forth a detailed procedure for obtaining
addresses and e-mail addresses (“Contact Information”) for the Settlement Class. (Agreement §
4.1.) Notably, as a payroll provider, Ceridian stored many customers’ Contact Information and
had access to the information, but Ceridian was prohibited by contract from disclosing it without
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the consent of the customer or a court order directing Ceridian to disclose the information. First,
as contemplated by the Settlement, Ceridian reached out to its customers and was able to obtain
consent from many of them to provide the Settlement Administrator, but several others refused
or did not respond. Plaintiff then served an interrogatory to Ceridian seeking the remaining
Contact Information, Ceridian responded that it could not produce the information absent a Court
order, and Plaintiff moved the Court to compel Ceridian. After a hearing, Judge Mitchell granted
Plaintiff’s motion and ordered that Ceridian produce the Contact Information in its possession to
the Settlement Administrator. (May 18, 2022, Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 13). Still, though,
there were several customers for whom Ceridian did not possess Contact Information, so
Plaintiff sent those entities subpoenas, which resulted in hundreds of additional addresses and emails being produced, ensuring that those class members would receive the best notice possible.
On July 5, 2022, the Settlement Administrator sent direct Notice to the Settlement Class,
and an impressive 2,301 Class Members (or 16.3%) have submitted an Approved Claim Form to
date, with 45 days left until the Claims Deadline. Class Counsel has also worked with the
Settlement Administrator to establish a Settlement Website, CeridianBIPASettlement.com, so
that Class Members can easily access important documents and information about the
Settlement, file Claim Forms online, and find Contact Information for the Settlement
Administrator and Class Counsel so they can reach out with any inquires.
In terms of next steps in the case, first, Settlement Class members will have until
September 6, 2022 to object to or request to be excluded from the Settlement. Then, Plaintiff will
file her motion for final approval of the Settlement on September 20, 2022, which will report
things like the outcome of the Notice program, the number of Approved Claim Forms filed, the
payment amount to each claimant, whether anyone opted out of or objected to the Settlement,
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responses to any objections, and why the Settlement should be finally approved by the Court.
Finally, the parties will appear for a Final Approval Hearing on October 3, 2022 to present the
instant motion for attorneys’ fees, expenses, and incentive award and Plaintiff’s forthcoming
motion for final approval.
C.

The Settlement Secures Excellent Relief for the Settlement Class.

As detailed in Plaintiff’s motion for preliminary approval, the relief to the Settlement
Class is outstanding. The Settlement creates a non-reversionary Settlement Fund of
$3,493,074.00 for the benefit of the 14,142 Settlement Class members. (Agreement § 1.28).
Assuming a claims rate between 20–30%, and after deducting any approved fees and costs, each
claimant will receive a pro rata distribution of approximately $525 to $790 each, depending on
the final claims rate.2 If any checks go uncashed or any electronic payments are unable to be
processed, those residual funds will be distributed to the Illinois Bar Foundation, or any other (or
additional) cy pres recipient(s) selected by the Court. (Id. § 2.1(j).) No amount will revert to
Defendant. (Id. § 2.1(k).)
The Settlement also provides non-monetary relief. To start, Defendant will maintain its
online biometric policy, which includes its retention policy and deletion schedule, on its website
going forward.3 (Id. § 2.2.) Ceridian will further maintain a process to ensure that its Illinois
customers who use Ceridian timeclocks with a finger scanner obtain a written release from their

2

The current claims rate is 16.3%, and there are still 45 days to submit claims before the
September 30th Claims Deadline—hence, Class Counsel estimates the final claims rate will land
somewhere between 20–30%. Plaintiff will update the Court on the claims rate in her motion for
final approval of the settlement, which is due September 20th, and if different, will provide a
final claims rate and the final payment amount per claimant at the final approval hearing on
October 3rd.
3

Ceridian’s Biometric Statement, available at https://tinyurl.com/4ajtaydj.
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users, via on-screen consent deployed on the clocks by default or by other lawful means,
informing users that Ceridian is collecting and storing their data, why Ceridian is doing so, and
for how long it will store their data, before users can scan their finger on a Ceridian timeclock.
(Id.)
III.

THE REQUESTED ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND INCENTIVE AWARD ARE
REASONABLE AND SHOULD BE APPROVED
Class Counsel took this case on a contingent-fee basis, in a case fraught with issues of

first impression and at a time when there was strong countervailing authority confronting BIPA
plaintiffs litigating against a timeclock vendor like Ceridian. See Bernal v. ADP, 2017-CH-12364
(Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. Aug. 23, 2019), attached hereto as Exhibit 14. Now that Class Counsel has
achieved the results they did for the Class, they respectfully request as compensation 35% of the
Settlement Fund, i.e., $1,222,575.90. This request is comfortably in line with fee awards in
similar class action cases, including numerous previous BIPA settlements. Accordingly, the fees
should be approved.
A.

Percentage-of-the-Recovery Should Be Used to Determine Fees Here.

Illinois has adopted the “common fund doctrine” for the payment of attorneys’ fees in
class action cases. Wendling v. S. Ill. Hosp. Servs., 242 Ill. 2d 261, 265 (2011). “The doctrine
provides that a litigant or a lawyer who recovers a common fund for the benefit of persons other
than himself or his client is entitled to a reasonable attorney’s fee from the fund as a whole.” Id.
(internal quotations omitted). The basis of the doctrine is the equitable principle that “successful
litigants would be unjustly enriched if their attorneys were not compensated from the common
fund created for the litigants’ benefit[.]” Brundidge v. Glendale Fed. Bank F.S.B., 168 Ill. 2d
235, 238 (1995). Consequently, “[b]y awarding fees payable from the common fund created for
the benefit of the entire class, the court spreads the costs of litigation proportionately among
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those who will benefit from the fund.” Id. (citing Boeing Co. v. Van Gemert, 444 U.S. 472, 478
(1980)).
In determining the amount of a reasonable fee award in a common fund case, this Court
has discretion to apply one of two methods: percentage-of-the-recovery or lodestar. Brundidge,
168 Ill. 2d at 243-44. Under the percentage-of-the-recovery approach, as the name suggests, a
reasonable attorneys’ fee is awarded “based upon a percentage of the amount recovered on
behalf of the plaintiff class.” Id. at 238. Under the lodestar approach, on the other hand, a fee
award is determined by taking the reasonable value of the services rendered (based on the hours
devoted to the matter by class counsel multiplied by a reasonable hourly rate) and increasing that
amount by “a weighted multiplier representing the significance of other pertinent
considerations,” such as the contingent nature of the litigation, its complexity, and the benefit
conferred upon class members. Id. at 239-40.
While the Court has discretion in the calculation method it selects, the lodestar method
has been criticized as “increas[ing] the workload of an already overtaxed judicial system, . . .
creat[ing] a sense of mathematical precision that is unwarranted in terms of the realities of the
practice of law, . . . le[ading] to abuses such as lawyers billing excessive hours, . . . not
provid[ing] the trial court with enough flexibility to reward or deter lawyers so that desirable
objectives will be fostered, . . . [and being] confusing and unpredictable in its administration.”
McCormick, et al. v. Adtalem Glob. Educ. Inc., et al., 2022 IL App (1st) 201197-U, ¶ 26 (quoting
Ryan, 274 Ill. App. 3d at 923 (summarizing findings of a Third Circuit task force appointed to
compare the respective merits of the percentage-of-the-recovery and lodestar methods)); see also
Brundidge, 168 Ill. 2d at 242-43 (criticizing lodestar method because “[e]valuating the hours
actually expended is a laborious, burdensome, and time-consuming task that may be biased by
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hindsight[,]” and “[t]he risk multiplier is little short of a wild card in the already uncertain game
of assessing fees under the lodestar calculation”) (internal quotations omitted).
The percentage-of-the-recovery method is the most appropriate way to evaluate fees for
this case. See, e.g., McCormick, 2022 IL App (1st) 201197-U, ¶ 26 (noting the appointed Third
Circuit task force “concluded that the percentage-of-recovery was the best way to calculate
reasonable attorney fees in class action cases.”). Percentage-of-the-recovery not only avoids
some of the abuses and arbitrariness of the lodestar method, but it also “eliminates the need for
additional major litigation and further taxing of scarce judicial resources which occur[] . . . as a
result of plaintiffs’ request for attorneys’ fees.” Ryan, 274 Ill. App. 3d at 924.
In fact, percentage-of-the-recovery has been used to determine a reasonable fee award in
every BIPA class action settlement in Cook County where the defendant—as here—created a
monetary common fund. (See, e.g., Exhibit 2, Charts 1 and 2.) In contrast, to counsel’s
knowledge, the lodestar approach hasn’t once been used to evaluate fees in these cases where the
class received a monetary benefit. 4 Further, the Court is not required to “cross-check” the
reasonableness of the fee award determined by the percentage method by also using the lodestar
method.5 See, e.g., McCormick, 2022 IL App (1st) 201197-U, ¶ 26. Shaun Fauley, Sabon, Inc. v.
Metro. Life Ins. Co., 2016 IL App (2d) 150236, ¶ 59. Consequently, this Court should have no
hesitation in applying the percentage-of-the-recovery method here. See Ryan, 274 Ill. App. 3d at

4

The one exception is Carroll v. Crème de la Crème, 2017-CH-01624 (Cir. Ct. Cook
Cnty.), which produced no monetary recovery for the class and instead provided credit
monitoring.
5

Should the Court request, Class Counsel will provide their lodestar and relevant billing
records for the Court’s review.
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925 (“The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in determining attorneys’ fees based upon
percentage rather than lodestar analysis.”).
B.

35% Is a Reasonable Fee Award in this Case.

The 35% fee request falls comfortably within the range of typical fee awards in Illinois
generally and in BIPA actions specifically. Under Illinois law, “an attorney is entitled to an
award from the fund for the reasonable value of his or her services.” See Ryan, 274 Ill. App. 3d
at 922. “[I]n consumer class actions . . . the presumption should . . . be that attorneys’ fees
awarded to class counsel should not exceed a third or at most a half of the total amount of money
going to class members and their counsel.” Gehrich v. Chase Bank USA, N.A., 316 F.R.D. 215,
235 (N.D. Ill. 2016) (citing Pearson v. NBTY, Inc., 772 F.3d 778, 782 (7th Cir. 2014)); see also 5
Newberg and Rubenstein on Class Actions, § 15.83 (6th ed.) (noting that, generally, “50% of the
fund is the upper limit on a reasonable fee award from any common fund”). Courts in Cook
County have commonly awarded higher percentage fee awards than the 35% requested here,
including in BIPA cases. (See Exhibit 2, Chart 2 (listing 40-47% fee awards).) Accordingly, the
requested fee award is more than appropriate, and comfortably in line with other BIPA cases.
(Id., Chart 1 (listing 35% fee awards in Illinois state and federal courts).)
In addition to falling within the range of typical fee awards, the 35% requested here is
further justified—as explained below—in light of both (1) the risk Class Counsel undertook in
pursuing this difficult litigation on a contingency basis, and (2) the excellent relief Class Counsel
ultimately obtained for the Settlement Class. See Ryan, 274 Ill. App. 3d at 924 (affirming district
court’s attorneys’ fee award due to the “extreme contingency risk” of pursuing the litigation, and
the “hard cash benefit” obtained).
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1.

This case presented serious obstacles to recovery, and Class Counsel
litigated the case mindful of the possibility that the class might recover
nothing.

The 35% of the common fund requested is well-calibrated to the risk involved in this
case. Compared to typical contingent-fee litigation, the risks here were particularly acute at the
outset because the parties were likely to litigate a number of issues that are either still being
resolved by the courts or are matters of first impression, as demonstrated by the number of issues
Class Counsel have already litigated in this case. See Silverman v. Motorola Sols., Inc., 739 F.3d
956, 958 (7th Cir. 2013) (“Contingent fees compensate lawyers for the risk of nonpayment. The
greater the risk of walking away empty-handed, the higher the award must be to attract
competent and energetic counsel.”). Class Counsel filed this case aware of these risks, but
confident in their ability to achieve a superior result for the class—which they ultimately did.
Although risks are inherent in any contingent-fee litigation—class actions especially—
there were particularly acute risks here, considering the relative infancy of BIPA. See Norberg v.
Shutterfly, Inc., 152 F. Supp. 3d 1103, 1106 (N.D. Ill. 2015) (“The BIPA was enacted in 2008,
and to this date, the Court is unaware of any judicial interpretation of the statute.”). At the time
Class Counsel filed this case, no court had considered BIPA claims against a vendor of biometric
technology. And just a few months after filing, courts started to express considerable skepticism
that vendors could be liable under BIPA at all. (See Ex. 14, Bernal v. ADP, 2017-CH-12364 (Cir.
Ct. Cook Cnty. Aug. 23, 2019).) Other courts have since joined that position to some degree,
depending on how claims against vendors are pleaded. Cameron v. Polar Tech Indus., Inc.,
2019-CH-000013 (Cir. Ct. DeKalb Cnty. Aug. 23, 2019); Namuwonge v. Kronos, Inc., 418 F.
Supp. 3d 279, 285–86 (N.D. Ill. 2019); Heard v. Becton, Dickinson & Co., No. 19 C 4158, 2020
WL 887460, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 24, 2020). With the liability of vendors an unresolved issue, the
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risks that Class Counsel took on here were significant. Nonetheless, they forged ahead and
eventually defeated Ceridian’s arguments that BIPA doesn’t apply to vendors like itself. (Ex. 4,
Aug. 25, 2020, Memo. Op. & Order, at 11) (rejecting Ceridian’s argument that BIPA only
applies to employers who deploy the timeclocks because, “[s]imply put, BIPA obligates any
private entity collecting a person’s biometric information to comply with its requirements.”).
Even setting aside that case-dispositive issue, there were other major questions that
increased the risk of nonpayment. For example, given the functionality of the widely-used
fingerprint-scanning technology at issue, Class Counsel pursued this case knowing full well that
Ceridian would argue at summary judgment that the fingerprint scanners on its timeclocks didn’t
collect “biometric identifiers” or “biometric information” as defined by BIPA. See 740 ILCS
14/10 (defined, in relevant part, as a “fingerprint” or “information . . . based on an individual's
[fingerprint] used to identify an individual”). Rather, Ceridian would likely argue, its scanners
collect a fingerprint “template,” consisting of a string of numbers and letters that—it would
argue—isn’t regulated by the statute at all. This question is the subject of dispute in existing
BIPA cases and hasn’t yet been resolved by the courts. Cf. In re Facebook Biometric Info.
Privacy Litig., No. 3:15-CV-03747-JD, 2018 WL 2197546, at *2–3 (N.D. Cal. May 14, 2018)
(denying motion for summary judgment on whether facial scans were biometric data regulated
by BIPA); Howe v. Speedway LLC, No. 19-cv-01374, dkts. 125, 140, 149 (N.D. Ill.) (fully
briefed motion for summary judgment on this issue in fingerprint scan case). Although Class
Counsel puts little stock in this argument, it is an issue ungoverned by precedent, and if Ceridian
were to win on it at summary judgment or trial, Plaintiff’s case would be defeated entirely,
sinking Class Counsel’s substantial investment of time and effort in this case. See Shaun Fauley,
Sabon, Inc., 2016 IL App (2d) 150236, ¶ 59 (noting trial court took into account “that class
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counsel accepted ‘substantial risk in prosecuting this case under a contingency fee agreement
given the vigorous defense of the case and defenses asserted’”).
Moreover, when this case was filed, it was still unclear what statute of limitations applies
to BIPA claims, a one-, two-, or five-year period. Class Counsel nonetheless expended
significant resources on this case knowing that if a one-year limitations period applied, a vast
majority of the putative class’s claims would be time-barred, drastically reducing the size of the
class and, in turn, the potential fees to Class Counsel. Although the First District in Tims v. Black
Horse Carriers, Inc. recently clarified the applicable limitations periods—finding that a five-year
limitations period applies to claims brought under sections 15(a) and (b) of BIPA, see 2021 IL
App (1st) 200563—the question remains unresolved as our Supreme Court granted a petition for
leave to appeal in Tims for the January 2022 Term and is expected decide the issue in the near
future. 2022 IL 127801.
Finally, the Class’s ability to actually recover—post-trial—what would be massive
damages against Ceridian is far from certain. See, e.g., Golan v. FreeEats.com, Inc., 930 F.3d
950 (8th Cir. 2019) (statutory award in TCPA class action of $1.6 billion reduced to $32
million); but see United States v. Dish Network L.L.C., 954 F.3d 970, 980 (7th Cir. 2020), cert.
dismissed, 141 S. Ct. 729 (2021) (statutory award of $280 million for violating various
telemarketing statues over 65 million times did not violate due process). Furthermore, the
attempts to gut BIPA in the legislature have been relentless—over the past year, at least ten such
bills have been introduced to amend or repeal BIPA6— and it is not unprecedented for legislation

6

See H.B. 559, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); H.B. 560, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill.
2021); H.B. 1764, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); H.B. 3112, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill.
2021); H.B. 3304, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); H.B. 3414, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill.
2021); S.B. 56, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); S.B. 300, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021);
S.B. 1607, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); S.B. 3874, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2022).
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to be amended while a class action is pending in a way that threatens the class’s entire recovery.
See Perlin v. Time Inc., 237 F. Supp. 3d 623, 629–30 (E.D. Mich. 2017).
Class Counsel accepted this case understanding that a single loss on any of these fronts
would decimate the class’s—and Class Counsel’s—ability to receive payment. In light of that,
the many risks Class Counsel have faced combine to further support that the requested attorneys’
fees and expenses here are reasonable. See Ryan, 274 Ill. App. 3d at 924.
2.

Class Counsel achieved an exceptional result for the class.

Given the large number of unresolved questions in BIPA cases, and the possibility that
the class would recover nothing at all, the relief secured by Class Counsel is exceptional. As
explained in Plaintiff’s motion for preliminary approval, the $3,493,074 Settlement Fund secured
for 14,142 class members here represents the highest per-person relief in a BIPA case against a
biometric technology vendor to date. See Thome v. NOVAtime Tech., Inc., No. 19-cv-6256, dkt.
90 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 8, 2021) ($4.1 million fund for 62,000 class members); Kusinski v. ADP LLC,
2017-CH-12364 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. Feb. 10, 2021) ($25 million fund for approximately
320,000 class members); Figueroa, et al. v. Kronos Inc., No. 19-cv-01306, dkt. 358 (N.D. Ill.
Feb. 18, 2022) (preliminarily approving $15,276,227 fund for approximately 171,643 class
members); Neals v. ParTech, Inc., No. 19-cv-05660, dkt. 140 (N.D. Ill. July 20, 2022) ($790,000
fund for 3,560 class members); see also Bryant v. Compass Grp. USA, Inc., No. 19-cv-06622,
dkt. 90 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 2, 2021) (preliminarily approving $6.8 million settlement for 66,159 class
members, which releases both the vendor of the biometric technology and all of its customers,
unlike here where the employers are excluded from the release of claims).
Here, assuming the continued trend of claims rate between 20-30% when the class is
properly notified, claiming Class Members will receive individual payments of approximatively
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$525 to $790 each, after fees and costs are paid. Against a backdrop where many privacy claims
under similar statutes settled for pennies on the dollar or no monetary relief at all, the relief
provided here is outstanding. See, e.g., In re Google Referrer Header Priv. Litig., 869 F.3d 737,
740 (9th Cir. 2017), vacated on other grounds by Frank v. Gaos, 139 S. Ct. 1041 (2019)
(approving 25% award of attorneys’ fees on cy pres-only fund with not a penny to class
members); In re Google LLC Street View Elec. Commc’ns Litig., No. 10-md-02184-CRB, 2020
WL 1288377, at *11–14 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 18, 2020) (approving, over objections of class members
and state attorney general, a settlement providing only cy pres relief for violations of Electronic
Communications Privacy Act); Adkins v. Facebook, Inc., No. 18-cv-05982-WHA, dkts. 350, 369
(N.D. Cal. May 6, 2021 and July 13, 2021) (approving settlement for injunctive relief only, in
class action arising out of Facebook data breach, and granting $6.5 million in attorneys’ fees and
costs).
This result is even more impressive when considering that the Settlement’s release carves
out the Class Member’s separate BIPA claims against their employers who deployed the
Ceridian timeclocks. (Agreement § 1.22 (the Released Parties do not include “Defendant’s
customers (including, specifically, employers that used a Ceridian timeclock in Illinois)”).) That
means each Class Member will retain any separate BIPA claims they have against the Ceridian
customers who employed them and separately collected or stored the same biometric data
without complying with BIPA. This is significant because scores of prior BIPA settlements
released both the employer claims and the vendor claims together, with no additional
compensation for the release of two sets of claims. This carve-out enables Class Members to
vitiate the full scope of their privacy rights under BIPA, rather than, as in other cases, forcing
class members to make a choice about which violations to pursue.
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Finally, aside from the monetary relief, the non-monetary benefits created by the
Settlement further support a 35% fee award. The non-monetary benefits created by a class action
settlement are properly considered for purposes of determining fees. See Hall v. Cole, 412 U.S.
1, 5 n.7 (1973) (noting that the common fund doctrine “must logically extend, not only to
litigation that confers a monetary benefit on others, but also to litigation which corrects or
prevents an abuse which would be prejudicial to the rights and interests of those others.”)
(internal quotations omitted). Here, Ceridian has established a publicly-available retention and
destruction schedule for biometric data on its website and created an on-screen consent program
that displays a notice and consent form on screen to Illinois workers who use Ceridian
timeclocks before they can scan their finger as part of its plan to comply with BIPA going
forward. Class Counsel’s pursuit of this case undoubtedly prompted Ceridian to implement these
policies, and the Settlement formally requires Ceridian to maintain its retention policy going
forward, as well as a process for its customers to obtain consent on its behalf, including onscreen consent. (See Agreement § 2.2.) This is spot-on relief for the goals of BIPA, as it will
ensure the law is followed and BIPA rights are respected. Thus, awarding Class Counsel a 35%
share of the common fund “equitably compensates counsel for the time, effort, and risks
associated with representing the plaintiff class.” Brundidge, 168 Ill. 2d at 244.
Ultimately, the monetary and non-monetary relief recovered on behalf of the Settlement
Class warrants approving the requested 35% in attorneys’ fees and expenses.7

7

Class Counsel has also incurred $16,555.15 in reasonable litigation expenses in acquiring
a common fund for the class’s benefit, and they are not seeking reimbursement of those expenses
separately from the fee request. (See Ufkes Decl. ¶ 8.) Class Counsel submits that these
expenses—which included filing fees, mediation fees, and process server fees—were reasonable
and incurred for the ultimate benefit of the Settlement Class and are being considered as part of
Class Counsel’s percentage-of-the recovery request. See Morris B. Chapman & Assocs., Ltd. v.
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IV.

THE COURT SHOULD APPROVE THE REQUESTED INCENTIVE AWARD
The Settlement Agreement also provides for an incentive award of $5,000 to Plaintiff

Rachel LaBarre for serving as class representative. Incentive awards are appropriate in class
actions because a representative’s efforts benefit the absent class members and encourage the
filing of beneficial litigation. GMAC Mortg. Corp. of Pa. v. Stapleton, 236 Ill. App. 3d 486, 497
(1st Dist. 1992) (noting that incentive awards “are not atypical in class action cases . . . and serve
to encourage the filing of class action[] suits”); see In re Synthroid Mktg. Litig., 264 F.3d 712,
722 (7th Cir. 2001) (“Incentive awards are justified when necessary to induce individuals to
become named representatives.”).
Here, Plaintiff LaBarre’s participation was critical to the case’s ultimate resolution. Ms.
LaBarre’s willingness to commit time to this litigation and undertake the responsibilities
involved in representative litigation resulted in a substantial benefit to the class and fully justifies
the requested incentive award. (Ufkes Decl. ¶¶ 13-15.) Throughout the case, Ms. LaBarre
expended time and effort investigating her and her fellow class members’ claims, providing
information to Class Counsel to prepare the pleadings, reviewing the Complaint and First
Amended Complaint before filing, conferring with Class Counsel throughout the litigation and
settlement process, and ultimately reviewing and approving the Settlement Agreement before
signing it, all of which were necessary to secure the non-reversionary $3,493,074.00 Settlement
Fund for the Settlement Class. (Id.) Ms. LaBarre was also willing to attach her name to this
litigation against Ceridian and to have her name transmitted via class notice to thousands of
people, subjecting herself to “scrutiny and attention” which is “certainly worth some
remuneration.” See Schulte v. Fifth Third Bank, 805 F. Supp. 2d 560, 601 (N.D. Ill. 2011).
Kitzman, 193 Ill. 2d 560, 572–73 (2000) (“If the costs of litigation are not spread to the
beneficiaries of the fund, they will be unjustly enriched by the attorney’s efforts”).
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As a monetary matter, Ms. LaBarre’s requested $5,000 incentive award is eminently
reasonable: it is equal to the amounts awarded to plaintiffs in numerous other privacy cases,
including BIPA cases, (See Exhibit 2, Chart 3 (listing incentive awards ranging from $5,000 to
$10,000 in BIPA cases)), and a fraction of the amounts often awarded in comparable class
settlements in Illinois and elsewhere. See Theodore Eisenberg & Geoffrey P. Miller, Incentive
Awards to Class Action Plaintiffs: An Empirical Study, 53 UCLA L. Rev. 1303 (2006) (finding
that “[t]he average award per class representative was $15,992”); Spano v. Boeing Co., No. 06cv-743-NJR-DGW, 2016 WL 3791123, at *4 (S.D. Ill. Mar. 31, 2016) (approving incentive
awards of $25,000 and $10,000 for class representatives). Accordingly, a $5,000 incentive award
is reasonable to compensate Ms. LaBarre for her time and willingness to step up in this case.
V.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre respectfully requests that this Court

enter an order (1) granting Class Counsel’s request for an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses
in the amount of $1,222,575.90; (2) awarding Plaintiff a $5,000 incentive award; and (3)
providing such other and further relief as the Court deems reasonable and just.
Respectfully submitted,
RACHEL LABARRE, individually and on behalf
of the Settlement Class,
Dated: August 23, 2022

By: /s/Schuyler Ufkes
One Plaintiff’s Attorneys
Jay Edelson
jedelson@edelson.com
J. Eli Wade-Scott
ewadescott@edelson.com
Schuyler Ufkes
sufkes@edelson.com
EDELSON PC
350 North LaSalle Street, 14th Floor
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Chicago, Illinois 60654
Tel: 312.589.6370
Fax: 312.589.6378
Firm ID: 62075
David Fish
dfish@fishlawfirm.com
FISH POTTER BOLAÑOS, P.C.
200 East Fifth Avenue, Suite 123
Naperville, Illinois 60563
Tel: 630.355.7590
Fax: 630.778.0400
Firm ID: 44086
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Schuyler Ufkes, an attorney, hereby certify that I served the above and foregoing
Plaintiff’s Motion and Memorandum of Law for Attorneys’ Fees, Expenses, and Incentive
Award on all counsel of record by causing true and accurate copies of such paper to be filed
through the Court’s electronic filing system on August 23, 2022.
/s/Schuyler Ufkes
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EXHIBIT 1

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
RACHEL LABARRE, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,

Case No.: 19-CH-06489

v.

Calendar 2

CERIDIAN HCM, INC., a Delaware
corporation,

Judge Raymond W. Mitchell

Defendant.
CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
This Class Action Settlement Agreement (“Settlement Agreement”) is entered into by
and among Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre (“LaBarre” or “Plaintiff”), for herself individually and on
behalf of the Settlement Class, and Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc. (“Ceridian” or “Defendant”)
(Plaintiff and Ceridian are referred to individually as “Party” and collectively referred to as the
“Parties”). This Settlement Agreement is intended by the Parties to fully, finally, and forever
resolve, discharge, and settle the Released Claims upon and subject to the terms and conditions
hereof, and subject to the approval of the Court.
RECITALS
A.

On May 28, 2019, Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre filed a putative class action

complaint against Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc. in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois,
alleging violations of the Biometric Information Privacy Act, 740 ILCS 14/1, et seq. (“BIPA”).
Plaintiff claimed that Ceridian allegedly collected and stored her biometric data without
authorization through the use of a biometric timeclock it provided to her employer.

B.

On October 7, 2019, Defendant moved to dismiss Plaintiff’s complaint pursuant

to 735 ILCS 5/2-619.1, and to strike her class allegations. Plaintiff responded to the motion on
November 27, 2019, and Defendant replied in support on December 20, 2019. Plaintiff and
Defendant both submitted supplemental authority in support of their positions.
C.

After a hearing and oral argument, on August 25, 2020, the Court granted

Defendant’s motion pursuant to 735 ILCS 2-615 only, and granted Plaintiff leave to amend. The
Court denied Defendant’s motion pursuant to 735 ILCS 2-619—which argued that Plaintiff’s
claims were time-barred by a 1-year limitations period—finding instead that a 5-year limitations
period applies to Plaintiff’s BIPA claims. The Court further denied Defendant’s motion to strike
class allegations.
D.

Plaintiff amended her complaint on September 22, 2020. Defendant again moved

to dismiss the amended complaint pursuant to 735 ILCS 2-619.1. After the Parties fully briefed
the motion and provided oral argument, the Court denied the motion in its entirety on March 4,
2021.
E.

Defendant answered Plaintiff’s amended complaint on April 1, 2021, denying all

material allegations and raising twenty-two affirmative defenses. Plaintiff replied to Defendant’s
answer and affirmative defenses on April 21, 2021.
F.

After the Court held a status conference on discovery, on May 18, 2020,

Defendant filed a motion to bifurcate discovery, which Plaintiff opposed and the Parties fully
briefed. Following oral argument, on July 6, 2021, the Court continued Defendant’s motion and
instead directed it to file a supplemental submission with Court, detailing the number of
customers who deployed the timeclocks at issue in Illinois, and of those customers, how many
obtained a consent form to collect biometric data that names Ceridian, among other information.

G.

Defendant provided the requested information to the Court in a supplemental

submission on July 28, 2021. After another hearing on Defendant’s motion to bifurcate on
August 9, 2021, the Court continued the motion again, and ordered the Parties to commence
limited written discovery related to any BIPA-related consent forms obtained by or disclosures
made by Defendant or its customers.
H.

On August 14, 2021, Plaintiff served her first set of interrogatories and requests

for production to Defendant seeking such information. The Parties then negotiated two protective
orders, one of which was intended to keep Defendant’s customers’ identities confidential under
certain circumstances. Both protective orders were entered by the Court on September 8, 2021.
I.

Defendant responded to Plaintiff’s written discovery requests on September 20,

2021, and began producing documents shortly thereafter.
J.

During written discovery—and with Defendant’s motion to bifurcate still

pending—the Parties began to explore the potential for class-wide resolution. After exchanging
several demands and counteroffers, the Parties agreed on November 18, 2021 that a formal
mediation would be productive. To that end, the Parties jointly moved to stay all case deadlines
pending their mediation, which the Court granted on December 2, 2021.
K.

On February 3, 2022, the Parties participated in a full-day, formal mediation

session with the Honorable James F. Holderman (Ret.) of JAMS in Chicago. The Parties’
settlement negotiations lasted throughout the day, with the Parties ultimately reaching an
agreement on the material terms of their class-wide settlement at the end of the mediation
session. The Parties then memorialized that agreement by executing a binding Memorandum of
Understanding that evening.

L.

After executing the Memorandum of Understanding, Defendant provided

confirmatory discovery demonstrating that the Settlement Class contains approximately fourteen
thousand one-hundred forty-two (14,142) members.
M.

Plaintiff and Class Counsel conducted a comprehensive examination of the law

and facts relating to the allegations in the Action and Defendant’s potential defenses. Plaintiff
believes that the claims asserted in the Action have merit, that she would have ultimately
succeeded in obtaining adversarial certification of the proposed Settlement Class, and that she
would have prevailed on the merits at summary judgment or at trial. However, Plaintiff and
Class Counsel recognize that Defendant has raised factual and legal defenses in the Action that
presented a significant risk that Plaintiff may not prevail and/or that a class might not be certified
for trial. Class Counsel have also taken into account the uncertain outcome and risks of any
litigation, especially in complex actions, as well as difficulty and delay inherent in such
litigation. Plaintiff and Class Counsel are satisfied that the terms and conditions of this
Agreement are fair, reasonable, adequate, and based on good faith negotiations, and in the best
interests of Plaintiff and the Settlement Class, and one that will be provided to the Settlement
Class without delay. Therefore, Plaintiff believes that it is desirable that the Released Claims be
fully and finally compromised, settled, and resolved with prejudice, and forever barred pursuant
to the terms and conditions set forth in the Settlement Agreement.
N.

Defendant denies the material allegations in the Action, as well as all allegations

of wrongdoing and liability, including that it is subject to or violated BIPA, and believes that it
would have prevailed on the merits and that a class would not be certified for trial. Nevertheless,
Defendant has similarly concluded that this settlement is desirable to avoid the time, risk, and
expense of defending protracted litigation, and to avoid the risk posed by the Settlement Class’s

claims for statutory damages under BIPA. Defendant thus desires to resolve finally and
completely the pending and potential claims of Plaintiff and the Settlement Class.
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and among
Plaintiff, the Settlement Class, and Defendant that, subject to the approval of the Court after a
hearing as provided for in this Settlement Agreement, and in consideration of the benefits
flowing to the Parties from the Settlement set forth herein, the Released Claims shall be fully and
finally compromised, settled, and released, and the Action shall be dismissed with prejudice,
upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Settlement Agreement.
AGREEMENT
1.

DEFINITIONS
In addition to any definitions set forth elsewhere in this Settlement Agreement, the

following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
1.1

“Action” means the case captioned LaBarre v. Ceridian HCM, Inc., No. 19-CH-

06489 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty.).
1.2

“Agreement” or “Settlement Agreement” or “Settlement” means this Class

Action Settlement Agreement and the attached Exhibits.
1.3

“Approved Claim” means a Claim Form submitted by a Settlement Class

Member that is (a) timely and submitted in accordance with the directions on the Claim Form
and the terms of this Agreement, (b) is fully completed and physically or electronically signed by
the Settlement Class Member, and (c) satisfies the conditions of eligibility for a Settlement
Payment as set forth in this Agreement.
1.4

“Claims Deadline” means the date by which all Claim Forms must be

postmarked or submitted on the Settlement Website to be considered timely, and shall be set as a

date no later than ninety (90) calendar days following the Notice Date, subject to Court approval.
The Claims Deadline shall be clearly set forth in the Notice and the Claim Form.
1.5

“Claim Form” means the document substantially in the form attached hereto as

Exhibits A and B, as approved by the Court. The Claim Form, which shall be completed by
Settlement Class Members who wish to file a claim for a Settlement Payment, shall be available
in paper and electronic format. The Claim Form will require claiming Settlement Class Members
to provide the following information: (i) full name, (ii) current U.S. Mail address, (iii) current
contact telephone number and/or email address, and (iv) a statement that they scanned their
finger on a Ceridian-branded timeclock in the state of Illinois between May 28, 2014 and the
date of the Preliminary Approval Order. The Claim Form will not require Settlement Class
Members to verify, attest, or otherwise affirm that they did not consent to Ceridian’s collection
or storage of their biometric data. The Claim Form will not require notarization, but will require
affirmation that the information supplied is true and correct. The online Claim Form will provide
Class Members with the option of having their Settlement Payment transmitted to them through
Venmo, Zelle, Paypal, or check. Class Members who submit a paper Claim Form that is
approved will be sent a check via U.S. Mail.
1.6

“Class Counsel” means attorneys Jay Edelson, J. Eli Wade-Scott, and Schuyler

Ufkes of Edelson PC and David Fish of Fish Potter Bolaños, P.C.
1.7

“Class List” means the list of Contact Information for members of the Settlement

Class that is provided to and compiled by the Settlement Administrator.
1.8

“Class Representative” or “Plaintiff” means the named Plaintiff in the Action,

Rachel LaBarre.

1.9

“Court” means the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, the Honorable

Raymond W. Mitchell presiding, or any judge who shall succeed him as the Judge assigned to
the Action.
1.10

“Defendant” or “Ceridian” means Ceridian HCM, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

1.11

“Defendant’s Counsel” or “Ceridian’s Counsel” means attorneys Molly K.

McGinley and Kenn Brotman of K&L Gates LLP.
1.12 “Effective Date” means one business day following the later of: (i) the date upon
which the time expires for filing or noticing any appeal of the Final Approval Order; (ii) if there
is an appeal or appeals, other than an appeal or appeals solely with respect to the Fee Award or
incentive award, the date of completion, in a manner that finally affirms and leaves in place the
Final Approval Order without any material modification, of all proceedings arising out of the
appeal(s) (including, but not limited to, the expiration of all deadlines for motions for
reconsideration or petitions for review and/or certiorari, all proceedings ordered on remand, and
all proceedings arising out of any subsequent appeal(s) following decisions on remand); or
(iii) the date of final dismissal of any appeal or the final dismissal of any proceeding on certiorari
with respect to the Final Approval Order.
1.13 “Escrow Account” means the separate, interest-bearing escrow account to be
established by the Settlement Administrator under terms acceptable to Class Counsel and
Defendant at a depository institution insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The
money in the Escrow Account shall be invested in the following types of accounts and/or
instruments and no other: (a) demand deposit accounts and/or (b) time deposit accounts and
certificates of deposit, in either case with maturities of forty-five (45) calendar days or less. Any
interest earned on the Escrow Account shall inure to the benefit of the Settlement Class as part of

the Settlement Payment, if practicable. The Settlement Administrator shall be responsible for all
tax filings with respect to the Escrow Account.
1.14

“Fee Award” means the amount of attorneys’ fees and reimbursement of costs

awarded to Class Counsel by the Court to be paid from the Settlement Fund.
1.15

“Final Approval Hearing” means the hearing before the Court where Plaintiff

will request that the Final Approval Order be entered by the Court finally approving the
Settlement as fair, reasonable, adequate, and approving the Fee Award and the incentive award
to the Class Representative.
1.16

“Final Approval Order” means the final judgment and approval order to be

entered by the Court approving the settlement of the Action in accordance with this Settlement
Agreement after the Final Approval Hearing, and dismissing the Action with prejudice.
1.17

“Notice” means the notice of the proposed Settlement and Final Approval

Hearing, which is to be disseminated to the Settlement Class substantially in the manner set forth
in this Settlement Agreement, fulfills the requirements of Due Process and 735 ILCS 5/2-801 et
seq., and is substantially in the form of Exhibits B, C and D attached hereto.
1.18

“Notice Date” means the date by which the Notice is disseminated to the

Settlement Class, which shall be a date no later than (i) twenty-eight (28) calendar days after
entry of the Preliminary Approval Order, or (ii) twenty-eight (28) calendar days after the final
Class List is compiled as described in Section 4.1, whichever occurs later.
1.19

“Objection/Exclusion Deadline” means the date by which a written objection to

the Settlement Agreement by a Class Member must be filed with the Court or a request for
exclusion submitted by a person within the Settlement Class must be postmarked or received by
the Settlement Administrator, which shall be designated as a date sixty (60) calendar days after

the Notice Date, as approved by the Court. The Objection/Exclusion Deadline will be set forth in
the Notice and on the Settlement Website.
1.20

“Preliminary Approval Order” means the Court’s order preliminarily approving

the Agreement, certifying the Settlement Class for settlement purposes, and approving the form,
substance, and manner of the Notice.
1.21

“Released Claims” means any and all claims of every nature and description,

known or unknown (including “Unknown Claims” as defined below), that have been or could
have been asserted in the Action based on acts and/or omissions in connection with or arising out
of the collection, possession, capture, purchase, receipt through trade, obtaining, sale, lease,
trade, profit from, disclosure, redisclosure, dissemination, storage, transmittal, and/or protection
from disclosure of alleged biometric information or biometric identifiers through the use of
finger scanners, whether such conduct was alleged or unalleged, including any violation of the
Biometric Information Privacy Act.
1.22

“Released Parties” means Ceridian and all of its present or former

administrators, predecessors, successors, assigns, parents, subsidiaries, holding companies,
investors, sister and affiliated companies, divisions, associates, affiliated and related entities,
employers, employees, agents, representatives, consultants, independent contractors, directors,
managing directors, officers, partners, principals, members, attorneys, vendors, accountants,
fiduciaries, financial and other advisors, investment bankers, insurers, reinsurers, employee
benefit plans, underwriters, shareholders, lenders, auditors, investment advisors, and any and all
present and former companies, firms, trusts, corporations, officers and directors. Released Parties
shall not include Defendant’s customers (including, specifically, employers that used a Ceridian
timeclock in Illinois).

1.23

“Releasing Parties” means Plaintiff and each Settlement Class Member and their

respective present or past heirs, executors, estates, administrators, assigns and agents.
1.24

“Settlement Administration Expenses” means all expenses reasonably incurred

by the Settlement Administrator in or relating to administering the Settlement, providing Notice,
creating and maintaining the Settlement Website, receiving and processing Claim Forms,
disbursing Settlement Payments by mail and electronic means, related tax expenses, fees of the
escrow agent, and other such related expenses, with all such expenses to be paid from the
Settlement Fund.
1.25

“Settlement Administrator” means Simpluris, Inc., subject to approval of the

Court, which will provide the Notice, create and maintain the Settlement Website, receive and
process Claim Forms and W-9 Forms, send Settlement Payments to Settlement Class Members,
be responsible for tax reporting, and perform such other settlement administration matters set
forth herein or contemplated by the Settlement.
1.26

“Settlement Class” means all individuals who scanned their fingers in Illinois on

a timeclock issued, leased or sold by Ceridian, and for whom any alleged biometric data relating
to that scan was shared with or stored by Ceridian, between May 28, 2014 and the date of the
Preliminary Approval Order. Excluded from the Settlement Class are (1) persons who were
settlement class members in Edmond v. DPI Specialty Foods, Inc., 2018-CH-09573 (Cir. Ct.
Cook Cty. Ill.), Gonzalez v. Richelieu Foods, Inc., No. 20-cv-04354 (N.D. Ill.), Terry v. Griffith
Foods Group, Inc., Case No. 2019-CH-12910 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty. Ill.), Quarles v. Pret a Manger
(USA) Limited, 20-cv-7179 (N.D. Ill), and Struck and Jones v. Woodman’s Food Market, 2021CH-053 (19th Jud. Cir, Lake Cty. Ill.), (2) persons who executed Defendant’s on-screen consent
prior to any use of finger scanners provided by Defendant, (3) any Judge or Magistrate presiding

over this Action and members of their families, (4) Defendant, Defendant’s subsidiaries, parent
companies, successors, predecessors, and any entity in which Defendant or its parents have a
controlling interest, (5) persons who properly execute and file a timely request for exclusion
from the Settlement Class, and (6) the legal representatives, successors or assigns of any such
excluded persons. For purposes of Paragraph 2.1(b) herein, the Settlement Class is presumed to
be individuals identified on the Class List.
1.27

“Settlement Class Member” or “Class Member” means a person who falls

within the definition of the Settlement Class and who does not submit a timely and valid request
for exclusion from the Settlement Class.
1.28

“Settlement Fund” means the non-reversionary cash fund that shall be

established by Defendant or its insurer in the amount of Three Million Four Hundred NinetyThree Thousand Seventy-Four Dollars ($3,493,074.00). Within twenty-eight (28) calendar days
of the entry of the Preliminary Approval Order, Defendant or its insurer(s) shall deposit One
Hundred and Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000.00) into the Escrow Account for the purpose of
funding Settlement Administration Expenses. Defendant or its insurer shall transmit the
remaining balance of the Settlement Fund, Three Million Three Hundred Forty-Three Thousand
Seventy-Four Dollars ($3,343,074.00), into the Escrow Account within twenty-eight (28)
calendar days after the entry of the Final Approval Order or Alternative Approval Order. The
Settlement Fund shall satisfy all monetary obligations of Defendant (or any other Released
Party) under this Settlement Agreement, including the Settlement Payments, Settlement
Administration Expenses, Fee Award, litigation costs, incentive award, taxes, and any other
payments or other monetary obligations contemplated by this Agreement or the Settlement. The
Settlement Fund shall be kept in the Escrow Account with permissions granted to the Settlement

Administrator to access said funds until such time as the above-listed payments are made. In no
event shall any amount paid by Defendant or its insurer into the Escrow Account, or any interest
earned thereon, revert to Defendant or any other Released Party.
1.29

“Settlement Payment” means a pro rata portion of the Settlement Fund less any

Fee Award, incentive award to the Class Representative, and Settlement Administration
Expenses.
1.30

“Settlement Website” means the website to be created, launched, and maintained

by the Settlement Administrator, which will provide access to relevant settlement administration
documents, including the Notice and relevant court filings, and the ability to submit Claim
Forms online and will allow Class Members to elect to receive their Settlement Payment through
Venmo, Zelle, Paypal, or check. The Settlement Website shall be live and active by the Notice
Date, and the URL of the Settlement Website shall be www.CeridianBIPASettlement.com, or
such other URL as the Parties may subsequently agree to.
1.31

“Unknown Claims” means claims that could have been raised in the Action and

that Plaintiff, any member of the Settlement Class or any Releasing Party, do not know or
suspect to exist, which, if known by him, her or it, might affect his, her or its agreement to
release the Released Parties or the Released Claims or might affect his, her or its decision to
agree, to object or not to object to the Settlement. Upon the Effective Date, Plaintiff, the
Settlement Class Members, and the Releasing Parties shall be deemed to have, and shall have,
expressly waived and relinquished, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the provisions, rights
and benefits of Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which provides as follows:
A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE
CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO
EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE
RELEASE AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE

MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY.
Upon the Effective Date, each of the Releasing Parties shall be deemed to have, and shall have,
waived any and all provisions, rights and benefits conferred by any law of any state, the District
of Columbia or territory of the United States, by federal law, or principle of common law, or the
law of any jurisdiction outside of the United States, which is similar, comparable or equivalent to
Section 1542 of the California Civil Code. Plaintiff, the Settlement Class Members, and the
Releasing Parties acknowledge that they may discover facts in addition to or different from those
that they now know or believe to be true with respect to the subject matter of the Release, but
that it is their intention to finally and forever settle and release the Released Claims,
notwithstanding any Unknown Claims they may have, as that term is defined in this Section.
2.

SETTLEMENT RELIEF
2.1

Settlement Payments to Settlement Class Members.
a.

Settlement Class Members shall have until the Claims Deadline to submit

Claim Forms. Each Settlement Class Member who submits an Approved Claim shall be
entitled to a Settlement Payment.
b.

Within fourteen (14) calendar days after the Claims Deadline, the

Settlement Administrator shall process all Claim Forms submitted by Settlement Class
Members and shall determine which claims are valid and initially approved and which
claims are initially rejected.
c.

Within fourteen (14) calendar days after the Claims Deadline, the

Settlement Administrator will submit to Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel a report
listing all initially approved and initially rejected Claims.
d.

Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel shall have fourteen (14) calendar

days after the date they receive the report listing the initially approved and initially
rejected claims to audit and challenge any initially approved or initially rejected claims.
Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel shall meet and confer in an effort to resolve any
disputes or disagreements over any initially approved or rejected claims. The Settlement
Administrator shall have the final authority for determining if Settlement Class Members’
Claim Forms are complete, timely, and accepted as an Approved Claim.
e.

Class Counsel agrees that they shall not disclose or use, directly or

indirectly, any information pertaining to Class Members or their employers that is
disclosed to them in Claim Forms hereunder for any purpose other than effectuating the
Settlement.
f.

Within twenty-eight (28) calendar days of the Effective Date, or such

other date as the Court may set, the Settlement Administrator shall send Settlement
Payments from the Settlement Fund by electronic deposit or by check via First Class U.S.
Mail to the account or address provided on the Approved Claim Form, as elected by the
Class Member with an Approved Claim.
g.

Class Members will have the option of having their Settlement Payment

transmitted to them through Venmo, Zelle, Paypal, or check. Class Members who do not
choose a payment method via the Settlement Website will be sent a check via First Class
U.S. Mail to their last known mailing address, as updated through the National Change of
Address database if necessary by the Settlement Administrator.
h.

Each payment issued to a Class Member by check will state on the face of

the check that it will become null and void unless cashed within one hundred and eighty
(180) calendar days after the date of issuance.

i.

In the event that an electronic deposit to a Class Member is unable to be

processed, the Settlement Administrator shall attempt to contact the Class Member within
thirty (30) calendar days to correct the problem.
j.

To the extent that a check issued to Settlement Class Members is not

cashed within one hundred and eighty (180) calendar days after the date of issuance or an
electronic deposit is unable to be processed within one hundred and eighty (180) calendar
days of the first attempt, such funds shall be distributed as cy pres to the Illinois Bar
Foundation, or any other or additional cy pres recipient selected by the Court, pursuant to
735 ILCS 5/2-807(b), subject to approval of the Court.
k.

In no event shall any amount paid by Defendant or its insurer into the

Escrow Account revert to Defendant or the Released Parties.
2.2

Prospective Relief.
a.

Defendant shall continue to maintain its online biometric policy, which is

currently available at https://www.ceridian.com/privacy/biometric-notice, and keep it
available to the public.
b.

Defendant agrees that, on or before the Effective Date, Defendant shall

ensure that a process is in place by which its customers that use a Ceridian-branded
timeclock with a finger scanner in Illinois:
(i)

are notified of the legal requirements to (a) obtain a written release,
(b) establish a retention and destruction schedule that complies
with BIPA and (c) comply with that policy;

(ii)

obtain or continue to obtain a written release, either via on-screen
consent deployed by default, or other lawful means, before

individuals can use Ceridian timeclocks to scan their finger, and
such release shall inform those persons in writing (a) that their
biometric data is being collected or stored by Ceridian, and (b) of
the specific purposes and length of term for which their biometric
data is being collected, stored, or used by Ceridian.
If Ceridian maintains its online biometric policy and establishes the process described in
this Section 2.2., Ceridian shall not be in breach of this Agreement due to a Customer’s
failure to obtain a written release as described in Section 2.2(b)(ii).
3. RELEASE
3.1

The Release. Upon the Effective Date, and in consideration of the settlement

relief and other consideration described herein, the Releasing Parties, and each of them, shall be
deemed to have released, and by operation of the Final Approval Order shall have, fully, finally,
and forever released, acquitted, relinquished and completely discharged the Released Parties
from any and all Released Claims (the “Release”).
4. NOTICE TO THE CLASS
4.1

The Class List.
a.

On or before March 7, 2022, Defendant shall reach out to its customers

seeking consent to disclose to the Settlement Administrator the following information, to
the extent available in the customer database hosted by Ceridian: the Settlement Class
members’ names, personal e-mail addresses, and mailing addresses (the “Contact
Information”).
b.

If, by April 26, 2022, any Ceridian customer has failed to provide Ceridian

consent to disclose any Contact Information to the Settlement Administrator (the

“Refusing Customers”), (i) Plaintiff will issue discovery to Ceridian to obtain such
Contact Information, to which Ceridian will respond within seven (7) calendar days, and
(ii) Ceridian represents that it has not identified a legal basis to oppose such discovery,
and therefore will not oppose any motion seeking an order compelling Ceridian to
produce such Contact Information to the Settlement Administrator (the “Motion to
Compel”).
c.

If the Court denies any portion of Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel, Ceridian

shall provide Plaintiff the name and business address of each Refusing Customer within
seven (7) calendar days of an order denying the Motion to Compel, so that Plaintiff may
issue subpoenas to such Refusing Customers. Except as provided in this Paragraph 4.1(c),
Ceridian shall not be required to provide Plaintiff the name or business address of any
customer.
d.

Plaintiff shall provide any Contact Information she receives from any

Ceridian customer to Ceridian so that Ceridian may confirm whether such individuals fall
within the Settlement Class. Ceridian shall have fourteen (14) calendar days to review the
information provided by subpoenaed customers and shall then provide the Contact
Information from any subpoenaed customers to the Settlement Administrator and
Plaintiff with an explanation as to why any individual(s) identified by the subpoenaed
customers are not Settlement Class members. To the extent that the Parties disagree as to
whether an individual is a Settlement Class member, they shall meet and confer in good
faith. Any disputes that cannot be resolved through the meet and confer process shall be
submitted to the Court.

e.

All Contact Information of Settlement Class members provided to the

Settlement Administrator will be compiled by the Settlement Administrator to form the
Class List. Within seven (7) calendar days after the Class List is compiled, the Settlement
Administrator shall provide Class Counsel a report detailing the total number of unique
names on the Class List, the number of unique names for whom an address is available
on the Class List, the number of unique names for whom an email address and is
available on the Class List, and the number of unique names for whom no address or
email address is available on the Class List. The Settlement Administrator shall keep the
Class List, and all Contact Information contained therein, strictly confidential. The Class
List may not be used by the Settlement Administrator for any purpose other than advising
specific individual Settlement Class members of their rights, mailing Settlement
Payments, and otherwise effectuating the terms of the Settlement Agreement or the duties
arising thereunder, including the provision of Notice of the Settlement and Paragraph
2.1(d) hereof.
4.2

The Notice shall include the best notice practicable, including but not limited to:
a.

Update Addresses. Prior to mailing any Notice, the Settlement

Administrator will update the U.S. Mail addresses of persons on the Class List using the
National Change of Address database and other available resources deemed suitable by
the Settlement Administrator. The Settlement Administrator shall take all reasonable
steps to obtain the correct address of any Settlement Class members for whom Notice is
returned by the U.S. Postal Service as undeliverable and shall attempt re-mailings as
described below in Section 5.1.

b.

Direct Notice. No later than the Notice Date, the Settlement

Administrator shall (1) send Notice via First Class U.S. Mail substantially in the form of
Exhibit B to each Settlement Class member’s physical address in the Class List and (2)
shall send Notice via e-mail substantially in the form of Exhibit C to all persons in the
Settlement Class for whom an email address is available in the Class List.
c.

Reminder Notice. Thirty (30) calendar days prior to the Claims Deadline

and seven (7) calendar days prior to the Claims Deadline, the Settlement Administrator
shall again send Notice via email along with an electronic link to the Claim Form, to all
persons in the Settlement Class for whom a valid email address is available in the
Settlement Class List. The reminder emails shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit
C, with minor, non-material modifications to indicate that it is a reminder email rather
than an initial notice. If the number of Claim Forms submitted by Settlement Class
Members does not equal at least ten percent (10%) of the number of persons listed in the
Class List, then the Settlement Administrator shall send a final reminder notice two (2)
business days before the Claims Deadline substantially in the form of Exhibit C, with
minor, non-material modifications to indicate that it is a final notice.
d.

Internet Notice. Within fourteen (14) calendar days after the entry of the

Preliminary Approval Order, the Settlement Administrator will develop, host, administer
and maintain a Settlement Website containing the notice substantially in the form of
Exhibit D.
4.3

The Notice shall advise the Settlement Class of their rights under the Settlement,

including the right to be excluded from or object to the Settlement Agreement or its terms. The
Notice shall specify that any objection to this Settlement Agreement, and any papers submitted

in support of said objection, shall be received by the Court at the Final Approval Hearing, only
if, on or before the Objection/Exclusion Deadline approved by the Court and specified in the
Notice, the person making an objection shall file notice of his or her intention to do so and at the
same time (a) files copies of such papers he or she proposes to submit at the Final Approval
Hearing with the Clerk of the Court, (b) files copies of such papers through the Court’s eFileIL
system if the objection is from a Settlement Class Member represented by counsel, who must
also file an appearance, and (c) sends copies of such papers via e-mail, U.S. mail, hand, or
overnight delivery service to Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel.
4.4

Right to Object or Comment. Any Settlement Class Member who intends to

object to this Settlement Agreement must present the objection in writing, which must be
personally signed by the objector and must include: (a) the Settlement Class Member’s full name
and current address, (b) a statement that he or she believes himself or herself to be a member of
the Settlement Class, (c) the specific grounds for the objection, (d) all documents or writings that
the Settlement Class Member desires the Court to consider, (e) the name and contact information
of any and all attorneys representing, advising, or in any way assisting the objector in connection
with the preparation or submission of the objection or who may profit from the pursuit of the
objection, and (f) a statement indicating whether the objector intends to appear at the Final
Approval Hearing (either personally or through counsel, who must file an appearance or seek pro
hac vice admission). All written objections must be filed with the Court and postmarked, emailed, or delivered to Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel no later than the
Objection/Exclusion Deadline. Any Settlement Class Member who fails to timely file a written
objection with the Court and notice of his or her intent to appear at the Final Approval Hearing in
accordance with the terms of this Section and as detailed in the Notice, and at the same time

provide copies to designated counsel for the Parties, shall not be permitted to object to this
Settlement Agreement at the Final Approval Hearing, and shall be foreclosed from seeking any
review of this Settlement Agreement, the Final Approval Order, or Alternative Approval Order,
by appeal or other means, and shall be deemed to have waived his or her objections and be
forever barred from making any such objections in the Action or any other action or proceeding.
4.5

Right to Request Exclusion. Any person in the Settlement Class may submit a

request for exclusion from the Settlement on or before the Objection/Exclusion Deadline. To be
valid, any request for exclusion must (a) be in writing; (b) identify the case name LaBarre v.
Ceridian HCM, Inc., No. 2019-CH-06489 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty.); (c) state the full name and
current address of the person in the Settlement Class seeking exclusion; (d) be signed by the
person seeking exclusion; and (e) be postmarked or received by the Settlement Administrator on
or before the Objection/Exclusion Deadline. The Settlement Administrator shall create a
dedicated e-mail address to receive exclusion requests electronically. Each request for exclusion
must also contain a statement to the effect that “I hereby request to be excluded from the
proposed Settlement Class in LaBarre v. Ceridian HCM, Inc., 2019-CH-06489 (Cir. Ct. Cook
Cty.).” A request for exclusion that does not include all of the foregoing information, that is sent
to an address or e-mail address other than that designated in the Notice, or that is not postmarked
or electronically delivered to the Settlement Administrator within the time specified, shall be
invalid and the persons serving such a request shall be deemed to remain Settlement Class
Members and shall be bound as Settlement Class Members by this Settlement Agreement, if
approved. Any person who elects to request exclusion from the Settlement Class in compliance
with this provision shall not (a) be bound by any orders or the Final Approval Order entered in
the Action, (b) receive a Settlement Payment under this Settlement Agreement, (c) gain any

rights by virtue of this Settlement Agreement, or (d) be entitled to object to any aspect of this
Settlement Agreement or the Final Approval Order or Alternative Approval Order. No person
may request to be excluded from the Settlement Class through “mass” or “class” opt-outs.
5. SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION
5.1

Settlement Administrator’s Duties.
a.

Dissemination of Notices. The Settlement Administrator shall disseminate

the Notice as provided in Section 4 of this Settlement Agreement.
b.

Undeliverable Notice via U.S. Mail. If any Notice sent via U.S. mail is

returned as undeliverable, the Settlement Administrator shall forward it to any forwarding
addresses provided by the U.S. Postal Service. If no such forwarding address is provided,
the Settlement Administrator shall perform skip traces to attempt to obtain the most
recent addresses for such Settlement Class members.
c.

Maintenance of Records. The Settlement Administrator shall maintain

reasonably detailed records of its activities under this Settlement Agreement. The
Settlement Administrator shall maintain all such records as required by applicable law in
accordance with its business practices and such records will be made available to Class
Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel upon request, except that Plaintiff and Class Counsel
shall not have access to the Contact Information of the Settlement Class provided by
Ceridian other than as authorized in this Agreement. The Settlement Administrator shall
also provide reports and other information to the Court as the Court may require. Upon
request, the Settlement Administrator shall provide Class Counsel and Defendant’s
Counsel with information concerning the Notice, the number of Claim Forms submitted,
the number of Approved Claims, any requests for exclusion, and the administration and

implementation of the Settlement. The Settlement Administrator shall make available for
inspection by Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel the Claim Forms received by the
Settlement Administrator at any time upon reasonable notice. If the Settlement
Administrator receives any questions from Class Members related to the Claim Forms,
then the Settlement Administrator should act in good faith to respond to the question or
inquiry. In no event shall the Settlement Administrator disclose the name of any class
member’s employer to Class Counsel. Should the Court request, the Parties shall submit a
timely report to the Court summarizing the work performed by the Settlement
Administrator, including a post-distribution accounting of all Settlement Payments, the
number and value of checks not cashed, the number and value of electronic payments
unprocessed, and the amount distributed to any cy pres recipient.
d.

Receipt of Requests for Exclusion. The Settlement Administrator shall

receive requests for exclusion from persons in the Settlement Class and provide to Class
Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel a copy thereof within five (5) calendar days of the
Objection/Exclusion Deadline. If the Settlement Administrator receives any requests for
exclusion or other requests from Settlement Class Members after the Objection/Exclusion
Deadline, the Settlement Administrator shall promptly provide copies thereof to Class
Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel.
e.

Creation of Settlement Website. The Settlement Administrator shall create

the Settlement Website. The Settlement Website shall include a toll-free telephone phone
number and mailing address through which persons in the Settlement Class may contact
the Settlement Administrator or Class Counsel directly, and include the ability for Class
Members to file claims and submit any required tax forms on-line.

f.

Processing Claim Forms. The Settlement Administrator shall, under the

supervision of the Court, administer the relief provided by this Settlement Agreement by
processing Claim Forms in a rational, responsive, cost effective, and timely manner. The
Settlement Administrator shall be obliged to employ reasonable procedures to screen
claims for abuse or fraud and deny Claim Forms where there is evidence of abuse or
fraud, including by cross-referencing Approved Claims with the Class List. To the extent
that an individual who does not appear on the Class List submits a Claim Form, the
Settlement Administrator will reject the claim, unless otherwise agreed by both parties.
The Settlement Administrator shall determine whether a Claim Form submitted by a
Settlement Class Member is an Approved Claim and shall reject Claim Forms that fail to
(a) comply with the instructions on the Claim Form or the terms of this Agreement, or (b)
provide full and complete information as requested on the Claim Form. In the event a
person submits a timely Claim Form by the Claims Deadline, but the Claim Form is not
otherwise complete, then the Settlement Administrator shall give such person reasonable
opportunity to provide any requested missing information, which information must be
received by the Settlement Administrator no later than twenty-eight (28) calendar days
after the Claims Deadline. In the event the Settlement Administrator receives such
information more than twenty-eight (28) calendar days after the Claims Deadline, then
any such claim shall be denied. The Settlement Administrator may contact any person
who has submitted a Claim Form to obtain additional information necessary to verify the
Claim Form.
g.

Establishment of the Escrow Fund. The Settlement Administrator shall

establish the Escrow Fund, pursuant to the terms of Section 1.13, and maintain the

Escrow Fund as a qualified settlement fund throughout the implementation of the Class
Settlement in accordance with the Court’s Preliminary Approval Order and Final
Approval Order.
h.

Timing of Settlement Payments. The Settlement Administrator shall make

Settlement Payments contemplated in Section 2 of this Settlement Agreement to all
Settlement Class Members who, if necessary, have completed required tax forms, within
twenty-eight (28) calendar days after the Effective Date.
i.

Tax Reporting. The Settlement Administrator shall be responsible for all

tax filings related to the Escrow Account, including requesting Form W-9’s from
Settlement Class Members and performing back-up withholding if necessary, and making
any required “information returns” as that term is used in 26 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.
6. PRELIMINARY APPROVAL AND FINAL APPROVAL
6.1

Preliminary Approval. Promptly after execution of this Settlement Agreement,

Class Counsel shall submit this Settlement Agreement to the Court and shall move the Court to
enter a Preliminary Approval Order, which shall include, among other provisions, a request that
the Court:
a.

Appoint Plaintiff as Class Representative of the Settlement Class for

settlement purposes only;
b.

Appoint Class Counsel to represent the Settlement Class;

c.

Certify the Settlement Class under 735 ILCS 5/2-801 et seq., for

settlement purposes only;
d.

Preliminarily approve this Settlement Agreement for purposes of

disseminating Notice to the Settlement Class;

e.

Approve the form and contents of the Notice and the method of its

dissemination to members of the Settlement Class; and
f.

Schedule a Final Approval Hearing to review any comments and/or

objections regarding this Settlement Agreement; to consider its fairness, reasonableness
and adequacy; to consider the application for a Fee Award and incentive award to the
Class Representative; and to consider whether the Court shall enter a Final Approval
Order approving this Settlement Agreement and dismissing the Action with prejudice.
6.2

Final Approval. After Notice to the Settlement Class is disseminated, Class

Counsel shall move the Court for entry of a Final Approval Order, which shall include, among
other provisions, a request that the Court:
a.

find that it has personal jurisdiction over all Settlement Class Members

and subject matter jurisdiction to approve this Settlement Agreement, including all
attached Exhibits;
b.

approve the Settlement as fair, reasonable and adequate as to, and in the

best interests of, the Settlement Class Members;
c.

direct the Parties and their counsel to implement and consummate the

Settlement according to its terms and conditions;
d.

declare the Settlement to have released all pending and future lawsuits or

other proceedings maintained by or on behalf of Plaintiff and all other Settlement Class
Members and Releasing Parties;
e.

find that the Notice implemented pursuant to the Settlement Agreement

(1) constitutes the best practicable notice under the circumstances, (2) constitutes notice
that is reasonably calculated, under the circumstances, to apprise the Settlement Class of

the pendency of the Action and their rights to object to or exclude themselves from this
Settlement Agreement and to appear at the Final Approval Hearing, (3) is reasonable and
constitutes due, adequate and sufficient notice to all persons entitled to receive notice,
and (4) fulfills the requirements of 735 ILCS 5/2-801 et seq., Due Process, and the rules
of the Court;
f.

find that the Class Representative and Class Counsel adequately

represented the Settlement Class for purposes of entering into and implementing the
Settlement Agreement;
g.

dismiss the Action on the merits and with prejudice, without fees or costs

to any Party except as provided in this Settlement Agreement;
h.

incorporate the Release set forth above, make the Release effective as of

the Effective Date, and forever discharge the Released Parties as set forth herein;
i.

authorize the Parties, without further approval from the Court, to agree to

and adopt such amendments, modifications and expansions of the Settlement and its
implementing documents (including all Exhibits to this Settlement Agreement) that (i)
shall be consistent in all material respects with the Final Approval Order, and (ii) do not
limit the rights of Settlement Class Members; and
j.

without affecting the finality of the Final Approval Order for purposes of

appeal, retain jurisdiction as to all matters relating to administration, consummation,
enforcement and interpretation of the Settlement Agreement and the Final Approval
Order, and for any other necessary purpose; and
k.

incorporate any other provisions, consistent with the material terms of this

Settlement Agreement, that are requested by the Court and agreed upon by both Parties.

6.3

Cooperation. The Parties shall, in good faith, cooperate, assist and undertake all

reasonably necessary actions and steps in order to accomplish these required events on the
schedule set by the Court, subject to the terms of this Settlement Agreement.
7.

TERMINATION OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT & CONFIRMATORY
DISCOVERY
7.1

Termination. Subject to Section 9 below, the Class Representative, on behalf of

the Settlement Class, or Defendant, shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by providing
written notice of the election to do so to Class Counsel or Defendant’s Counsel within ten (10)
calendar days of any of the following events: (i) the Court’s refusal to enter the Preliminary
Approval Order approving of this Agreement in any material respect; (ii) the Court’s refusal to
enter the Final Approval Order in this Action in any material respect; (iii) the Court’s refusal to
enter a final judgment in this Action in any material respect; (iv) the date upon which the Final
Approval Order is modified or reversed in any material respect by the appellate court or the
Supreme Court; or (v) the date upon which an Alternative Approval Order is entered, as defined
in Section 9.1 of this Agreement, is modified or reversed in any material respect by the appellate
court or the Supreme Court.
8.

INCENTIVE AWARD AND CLASS COUNSEL’S ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND
REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES
8.1

Defendant agrees that Class Counsel is entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and

unreimbursed expenses incurred in the Action as the Fee Award from the Settlement Fund. The
amount of the Fee Award shall be determined by the Court based on petition from Class
Counsel. Class Counsel has agreed, with no consideration from Defendant, to limit their request
for attorneys’ fees and unreimbursed costs to thirty-five percent (35%) of the Settlement Fund.
Defendant may challenge the amount requested. Payment of the Fee Award shall be made from

the Settlement Fund, and should the Court award less than the amount sought by Class Counsel,
the difference in the amount sought and the amount ultimately awarded pursuant to this Section
shall remain in the Escrow Account and be distributed to Settlement Class Members as
Settlement Payments. The Fee Award shall be payable within five (5) business days after entry
of the Final Approval Order, if there are no objections to the Settlement Agreement, and if there
have been such objections, within five (5) business days after the Effective Date. Payment of the
Fee Award shall be made by the Settlement Administrator via wire transfer to an account
designated by Class Counsel after providing necessary information for electronic transfer.
8.2

Defendant agrees that the Class Representative shall be paid an incentive award in

the amount of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) from the Settlement Fund, in addition to any
Settlement Payment pursuant to this Settlement Agreement and in recognition of her efforts on
behalf of the Settlement Class, subject to Court approval. Should the Court award less than this
amount, the difference in the amount sought and the amount ultimately awarded pursuant to this
Section shall remain in the Escrow Account and be distributed to Settlement Class Members as
Settlement Payments. Any incentive award shall be paid by the Settlement Administrator from
the Escrow Account (in the form of a check to the Class Representative that is sent care of Class
Counsel), within five (5) business days after entry of the Final Approval Order if there have been
no objections to the Settlement Agreement and, if there have been such objections, within five
(5) business days after the Effective Date.
9.

CONDITIONS OF SETTLEMENT, EFFECT OF DISAPPROVAL,
CANCELLATION OR TERMINATION.
9.1

The Effective Date shall not occur unless and until each and every one of the

following events occurs, and shall be the date upon which the last (in time) of the following
events occurs subject to the provisions in Section 1.12:

a.

This Agreement has been signed by the Parties, Class Counsel and

Defendant’s Counsel;
b.

The Court has entered a Preliminary Approval Order approving the

Agreement;
c.

The Court has entered a Final Approval Order finally approving the

Agreement, or a judgment substantially consistent with this Settlement Agreement that
has become final and unappealable, following Notice to the Settlement Class and a Final
Approval Hearing; and
d.

In the event that the Court enters an approval order and final judgment in a

form other than that provided above (“Alternative Approval Order”) to which the Parties
have consented, that Alternative Approval Order has become final and unappealable.
9.2

If some or all of the conditions specified in Section 9.1 are not met, or in the event

that this Agreement is not approved by the Court, or the settlement set forth in this Agreement is
terminated or fails to become effective in accordance with its terms, then this Agreement shall be
canceled and terminated subject to Section 9.3, unless Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel
mutually agree in writing to proceed with this Settlement Agreement. If any Party is in material
breach of the terms hereof, any other Party, provided that it is in substantial compliance with the
terms of this Agreement, may terminate this Settlement Agreement on notice to all other Parties.
Notwithstanding anything herein, the Parties agree that the Court’s decision as to the amount of
the Fee Award to Class Counsel set forth above or the incentive award to the Class
Representative, regardless of the amounts awarded, shall not prevent the Settlement Agreement
from becoming effective, nor shall it be grounds for termination of the Agreement.

9.3

If this Settlement Agreement is terminated or fails to become effective for the

reasons set forth above, the Parties shall be restored to their respective positions in the Action as
of the date of the signing of this Agreement. In such event, any Final Approval Order or other
order entered by the Court in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be treated as
vacated, nunc pro tunc, and the Parties shall be returned to the status quo ante with respect to the
Action as if this Settlement Agreement had never been entered into.
10.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.
10.1

The Parties: (a) acknowledge that it is their intent to consummate this Agreement;

and (b) agree, subject to their fiduciary and other legal obligations, to cooperate to the extent
reasonably necessary to effectuate and implement all terms and conditions of this Agreement and
to exercise their reasonable best efforts to accomplish the foregoing terms and conditions of this
Settlement Agreement. Class Counsel and Defendant’s Counsel agree to cooperate with one
another to the extent reasonably necessary in seeking entry of the Preliminary Approval Order
and the Final Approval Order, and promptly to agree upon and execute all such other
documentation as may be reasonably required to obtain final approval of the Settlement
Agreement.
10.2

Each signatory to this Agreement represents and warrants (a) that the signatory

has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Settlement Agreement
and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein, (b) that the execution, delivery and
performance of this Settlement Agreement and the consummation by it of the actions
contemplated herein have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of
each signatory, and (c) that this Settlement Agreement has been duly and validly executed and
delivered by each signatory and constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation.

10.3

The Parties intend this Settlement Agreement to be a final and complete

resolution of all disputes between them with respect to the Released Claims by Plaintiff and the
other Settlement Class Members, and each or any of them, on the one hand, against the Released
Parties, and each or any of the Released Parties, on the other hand. Accordingly, the Parties agree
not to assert in any forum that the Action was brought by Plaintiff or defended by Defendant, or
each or any of them, in bad faith or without a reasonable basis.
10.4

The Parties have relied upon the advice and representation of their respective

counsel, selected by them, concerning the claims hereby released. The Parties have read and
understand fully this Settlement Agreement and have been fully advised as to the legal effect
hereof by counsel of their own selection and intend to be legally bound by the same.
10.5

Whether the Effective Date occurs or this Settlement is terminated, neither this

Settlement Agreement nor the Settlement contained herein, nor any court order, communication,
act performed or document executed pursuant to or in furtherance of this Settlement Agreement
or the Settlement:
a.

is, may be deemed, or shall be used, offered or received against the

Released Parties, or each or any of them as an admission, concession or evidence of, the
validity of any Released Claims, the truth of any fact alleged by Plaintiff, the deficiency
of any defense that has been or could have been asserted in the Action, the violation of
any law or statute, the reasonableness of the Settlement Fund, Settlement Payment or the
Fee Award, or of any alleged wrongdoing, liability, negligence, or fault of the Released
Parties, or any of them;
b.

is, may be deemed, or shall be used, offered or received against Defendant

as, an admission, concession or evidence of any fault, misrepresentation or omission with

respect to any statement or written document approved or made by the Released Parties,
or any of them;
c.

is, may be deemed, or shall be used, offered or received against Plaintiff or

the Settlement Class, or each or any of them as an admission, concession or evidence of,
the infirmity or strength of any claims asserted in the Action, the truth or falsity of any
fact alleged by Defendant, or the availability or lack of availability of meritorious
defenses to the claims raised in the Action;
d.

is, may be deemed, or shall be used, offered or received against the

Released Parties, or each or any of them as an admission or concession with respect to
any liability, negligence, fault or wrongdoing as against any Released Parties, in any
civil, criminal or administrative proceeding in any court, administrative agency or other
tribunal. However, the Settlement, this Settlement Agreement, and any acts performed
and/or documents executed in furtherance of or pursuant to this Settlement Agreement
and/or Settlement may be used in any proceedings as may be necessary to effectuate the
provisions of this Settlement Agreement. Moreover, if this Settlement Agreement is
approved by the Court, any of the Released Parties may file this Settlement Agreement
and/or the Final Approval Order in any action that may be brought against such Released
Parties in order to support a defense or counterclaim;
e.

is, may be deemed, or shall be construed against Plaintiff and the

Settlement Class, or each or any of them, or against the Released Parties, or each or any
of them, as an admission or concession that the consideration to be given hereunder
represents an amount equal to, less than or greater than that amount that could have or
would have been recovered after trial; and

f.

is, may be deemed, or shall be construed as or received in evidence as an

admission or concession against Plaintiff and the Settlement Class, or each and any of
them, or against the Released Parties, or each or any of them, that any of Plaintiff’s
claims are with or without merit or that damages recoverable in the Action would have
exceeded or would have been less than any particular amount.
10.6

The headings used herein are used for the purpose of convenience only and are

not meant to have legal effect.
10.7

The waiver by one Party of any breach of this Settlement Agreement by any other

Party shall not be deemed as a waiver of any other prior or subsequent breaches of this
Settlement Agreement.
10.8

All of the Exhibits to this Settlement Agreement are material and integral parts

hereof and are fully incorporated herein by reference.
10.9

This Settlement Agreement and its Exhibits A–D set forth the entire agreement

and understanding of the Parties with respect to the matters set forth herein, and supersede all
prior negotiations, agreements, arrangements and undertakings with respect to the matters set
forth herein. No representations, warranties or inducements have been made to any Party
concerning this Settlement Agreement or its Exhibits A–D other than the representations,
warranties and covenants contained and memorialized in such documents. This Settlement
Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed by or on behalf of
all Parties or their respective successors-in-interest.
10.10 Except as otherwise provided herein, each Party shall bear its own attorneys’ fees
and costs incurred in any way related to the Action.

10.11 Each counsel or other Person executing this Settlement Agreement, any of its
Exhibits, or any related settlement documents on behalf of any Party hereto, hereby warrants and
represents that such Person has the full authority to do so and has the authority to take
appropriate action required or permitted to be taken pursuant to the Settlement Agreement to
effectuate its terms.
10.12 Plaintiff represents and warrants that she is the sole and current owner of the
claims being released in this Agreement and that any such claims have not been assigned or
otherwise transferred to any other person or entity.
10.13 This Settlement Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts. All
executed counterparts and each of them shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
Signature by digital, facsimile, or in PDF format will constitute sufficient execution of this
Settlement Agreement. A complete set of original executed counterparts shall be filed with the
Court if the Court so requests.
10.14 The Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to implementation and
enforcement of the terms of this Settlement Agreement, and all Parties hereto submit to the
jurisdiction of the Court for purposes of implementing and enforcing the settlement embodied in
this Settlement Agreement.
10.15 This Settlement Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Illinois without reference to the conflicts of laws provisions thereof.
10.16 This Settlement Agreement is deemed to have been prepared by counsel for all
Parties, as a result of arm’s-length negotiations among the Parties. Whereas all Parties have
contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of this Settlement Agreement, it shall
not be construed more strictly against one Party than another.

10.17 Where this Settlement Agreement requires notice to the Parties, such notice shall
be sent to the undersigned counsel: Schuyler Ufkes, sufkes@edelson.com, EDELSON PC, 350
North LaSalle Street, 14th Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60654; Molly K. McGinley,
Molly.McGinley@klgates.com, K&L GATES LLP, 70 West Madison Street, Suite 3100, Chicago,
Illinois 60602.
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

Exhibit A

CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
LaBarre v. Ceridian HCM., Inc., Case No. 19-CH-06489
ONLINE CLAIM FORM
Instructions: You may be eligible for a payment as part of the Settlement for this case. Fill out each section
of this form and sign where indicated. Please select whether you prefer to receive payment via check,
Venmo, PayPal, or Zelle. If you opt for payment via check and your Claim Form is approved, you will
receive a check in the mail at the address you provide below. Depending on the number of valid claims
submitted, you may need to complete an IRS Form W-9 to satisfy tax reporting obligations. You may
complete the Form W-9 now at [link to W-9]; doing so now will ensure that you receive your full payment
as soon as possible. THIS CLAIM FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED BY [CLAIMS DEADLINE] AND
MUST BE FULLY COMPLETED, BE SIGNED, AND MEET ALL CONDITIONS OF THE
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.
The Settlement Administrator will review your Claim Form. If accepted, you will receive payment for an
equal, or pro rata, share depending on the number of valid Claim Forms received. This process takes time;
please be patient.
First Name

Last Name

Street Address

City

State

ZIP Code

Email Address

Contact Phone #: (You may be contacted if further information is required)

Select Payment Method. Select the box of how you would like to receive your payment and provide the
requested information:
Check

Zelle®

PayPal®

Venmo®

[Based on the selection, the claimant will be prompted to provide the information the Settlement
Administrator requires to complete the payment]
Class Member Verification: By submitting this Claim Form, I declare that the following information is
true and correct: I am an individual who scanned my finger on a Ceridian-branded timeclock in the State of
Illinois between May 28, 2014 and [date of Preliminary Approval Order].
E- Signature: ______________________________________

Date: __ __/__ __/__ __

Para informacion en Espanol, visitar www.[tobedetermined].com.

Exhibit B

COURT AUTHORIZED NOTICE OF CLASS
ACTION AND PROPOSED SETTLEMENT

OUR RECORDS
INDICATE YOU
SCANNED YOUR
FINGER ON A
CERIDIAN-BRANDED
TIMECLOCK IN THE
STATE OF ILLINOIS AND
ARE ENTITLED TO A
PAYMENT FROM A
CLASS ACTION
SETTLEMENT.

LaBarre v. Ceridian HCM, Inc.
c/o Settlement Administrator
P.O. Box 0000
City, ST 00000-0000

First-Class
Mail
US Postage
Paid
Permit #__

|||||||||||||||||||||||
Postal Service: Please do not mark barcode

XXX—«ClaimID» «MailRec»

«First1» «Last1»
«C/O»
«Addr1» «Addr2»
«City», «St» «Zip» «Country»

By Order of the Court Dated: [date]

XXX
CLAIM FORM
THIS CLAIM FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED ONLINE OR POSTMARKED BY [CLAIMS DEADLINE] AND MUST
BE FULLY COMPLETED, BE SIGNED, AND MEET ALL CONDITIONS OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.
Instructions: Fill out each section of this form and sign where indicated. Once completed, detach this Claim Form from the
Notice and mail the Claim Form only to the Settlement Administrator. If you prefer to receive payment via Venmo, PayPal,
or Zelle (instead of a check), you must submit a Claim Form online on the Settlement Website at www.[tobedetermined].com.
If you submit this paper Claim Form by mail and it is approved, you will receive a check in the mail at the address you
provide below. Depending on the number of valid claims submitted, you may need to complete an IRS Form W-9 to satisfy
tax reporting obligations. You may complete the Form W-9 now on the Settlement Website now at
www.[tobedetermined].com; doing so now will ensure that you receive your full payment as soon as possible.
Name (First, M.I., Last): _______________________________

________

__________________________________

Street Address: ________________________________________________________________________
City: _______________________________________ State: ____ ____

Zip Code: ____ ____ ____ ____ ____

Email Address (optional): _________________________________________________________________
Contact Phone #: ( ___ ___ ___) ___ ___ ___ – ___ ___ ___ ___ (You may be contacted if further information is required.)
Class Member Verification: By submitting this Claim Form, I declare that the following information is true and correct:
I am an individual who scanned my finger on a Ceridian-branded timeclock in the State of Illinois between May 28, 2014 and
[date of Preliminary Approval Order].
Signature: _____________________________________________

Date: ___ ___/ ___ ___/ ___ ___

Print Name: ____________________________________________
The Settlement Administrator will review your Claim Form. If accepted, you will be mailed a check for a pro rata share
depending on the number of valid Claim Forms received. This process takes time, please be patient.
Questions, visit www.[tobedetermined].com or call [toll free number]

This notice is to inform you that a proposed settlement has been reached in a class action lawsuit between Ceridian HCM, Inc and certain
workers who scanned their finger on a Ceridian-branded timeclock in the State of Illinois The lawsuit claims that Ceridian violated an
Illinois law called the Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act when it collected individuals’ biometric data when they used timeclocks
provided by Ceridian, without complying with the law’s requirements Ceridian denies Plaintiff’s allegations, denies violation of any law
and denies all liability The Court has not decided who is right or wrong Please read this notice carefully Your legal rights are affected
whether you act, or don’t act
Who is included in the Settlement Class? Our records indicate that you are included in the Settlement Class The Settlement Class
includes all individuals who scanned their fingers in Illinois on a timeclock issued, leased or sold by Ceridian, and for whom any alleged
biometric data relating to that scan was shared with or stored by Ceridian, between May 28, 2014 and [Preliminary Approval Order date]
These systems are common among many employers of hourly workers Some exclusions apply, see www.[tobedetermined].com for
details
What can I get out of the settlement? If you’re eligible and the Court approves the settlement, you can file a claim to receive a cash
payment The payment amount is estimated to be approximately $[xxx], but could be more or less depending on the number of valid
claims submitted This amount is an equal share of the $3,493,074 fund that Ceridian agreed to create, after any Court-approved payment
of settlement expenses, attorneys’ fees, and any incentive award
How do I get my payment? Just complete and return the attached Claim Form by mail, or you can visit the Settlement Website,
www [tobedetermined] com, and submit a Claim Form online The online Claim Form allows you to choose to receive your payment via
Venmo, PayPal, or Zelle (instead of a check) All Claim Forms must be postmarked or submitted online by [Claims Deadline].
What are my Options? You can do nothing, comment on or object to any of the settlement terms, or exclude yourself from the settlement
If you do nothing, you won’t get a payment, and you won’t be able to sue Ceridian or certain related companies and individuals in a future
lawsuit about the claims addressed in the settlement If you exclude yourself, you won’t get a payment but you’ll keep your right to sue
Ceridian on the issues the settlement concerns You must contact the Settlement Administrator by mail or e-mail to exclude yourself from
the Settlement You can also object to the settlement if you disagree with any of its terms by writing to the Court See
www [tobedetermined] com for instructions on how to object All Requests for Exclusion and Objections must be received by
[Objection/Exclusion Deadline].
Do I have a lawyer? Yes The Court has appointed lawyers from the law firms Edelson PC and Fish Potter Bolaños, P C as “Class
Counsel ” They represent you and other Settlement Class Members The lawyers will request to be paid from the total amount that
Ceridian agreed to pay to the class members You can hire your own lawyer, but you’ll need to pay that lawyer’s legal fees if you do The
Court has also chosen Rachel LaBarre—a class member like you—to represent the Settlement Class
When will the Court approve the settlement? The Court will hold a Final Approval Hearing on [date] at [time] before the Honorable
Raymond W Mitchell in Room 2601 at the Richard J Daley Center, 50 West Washington Street, Chicago, Illinois 60602, or via remote
means as instructed by the Court Instructions for participating remotely will be posted on the Settlement Website During the hearing,
the Court will hear objections that were timely submitted in writing, determine if the settlement is fair, and consider Class Counsel’s
request for fees and expenses of up to 35% of the Settlement Fund and an incentive award of $5,000 for the class representative The
request will be posted on the Settlement Website by [two weeks prior to Objection/Exclusion Deadline]

NO POSTAGE
NECESSARY
IF MAILED IN
THE UNITED
STATES

LaBarre v. Ceridian Settlement
c/o Settlement Administrator
PO Box 0000
City, ST 00000-0000

XXX

Exhibit C

From: tobedetermined@domain.com
To: JohnDoeClassMember@domain.com
Re: Legal Notice of Proposed Class Action Settlement
NOTICE OF PROPOSED CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT
LaBarre v. Ceridian HCM, Inc., Case No. 19-CH-06489
(Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois)
OUR RECORDS INDICATE YOU SCANNED YOUR FINGER ON A CERIDIANBRANDED TIMECLOCK IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS AND ARE ENTITLED TO A
PAYMENT FROM A CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT.
This is an official court notice. You are not being sued. This is not an ad for a lawyer.
For more information, visit www.[tobedetermined].com.
This notice is to inform you that a proposed settlement has been reached in a class action lawsuit
between Ceridian HCM, Inc. and certain workers who scanned their finger on a Ceridian-branded
timeclock in the State of Illinois. The lawsuit claims that Ceridian violated an Illinois law called the
Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act when it collected individuals’ biometric data when they
used timeclocks provided by Ceridian, without complying with the law’s requirements. Ceridian
denies Plaintiff’s allegations, denies violation of any law and denies all liability. The Court has not
decided who is right or wrong. Please read this notice carefully. Your legal rights are affected whether
you act, or don’t act.
Who is included in the Settlement Class? Our records indicate that you are included in the
Settlement Class. The Settlement Class includes all individuals who scanned their fingers in Illinois
on a timeclock issued, leased or sold by Ceridian, and for whom any alleged biometric data relating
to that scan was shared with or stored by Ceridian, between May 28, 2014 and [Preliminary
Approval Order date]. Some exclusions apply, see www.[tobedetermined].com for details.
What can I get out of the settlement? If you’re eligible and the Court approves the settlement, you
can file a claim to receive a cash payment. The payment amount is estimated to be approximately
$[xxx], but could be more or less depending on the number of valid claims submitted. This amount is
a equal share of the $3,493,074 settlement fund that Ceridian agreed to create after any Court-approved
payment of notice and administration costs, attorneys’ fees, and any incentive award have been paid.
How do I get my payment? Just complete and verify the short and simple Claim Form online here
[Claim Form Link], or if you also received a notice of this Settlement in the mail, you can fill out the
paper Claim Form attached to that notice and submit it by mail. By submitting online you can choose
to receive your payment via Venmo, PayPal, Zelle, or a check. All Claim Forms must be submitted
online or postmarked by [Claims Deadline].
What are my Options? You can do nothing, comment on or object to any of the settlement terms, or
exclude yourself from the settlement. If you do nothing, you won’t get a payment, and you won’t be
able to sue Ceridian or certain related companies and individuals in a future lawsuit about the claims

addressed in the settlement. If you exclude yourself, you won’t get a payment but you’ll keep your
right to sue Ceridian on the issues the settlement concerns. You must contact the Settlement
Administrator by mail or e-mail ([email address]) to exclude yourself from the Settlement. You can
also object to the settlement if you disagree with any of its terms by writing to the Court. See
www.[tobedetermined].com for instructions on how to object. All Requests for Exclusion and
Objections must be received by [Objection/Exclusion Deadline].
Do I have a lawyer? Yes. The Court has appointed lawyers from the law firms Edelson PC and Fish
Potter Bolaños, P.C. as “Class Counsel.” They represent you and other Settlement Class Members.
The lawyers will request to be paid from the total amount that Ceridian agreed to pay to the class
members. You can hire your own lawyer, but you’ll need to pay that lawyer’s legal fees if you do. The
Court has also chosen Rachel LaBarre—a class member like you—to represent the Settlement Class.
When will the Court approve the settlement? The Court will hold a Final Approval Hearing on
[date] at [time] before the Honorable Raymond W. Mitchell in Room 2601 at the Richard J. Daley
Center, 50 West Washington Street, Chicago, Illinois 60602, or via remote means as instructed by
the Court. Instructions for participating remotely will be posted on the Settlement Website. You
must submit an objection in writing by [Objection/Exclusion Deadline] in order to be heard by the
Court at the Final Approval Hearing. During the hearing, the Court will hear objections, determine
if the settlement is fair, and consider Class Counsel’s request for fees and expenses of up to 35% of
the Settlement Fund and an incentive award of $5,000 for the class representative. The request will
be posted on the Settlement Website by [two weeks prior to Objection/Exclusion Deadline].

Exhibit D

CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
LaBarre v. Ceridian HCM., Inc., Case No. 19-CH-06489
IF YOU SCANNED YOUR FINGER ON A CERIDIAN-BRANDED TIMECLOCK
WHILE IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS BETWEEN MAY 28, 2014 AND [PRELIMINARY
APPROVAL DATE], YOU MAY BE ENTITLED TO CLAIM A PAYMENT FROM A
CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT.
This is an official court notice. You are not being sued. This is not an ad for a lawyer.
•

A Settlement has been reached in a class action lawsuit between Ceridian HCM, Inc.
(“Defendant” or “Ceridian”) and certain workers who scanned their finger on a Ceridianbranded timeclock in the State of Illinois. The lawsuit claims that Ceridian violated an Illinois
law called the Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act (“BIPA”) when it collected
individuals’ biometric data when they used a Ceridian-branded timeclock with a finger scanner
without complying with the law’s requirements. Ceridian denies Plaintiff’s allegations, denies
violation of any law and denies all liability. The Court has not decided who is right or wrong.
The Settlement has been preliminarily approved by a state court in Chicago, Illinois.

•

You may be included in the Settlement if you are an individual who scanned your finger in
Illinois on a timeclock issued, leased or sold by Ceridian, and for whom any alleged biometric
data relating to that scan was shared with or stored by Ceridian, between May 28, 2014 and
[Preliminary Approval Order date], subject to certain exclusions detailed below (see FAQ 5).
These systems are common among many employers of hourly workers. If you received a notice
of this Settlement in the mail or by e-mail, our records indicate that you are a Settlement Class
member and are included in the Settlement, and you may submit a Claim Form online or by
mail to receive a cash payment.

•

If the Court approves the Settlement, Class Members who submit valid Claim Forms will
receive an equal, or pro rata, share of a $3,493,074 Settlement Fund that Ceridian has agreed
to establish, after all notice and administration costs, incentive award, and attorneys’ fees have
been paid. Individual payments to Class Members who submit a valid Claim Form are
estimated to be $[xxx] to $[xxx], but could be more or less depending on the number of valid
claims submitted.

•

Unless otherwise specified, all capitalized terms used in this Notice are those used in the Class
Action Settlement Agreement, which can be found in the “Court Documents” section of the
settlement website at www.[tobedetermined].com.

•

Please read this notice carefully. Your legal rights are affected whether you act, or don’t act.

QUESTIONS? VISIT WWW.[TOBEDETERMINED].COM

PLEASE DO NOT CONTACT THE COURT, THE JUDGE, THE DEFENDANT OR THE
DEFENDANT’S LAWYERS WITH QUESTIONS ABOUT THE SETTLEMENT OR DISTRIBUTION OF
SETTLEMENT PAYMENTS.
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EXHIBIT 2

Bedford v. Lifespace Communities, Inc., No. 20-cv-04574,
dkt. 31 (N.D. Ill. May 12, 2021)

Shah, J.

$10,000.00

Bryant v. Loews Chicago Hotel, Inc., No. 19-cv-03195, dkt.
78 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 30, 2020)

Norgle, J.

$10,000.00

Davis v. Heartland Emp. Servs., LLC, No. 19-cv-00680,
dkt. 130 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 25, 2021)

Valderrama, J.

$10,000.00

Dixon v. Washington & Jane Smith Cmty.-Beverly, No. 17cv-8033, dkt. 103 (N.D. Ill. May 31, 2018)

Kennelly, J.

$10,000.00

EXHIBIT 3

Return Date: No return date scheduled
Hearing Date: No hearing scheduled
Courtroom Number: No hearing scheduled
Location: No hearing scheduled
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
RACHEL LABARRE, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
v.

FILED
9/22/2020 4:33 PM
DOROTHY BROWN
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2019CH06489
10538457

Case No.: 19 CH 6489
Judge Moshe Jacobius

CERIDIAN HCM, INC., a Delaware
corporation,
Defendant.
FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre (“LaBarre”) brings this First Amended Class Action Complaint
and Demand for Jury Trial against Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc. (“Ceridian”) to put a stop to
its unlawful collection, use, and storage of Plaintiff’s and the putative Class members’ sensitive
biometric data. Plaintiff, for her First Amended Class Action Complaint, alleges as follows upon
personal knowledge as to herself and her own acts and experiences and, as to all other matters,
upon information and belief.
NATURE OF THE ACTION
1.

Defendant Ceridian is a creator of a cloud-based time and attendance system

called Dayforce. It offers biometric time clocks that enable businesses to track their employees’
time by using a biometric finger scanner. Ceridian provides its biometric timekeeping system to
numerous employers across Illinois, including Plaintiff’s former employer, Standard Market.
2.

When employees first begin their jobs at companies that use Ceridian’s Dayforce

system, they are required to scan their fingerprint in its biometric time tracking system as a
means of authentication, instead of using only key fobs or other identification cards.
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3.

While there are tremendous benefits to using biometric time clocks in the

workplace, there are also serious risks. Unlike key fobs or identification cards—which can be
changed or replaced if stolen or compromised—fingerprints are unique, permanent biometric
identifiers associated with the employee. This exposes employees to serious and irreversible
privacy risks. For example, if a fingerprint database is hacked, breached, or otherwise exposed,
employees have no means by which to prevent identity theft and unauthorized tracking.
4.

Recognizing the need to protect its citizens from situations like these, Illinois

enacted the Biometric Information Privacy Act, 740 ILCS 14/1, et seq. (“BIPA”), specifically to
regulate companies that collect and store Illinois citizens’ biometrics, such as fingerprints.
5.

Despite this law, Ceridian disregards employees’ statutorily protected privacy

rights and unlawfully collects, stores, and uses their biometric data in violation of the BIPA.
Specifically, Ceridian has violated (and continues to violate) the BIPA because it did not:
•

Properly inform Plaintiff and the Class members in writing of the specific purpose
and length of time for which their fingerprints were being collected, stored, and
used, as required by the BIPA;

•

Provide a publicly available retention schedule and guidelines for permanently
destroying Plaintiff’s and the Class’s fingerprints, as required by the BIPA; nor

•

Receive a written release from Plaintiff or the members of the Class to collect,
capture, or otherwise obtain their fingerprints, as required by the BIPA.

6.

Accordingly, this Complaint seeks an order: (i) declaring that Defendant’s

conduct violates the BIPA; (ii) requiring Defendant to cease the unlawful activities discussed
herein; and (iii) awarding liquidated damages to Plaintiff and the proposed Class.
PARTIES
7.

Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre is a natural person and citizen of the State of Illinois.

8.

Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the
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laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business located at 3311 East Old
Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
9.

This Court has jurisdiction over Defendant pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-209 because

Defendant conducts business transactions in Illinois, maintains corporate offices in Illinois, and
has committed tortious acts in Illinois.
10.

Venue is proper in Cook County because Defendant transacts business in and

maintains offices in Cook County.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND
I.

The Biometric Information Privacy Act.
11.

In the early 2000’s, major national corporations started using Chicago and other

locations in Illinois to test “new [consumer] applications of biometric-facilitated financial
transactions, including finger-scan technologies at grocery stores, gas stations, and school
cafeterias.” 740 ILCS 14/5(b). Given its relative infancy, an overwhelming portion of the public
became weary of this then-growing, yet unregulated, technology. See 740 ILCS 14/5.
12.

In late 2007, a biometrics company called Pay By Touch—which provided major

retailers throughout the State of Illinois with fingerprint scanners to facilitate consumer
transactions—filed for bankruptcy. That bankruptcy was alarming to the Illinois Legislature
because suddenly there was a serious risk that millions of fingerprint records—which, are unique
biometric identifiers, can be linked to people’s sensitive financial and personal data—could now
be sold, distributed, or otherwise shared through the bankruptcy proceedings without adequate
protections for Illinois citizens. The bankruptcy also highlighted the fact that most consumers
who had used that company’s biometric scanners were completely unaware that the scanners
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were not actually transmitting data to the retailer who deployed the scanner, but rather to the
now-bankrupt company, and that their unique biometric identifiers could now be sold to
unknown third parties.
13.

Recognizing the “very serious need [for] protections for the citizens of Illinois

when it [came to their] biometric information,” Illinois enacted the BIPA in 2008. See Illinois
House Transcript, 2008 Reg. Sess. No. 276; 740 ILCS 14/5.
14.

The BIPA is an informed consent statute which achieves its goal by making it

unlawful for a company to, among other things, “collect, capture, purchase, receive through
trade, or otherwise obtain a person’s or a customer’s biometric identifiers or biometric
information, unless it first:
(1) informs the subject . . . in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric
information is being collected or stored;
(2) informs the subject . . . in writing of the specific purpose and length of term
for which a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected,
stored, and used; and
(3) receives a written release executed by the subject of the biometric identifier or
biometric information.
740 ILCS 14/15(b).
15.

The BIPA specifically applies to employees who work in the State of Illinois.

BIPA defines a “written release” specifically “in the context of employment [as] a release
executed by an employee as a condition of employment.” 740 ILCS 14/10.
16.

Biometric identifiers include retina and iris scans, voiceprints, scans of hand and

face geometry, and—most importantly here—fingerprint. See 740 ILCS 14/10. Biometric
information is separately defined to include any information based on an individual’s biometric
identifier that is used to identify an individual. See id.

4
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17.

The BIPA also establishes standards for how companies in possession of

biometric identifiers and biometric information must handle them. See 740 ILCS 14/15(c)–(d).
For instance, the BIPA requires companies to develop and comply with a written policy—made
available to the public—establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently
destroying biometric identifiers and biometric information when the initial purpose for collecting
such identifiers or information has been satisfied or within three years of the individual’s last
interaction with the company, whichever occurs first. 740 ILCS 14/15(a).
18.

Ultimately, the BIPA is simply an informed consent statute. Its narrowly tailored

provisions place no absolute bar on the collection, sending, transmitting or communicating of
biometric data. For example, the BIPA does not limit what kinds of biometric data may be
collected, sent, transmitted, or stored. Nor does the BIPA limit to whom biometric data may be
collected, sent, transmitted, or stored. The BIPA simply mandates that entities wishing to engage
in that conduct must make proper disclosures and implement certain reasonable safeguards.
II.

Ceridian Violates the Biometric Information Privacy Act.
19.

By the time the BIPA passed through the Illinois Legislature in mid-2008, many

companies who had experimented with using biometric data as an authentication method stopped
doing so, at least for a time. That is because Pay By Touch’s bankruptcy, described in Section I
above, was widely publicized and brought attention to consumers’ discomfort with the use of
their biometric data.
20.

Unfortunately, Ceridian failed to address these concerns. Ceridian continues to

collect, store, and use employees’ biometric data in violation of the BIPA.
21.

Specifically, Ceridian sells time clocks with a biometric fingerprint scanner to

employers. When employees first begin work at a company that uses a Ceridian biometric time
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clock system, they are required to have their fingerprints scanned in order to enroll them in
Ceridian’s fingerprint database.
22.

When an employee scans their fingerprint on a Ceridian time clock, the time clock

automatically sends the employee’s biometric fingerprint data to Ceridian’s servers to be
collected and stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database.
23.

Companies use Ceridian’s biometric time clocks as an employee time tracking

system that requires employees to use their fingerprint as a means of authentication. Unlike a
traditional time clock, employees have to use their fingerprint to “punch” in to or out of work.
24.

Ceridian failed to inform employees of the complete purposes for which it collects

their sensitive biometric data or to whom the data is disclosed, if at all. Indeed, employees are
unaware that by providing their biometric identifiers to their employers they are actually
transmitting their sensitive biometric data to Ceridian.
25.

Up until after this lawsuit was filed, Ceridian similarly failed to establish a

written, publicly available policy identifying its retention schedule for biometric data, and
guidelines for permanently destroying employees’ fingerprints when the initial purpose for
collecting or obtaining their fingerprints is no longer relevant, as required by the BIPA. Setting
aside that Ceridian has collected, stored, and used employees’ biometric data for years without
such a policy, the publishing of the recent policy on its website is also problematic. As described
above, most employees don’t know they are interacting with Ceridian when they have their
biometrics scanned by their employer’s Ceridian devices, let alone providing Ceridian their
biometric data. As such, they’d have no reason to affirmatively seek out Ceridian’s website and
search for its biometric data policies. Accordingly, an employee who leaves their job does so
without any knowledge of Ceridian possessing their biometric identifiers or when their biometric
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identifiers will be removed from Ceridian’s databases—or if they ever will be.
26.

The Pay By Touch bankruptcy that catalyzed the passage of the BIPA highlights

why conduct such as Ceridian’s—where the employees are aware that they are providing
biometric identifiers to their employer but are not aware of the full extent of the reasons they are
doing so, nor are informed who else is receiving this data—is so dangerous. That bankruptcy
spurred Illinois citizens and legislators to realize a critical point: it is crucial for people to
understand when providing biometric data who exactly is collecting it, who it will be transmitted
to, for what purposes, and for how long. But Ceridian disregards these obligations, and instead
unlawfully collects, stores, and uses employees’ biometric identifiers and information without
proper consent.
27.

Ultimately, Ceridian disregards employees’ statutorily protected privacy rights by

violating the BIPA.
FACTS SPECIFIC TO PLAINTIFF LABARRE
28.

Plaintiff LaBarre worked at a Standard Market grocery store between April 2018

and March 2019.
29.

Ceridian provided Standard Market its Ceridian Dayforce biometric time clock

system to track its employees’ time.
30.

Standard Market required LaBarre to scan her fingerprint into Ceridian’s

Dayforce biometric time clock system so that it could use it as an authentication method to track
her time.
31.

When LaBarre scanned her fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce biometric time

clock system, the time clock system automatically sent her biometric identifier and/or biometric
information to Ceridian’s server to be collected and stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database.
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32.

Each time LaBarre began and ended her workday she was required to scan her

fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce time clock system.
33.

Neither Ceridian nor Standard Market informed LaBarre of the specific limited

purposes or length of time for which it collected, stored, or used her fingerprint.
34.

Similarly, Ceridian never informed LaBarre of any biometric data retention policy

it developed, nor whether it will ever permanently delete her fingerprint.
35.

LaBarre never signed a written release allowing Ceridian to collect or store her

fingerprint.
36.

LaBarre has continuously and repeatedly been exposed to the risks and harmful

conditions created by Ceridian’s violations of the BIPA alleged herein.
37.

Plaintiff seeks liquidated damages under BIPA as compensation for the injuries

Ceridian has caused.
CLASS ALLEGATIONS
38.

Class Definition: Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre brings this action pursuant to 735

ILCS 5/2-801 on behalf of herself and a Class of similarly situated individuals, defined as
follows:
All residents of the State of Illinois who had their biometric identifiers, including
fingerprints, collected, captured, received, otherwise obtained, or disclosed by Ceridian
HCM, Inc. while residing in Illinois.
The following people are excluded from the Class: (1) any Judge or Magistrate presiding over
this action and members of their families; (2) Defendant, Defendant’s subsidiaries, parents,
successors, predecessors, and any entity in which the Defendant or its parents have a controlling
interest and its current or former officers and directors; (3) persons who properly execute and file
a timely request for exclusion from the Class; (4) persons whose claims in this matter have been
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finally adjudicated on the merits or otherwise released; (5) Plaintiff’s counsel and Defendant’s
counsel; and (6) the legal representatives, successors, and assigns of any such excluded persons.
39.

Numerosity: The exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this

time, but it is clear that individual joinder is impracticable. Defendant has collected, captured,
received, or otherwise obtained biometric identifiers or biometric information from at least
thousands of employees who fall into the definition of the Class. Ultimately, the Class members
will be easily identified through Defendant’s records.
40.

Commonality and Predominance: There are many questions of law and fact

common to the claims of Plaintiff and the Class, and those questions predominate over any
questions that may affect individual members of the Class. Common questions for the Class
include, but are not necessarily limited to the following:
a) whether Defendant collected, captured, or otherwise obtained Plaintiff’s and
the Class’s biometric identifiers or biometric information;
b) whether Defendant properly informed Plaintiff and the Class of its purposes
for collecting, using, and storing their biometric identifiers or biometric
information;
c) whether Defendant obtained a written release (as defined in 740 ILCS 14/10)
to collect, use, and store Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers or
biometric information;
d) whether Defendant has sold, leased, traded, or otherwise profited from
Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers or biometric information;
e) whether Defendant developed a written policy, made available to the public,
establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying
biometric identifiers and biometric information when the initial purpose for
collecting or obtaining such identifiers or information has been satisfied or
within three years of their last interaction, whichever occurs first;
f) whether Defendant complied with any such written policy (if one existed);
and
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g) whether Defendant used Plaintiff’s and the Class’s fingerprint to identify
them.
41.

Adequate Representation: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and

protect the interests of the Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in complex
litigation and class actions. Plaintiff has no interests antagonistic to those of the Class, and
Defendant has no defenses unique to Plaintiff. Plaintiff and her counsel are committed to
vigorously prosecuting this action on behalf of the members of the Class, and have the financial
resources to do so. Neither Plaintiff nor her counsel have any interest adverse to those of the
other members of the Class.
42.

Appropriateness: This class action is appropriate for certification because class

proceedings are superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of
this controversy and joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable. The damages suffered
by the individual members of the Class are likely to have been small relative to the burden and
expense of individual prosecution of the complex litigation necessitated by Defendant’s
wrongful conduct. Thus, it would be virtually impossible for the individual members of the Class
to obtain effective relief from Defendant’s misconduct. Even if members of the Class could
sustain such individual litigation, it would not be preferable to a class action because individual
litigation would increase the delay and expense to all parties due to the complex legal and factual
controversies presented in their Complaint. By contrast, a class action presents far fewer
management difficulties and provides the benefits of single adjudication, economies of scale, and
comprehensive supervision by a single court. Economies of time, effort, and expense will be
fostered and uniformity of decisions will be ensured.
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CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of 740 ILCS 14/1, et seq.
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class)
43.

Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

44.

The BIPA requires companies to obtain informed written consent from employees

before acquiring their biometric data. Specifically, the BIPA makes it unlawful for any private
entity to “collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise obtain a person’s or a
customer’s biometric identifiers or biometric information, unless [the entity] first: (1) informs the
subject . . . in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected or
stored; (2) informs the subject . . . in writing of the specific purpose and length of term for which
a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected, stored, and used; and (3)
receives a written release executed by the subject of the biometric identifier or biometric
information….” 740 ILCS 14/15(b) (emphasis added).
45.

The BIPA also mandates that companies in possession of biometric data establish

and maintain a satisfactory biometric data retention (and—importantly—deletion) policy.
Specifically, those companies must: (i) make publicly available a written policy establishing a
retention schedule and guidelines for permanent deletion of biometric data (i.e., when the
employment relationship ends); and (ii) actually adhere to that retention schedule and actually
delete the biometric information. See 740 ILCS 14/15(a).
46.

Unfortunately, Ceridian failed to comply with these BIPA mandates.

47.

Ceridian is corporation and thus qualifies as a “private entity” under the BIPA.

See 740 ILCS 14/10.
48.

Plaintiff and the Class are individuals who had their “biometric identifiers”

collected by Ceridian (in the form of their fingerprint), as explained in detail in Section II. See
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740 ILCS 14/10.
49.

Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers or information based on those

biometric identifiers were used to identify them, constituting “biometric information” as defined
by the BIPA. See 740 ILCS 14/10.
50.

Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(b)(3) by failing to obtain written releases from

Plaintiff and the Class before it collected, used, and stored their biometric identifiers and
biometric information.
51.

Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(b)(1) by failing to inform Plaintiff and the

Class in writing that their biometric identifiers and biometric information were being collected
and stored.
52.

Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(b)(2) by failing to inform Plaintiff and the

Class in writing of the specific purpose and length of term for which their biometric identifiers or
biometric information was being collected, stored, and used.
53.

Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(a) by failing to publicly provide a retention

schedule or guideline for permanently destroying employees’ biometric identifiers and biometric
information.
54.

By collecting, storing, and using Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers

and biometric information as described herein, Ceridian violated Plaintiff’s and the Class’s rights
to privacy in their biometric identifiers or biometric information as set forth in the BIPA, 740
ILCS 14/1, et seq.
55.

On behalf of herself and the Class, Plaintiff seeks: (1) injunctive and equitable

relief as is necessary to protect the interests of Plaintiff and the Class by requiring Defendant to
comply with the BIPA’s requirements for the collection, storage, and use of biometric identifiers
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and biometric information as described herein; (2) liquidated damages of $5,000 for each willful
and/or reckless violation of the BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(2) or, in the alternative,
liquidated damages of $1,000 for each negligent violation of the BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS
14/20(1); and (3) reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(3).
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre, on behalf of herself and the Class, respectfully
requests that the Court enter an Order:
A.

Certifying this case as a class action on behalf of the Class defined above,

appointing Plaintiff LaBarre as a representative of the Class, and appointing her counsel as Class
Counsel;
B.

Declaring that Defendant’s actions, as set out above, violate the BIPA;

C.

Awarding statutory damages of $5,000 for each willful and/or reckless violation

of BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(2) or, in the alternative, statutory damages of $1,000 for
each negligent violation of BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(1);
D.

Awarding injunctive and other equitable relief as is necessary to protect the

interests of the Class, including an Order requiring Defendant to collect, store, and use biometric
identifiers or biometric information in compliance with the BIPA;
E.

Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable litigation expenses and

attorneys’ fees;
F.

Awarding Plaintiff and the Class pre- and post-judgment interest, to the extent

allowable; and
G.

Awarding such other and further relief as equity and justice may require.
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JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff demands a trial by jury for all issues so triable.
Respectfully submitted,
RACHEL LABARRE, individually and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,
Dated: September 22, 2020

By: /s/ J. Eli Wade-Scott
One of Plaintiff’s Attorneys
Benjamin H. Richman
brichman@edelson.com
J. Eli Wade-Scott
ewadescott@edelson.com
Schuyler Ufkes
sufkes@edelson.com
EDELSON PC
350 North LaSalle Street, 14th Floor
Chicago, Illinois 60654
Tel: 312.589.6370
Fax: 312.589.6378
Firm ID: 62075
David Fish
dfish@fishlawfirm.com
John Kunze
kunze@fishlawfirm.com
THE FISH LAW FIRM, P.C.
200 East Fifth Avenue, Suite 123
Naperville, Illinois 60563
Tel: 630.355.7590
Fax: 630.778.0400
Firm ID: 44086
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, J. Eli Wade-Scott, an attorney, hereby certify that on September 22, 2020, I caused the
above and foregoing First Amended Class Action Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial to be
served by transmitting such document via the Court’s electronic filing system to all counsel of
record.
/s/ J. Eli Wade-Scott
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EXHIBIT 4

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
RACHEL LABARRE, individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
Case No. 19 CH 6489
v.
Judge Moshe Jacobius
CERIDIAN HCM, INC.,
Defendant.
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
This matter comes before the Court for ruling on Defendant’s Section 2-619.1 Motion to
Dismiss or to Strike Class Action Allegations.
I.

BACKGROUND
Defendant, Ceridian HCM, Inc. (“Ceridian”), is a creator of a cloud-based time and

attendance system called Dayforce.

(Class Action Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial

(“Complaint”), ¶¶ 1, 21.) It offers biometric time clocks enabling businesses to track their
employees’ time by using a biometric finger scanner. (Id.) Unlike traditional time clocks, these
biometric time clocks require employees use their fingerprint to “punch” in or out of work. (Id.
¶ 22.) When employees first begin to work at a company using Ceridian’s Dayforce system, they
are required to have their fingerprints scanned in order to enroll them in the fingerprint database.
(Id. ¶ 21.)
Plaintiff worked at a Standard Market grocery store between April 2018 and March 2019.
(Id. ¶ 27.) Standard Market required Plaintiff to scan her fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce
biometric time clock system so it could be used as an authentication method to track her time.
(Id. ¶ 28.) Ceridian purportedly collected and stored Plaintiff’s biometric identifier into its own

database. (Id.) Each time Plaintiff began and ended her workday, she was required to scan her
fingerprint into the Dayforce time clock system. (Id. ¶ 29.) Neither Ceridian nor Standard
Market informed Plaintiff of the specific limited purpose or length of time for which it or they
collected, stored, or used her fingerprint. (Id. ¶ 30.) Similarly, Ceridian never informed Plaintiff
of any biometric data retention policy it developed, nor whether it will ever permanently delete
her fingerprint. (Id. ¶ 31.) Plaintiff never signed a written release allowing Ceridian to collect or
store her fingerprint. (Id. ¶ 32.)
Plaintiff filed her Class Action Complaint on May 28, 2019. In the Complaint, Plaintiff
claims Ceridian violated the following sections of BIPA:
•

Section 15(a), by failing to publicly provide a retention schedule or guideline for
permanently destroying employees’ biometric identifiers and biometric information;

•

Section 15(b)(1), by failing to inform Plaintiff and the Class in writing that their
biometric identifiers and biometric information were being collected and stored;

•

Section 15(b)(2), by failing to inform Plaintiff and the Class in writing of the specific
purpose and length of term for which their biometric identifiers or biometric information
was being collected, stored, and used; and

•

Section 15(b)(3), by failing to obtain written releases from Plaintiff and the Class before
it collected, used, and stored their biometric identifiers and biometric information.

(Id. ¶¶ 46–50.)
With respect to the class allegations, Plaintiff defines the Class as:
All residents of the State of Illinois who had their biometric identifiers, including
fingerprints, collected, captured, received, otherwise obtained, or disclosed by
Ceridian HCM, Inc. while residing in Illinois.
(Id. ¶ 35.) Plaintiff alleges while the exact number of Class Members is unknown at this time, it
is clear individual joinder is impracticable. (Id. ¶ 36.)
On behalf of herself and the Class, Plaintiff seeks a Court Order: (1) certifying this case
as a class action on behalf of the Class identified above, appointing Plaintiff LaBarre as a
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representative of the Class, and appointing her counsel as Class Counsel; (2) declaring
Defendant’s actions as set forth in the Complaint violate BIPA; (3) awarding statutory damages
of $5,000 for each willful and/or reckless violation of BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(2) or, in
the alternative, statutory damages of $1,000 for each negligent violation of BIPA pursuant to 740
ILCS 14/20(1); (4) awarding injunctive and other equitable relief as is necessary to protect the
interests of the Class, including an Order requiring Defendant to collect, store, and use biometric
identifiers or biometric information in compliance with BIPA; (5) awarding Plaintiff and the
Class their reasonable litigation expenses and attorney fees; (6) awarding Plaintiff and the Class
pre- and post-judgment interest to the extent allowable; and (7) awarding such other and further
relief as equity and justice may require.
II.

LEGAL STANDARD
When bringing a combined motion under Section 2-619.1 of the Illinois Code of Civil

Procedure (the “Code”), parties are still required to adhere to the procedural distinctions between
Section 2-615 and Section 2-619. Reynolds v. Jimmy John’s Enterprises, 2013 IL App (4th)
120139, ¶ 20.

Section 2-615 allows a defendant to challenge the legal sufficiency of a

complaint. Id. ¶ 25. A motion to dismiss under Section 2-615 does not raise affirmative
defenses; rather, it only alleges defects on the face of the complaint. Turner v. Memorial
Medical Center, 233 Ill. 2d 494, 499 (2009). The question presented by such a motion is
whether the well-pleaded facts, and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, when
taken as true and in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, sufficiently state a cause of action
upon which relief can be granted. Marshall v. Burger King Corp., 222 Ill. 2d 422, 429 (2006).
Thus, a cause of action should not be dismissed on the pleadings unless it is clearly apparent no
set of facts can be proven that would entitle the plaintiff to recover. Id. “Where unsupported by
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allegations of fact, legal and factual conclusions may be disregarded.” Kagan v. Waldheim
Cemetery Co., 2016 IL App (1st) 131274, ¶ 29.
A Section 2-619 motion affords a “means of obtaining . . . a summary disposition of
issues of law or of easily proved issues of fact.” Smith v. Waukegan Park District, 231 Ill. 2d
111, 120 (2008). Under this section, a motion to dismiss admits the legal sufficiency of the
complaint, but it raises an “affirmative matter” which acts to defeat the action. Reynolds, 2013
IL App (4th) 120139, ¶ 30; Smith, 231 Ill. 2d at 120–21. In ruling on a Section 2-619 motion,
the court must interpret “all pleadings and supporting documents in the light most favorable to
the nonmoving party.” Reynolds, 2013 IL App (4th) 1230139, ¶ 31; Borowiec v. Gateway 2000,
Inc., 209 Ill. 2d 376, 383 (2004). If the grounds for dismissal or the elements of the defense do
not appear on the face of the complaint, the party seeking dismissal must file an affidavit in
support of the motion. Reynolds, 2013 IL App (4th) 1230139, ¶ 37; see also Jordan v. Knafel,
355 Ill. App. 3d 534, 544 (1st Dist. 2005). On a Section 2-619.1 motion, a court should entertain
the Section 2-615 motion first, and then, only after a legally sufficient cause of action has been
found, entertain the Section 2-619 motion with affidavits filed in support. Johannesen v. Eddins,
2011 IL App (2d) 110108, ¶ 29.
III.

DISCUSSION
In 2008, Illinois enacted the Biometric Information Privacy Act, 740 ILCS 14/1 et seq.

(“BIPA” or the “Act”), to help regulate “the collection, use, safeguarding, handling, storage,
retention, and destruction of biometric identifiers and information.” Id. § 5(g). “Biometric
identifier” includes “a retina or iris scan, fingerprint, voiceprint, or scan of hand or face
geometry.” Id. § 10. “Biometric information” means “any information, regardless of how it is
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captured, converted, stored, or shared, based on an individual’s biometric identifier used to
identify an individual.” Id.
Section 15 of BIPA imposes on private entities, like Defendant, obligations regarding the
collection, retention, disclosure, and destruction of biometric identifiers and biometric
information, including (i) obtaining consent from individuals if the company intends to collect,
store, or disclose their personal biometric identifiers; (ii) inform the individuals in writing of the
specific purpose and length of term for which a biometric identifier or biometric information is
being collected, stored, and used; (iii) destroying biometric identifiers in a timely manner; and
(iv) securely storing biometric identifiers. Id. § 15. The Act provides a private right of action
permitting a prevailing party to recover damages of $1,000 (or actual damages if greater) for
negligent violation of the Act and $5,000 (or actual damages if greater) for intentional or reckless
violations, attorney fees, costs, and expenses, and injunctive relief, if appropriate. Id. § 20.
A.

Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Section 5/2-615

Defendant first argues Plaintiff’s Complaint must be dismissed because it fails to allege
sufficient facts to state a valid cause of action under BIPA. Plaintiff alleges an action based on
allegations Defendant violated Sections (15)(a) and (b); however, Defendant argues Plaintiff fails
to properly allege Defendant did not develop a policy as required by Section 15(a), or any such
policy was not made available to the public. Defendant also argues Plaintiff fails to allege the
notice and consent obligations under Section 15(b) are applicable to Defendant.
1.

Violation of 740 ILCS 14/15(a)

Plaintiff alleges a breach of Section 15(a), which requires private entities in possession of
biometric information to:
develop a written policy, made available to the public, establishing a retention
schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying biometric identifiers and
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biometric information when the initial purpose for collecting or obtaining such
identifiers or information has been satisfied or within 3 years of the individual’s
last interaction with the private entity, whichever occurs first. Absent a valid
warrant or subpoena issued by a court of competent jurisdiction, a private entity in
possession of biometric identifiers or biometric information must comply with its
established retention schedule and destruction guidelines.
740 ILCS 14/15(a).
In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges Ceridian violated Section 15(a) “by failing to publicly
provide a retention schedule or guideline for permanently destroying employees’ biometric
identifiers and biometric information.” (Complaint, ¶ 50.) Ceridian argues Plaintiff fails to
properly allege a violation of Section 15(a) because she only alleges Ceridian failed to provide
her with a copy of its retention policy and never informed her of such a policy, and BIPA has no
such requirement. Rather, BIPA requires Ceridian to develop a policy and make it available to
the public. 740 ILCS 14/15(a); see also Bryant v. Compass Group USA, Inc., 958 F.3d 617, 626
(7th Cir. 2020) (“[T]he duty to disclose under section 15(a) is owed to the public generally, not
to particular persons whose biometric information the entity collects.”); Figueroa v. Kronos Inc.,
No. 19 C 1306, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131093, at *9 (N.D. Ill. July 24, 2020) (“Section 15(a)
does not obligate Kronos to inform specific individuals like Plaintiffs of its policy.”). While
Plaintiff argues in her Response what her Complaint really alleges “is that, as a factual matter,
Ceridian did not make a retention policy available to the public at all,” that is simply not the
case. Plaintiff’s Complaint does not contain any allegation Ceridian does not have or did not
have a policy available to the public. Thus, Plaintiff fails to state a cause of action for a violation
of Section 15(a). Ceridian’s Motion to Dismiss, as to the portion of Count I asserting a violation
of Section 15(a) of BIPA, is granted. Plaintiff’s claim for a violation of Section 15(a) is
dismissed without prejudice.
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2.

Violation of 740 ILCS 14/15(b)

Ceridian next argues Plaintiff fails to state a claim for a violation of Section 15(b)
because the plain language of BIPA indicates Section 15(b) does not apply to entities such as
Ceridian, unless they are directly obtaining the information from an individual. (MTD, p. 6.)
Section 15(b) of BIPA provides:
No private entity may collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or
otherwise obtain a person’s or customer’s biometric identifier or biometric
information, unless it first:
(1) informs the subject . . . in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric
information is being collected or stored;
(2) informs the subject . . . in writing of the specific purpose and length of
term for which a biometric identifier or biometric information is being
collected, stored, and used; and
(3) receives a written release executed by the subject of the biometric
identifier or biometric information . . . .
740 ILCS 14/15(b). Significantly, unlike Sections 15(a), (c), (d), and (e) of BIPA—all of which
apply to entities “in possession of” biometric data—Section 15(b) applies to private entities if
they “collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise obtain” biometric data. 740
ILCS 14/15(a)-(e).
Here, Plaintiff alleges Ceridian sells the time clocks with biometric fingerprint scanners
to employers and, when employees begin working at those companies, they must have their
fingerprints scanned “in order to enroll them in its fingerprint database.”1 (Complaint, ¶ 21.)
Plaintiff further alleges Standard Market required Plaintiff to scan her fingerprint into Ceridian’s
Dayforce biometric time clock system, and Ceridian “subsequently collected and stored
[Plaintiff’s] biometric identifier into its own database.” (Id. ¶ 28.) Ceridian purportedly did not
1

It is unclear to whom the database referred to here belongs – is it Standard Market’s database? Or is it
Ceridian’s database?
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inform Plaintiff of the specific limited purposes or length of time for which it collected, stored,
or used her fingerprint, and Plaintiff never signed a written release allowing Ceridian to collect
or store her fingerprint. (Id. ¶¶ 30, 32.)
Ceridian contends it does not “affirmatively” seek out and gather biometric data from
employees as Plaintiff contends; rather “it is the employer who chooses which timekeeping
device to use, obtains the information from its own employees, and then uses the services of
Ceridian to process and store that data for purposes of maintaining employee time records,
payroll and related taxes.” (MTD Reply, p. 5.) In other words, Ceridian argues the legislature’s
use of different language in Section 15(b)—collection instead of possession—indicates
Section 15(b) is intended to apply only to private entities actively acquiring biometric data from
individuals, rather than entities merely passively storing data collected, captured, or obtained by
another entity. Plaintiff, for her part, appears to concede the statute requires something more
than mere possession of biometric data—Plaintiff points to her allegation that “Ceridian
subsequently collected and stored LaBarre’s biometric identifier into its own database,” and
argues, “[t]hat’s active behavior, not passive.” (MTD Response, p. 6.)
In Heard v. Becton, Dickinson & Co., -- F. Supp. 3d --, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 31249, at
*13 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 24, 2020), the federal district court concluded that for Section 15(b)’s
requirements to apply, “an entity must, at a minimum, take an active step to ‘collect, capture,
purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise obtain’” biometric data.” Heard concluded the
plaintiff’s allegation an outside vendor “systematically and automatically collected” his
biometric data in connection with his employment did not qualify as the “active” collection
required for Section 15(b) liability. The plaintiff repeatedly alleged the defendant “collected” his
biometric data “without alleging how, when, or any other factual detail.” Id. at *12. Notably,
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however, the plaintiff in Heard did not even allege the defendant collected biometric information
through its customer’s use of the time clock system. Id. at *15.
The allegations in Heard are similar to those in Namuwonge, where the federal district
court dismissed the plaintiff’s Section 15(b) claims. Namuwonge v. Kronos, Inc., 418 F. Supp.
3d 279, 286 (N.D. Ill. 2019). There, the plaintiff alleged her employer (Brookdale) and the
supplier of Brookdale’s fingerprint scanning equipment (Kronos) each “systematically and
automatically collected, used, stored, and disseminated” her biometric information. Id. But “the
more precise allegation” in the complaint “ma[de] clear that Brookdale collected the fingerprints
using a system that Kronos supplied to Brookdale.” Id. The court held that “[t]ogether, these
allegations do not plausibly allege that Kronos collected, captured, or otherwise obtained [the
plaintiff’s] biometric information.” Id. Similarly, in Bernal, the court dismissed the plaintiff’s
Section 15(b) claim against a provider of biometric scanning technology because the plaintiff
“failed to allege facts sufficient . . . for the Court to properly assess Defendant’s actual
involvement, relative to the biometric scanning technology, beyond the fact that Defendant
supplied [the plaintiff’s employer] with the technology. Bernal v. ADP, LLC, No. 2017-CH12364, 2019 Ill. Cir. LEXIS 1025, at *4 (Cir. Ct. of Cook Cty. Aug. 23, 2019).
But even if Ceridian did not “actively collect” Plaintiff’s biometric data, Section 15(b)
governs not only entities “collecting” biometric data, but also those that “capture, purchase,
receive through trade, or otherwise obtain” such data. 740 ILCS 14/15(b) (emphasis added).
“Obtain” means “[t]o bring into one’s own possession; to procure, esp[ecially] through effort.”
Black’s Law Dictionary 1247 (10th ed. 2014); see also Merriam-Webster Dictionary,
http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/obtain (last visited Aug. 3, 2020) (“Obtain” means
“to gain or attain usually by planned action or effort.”). While the dictionary definitions suggest
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there is usually effort involved in “obtaining” something, they do not state or imply there must be
effort involved. See People v. Teper, 2016 IL App (2d) 160063, ¶ 33 (“The definition further
states that the gaining or getting is ‘usually by effort,’ but it does not state or imply that it must
be by effort.”). In any event, though, the Court agrees with Plaintiff the salient point in this case
is that Ceridian purportedly got Plaintiff’s biometric data. See Figueroa v. Kronos Inc., No. 19
C 1306, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 64131, at *16–17 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 13, 2020) (“The complaint
alleges that Kronos ‘stored,’ ‘used,’ and ‘disclosed’ Plaintiffs’ biometric data . . . and to have
done those things Kronos necessarily first had to ‘obtain’ the data.”).
What Plaintiff fails to allege, however, is how Ceridian collected or otherwise obtained
her biometric data.

Plaintiff’s conclusory allegation Ceridian “collected and stored” her

biometric data is insufficient to survive a motion to dismiss. In essence, Plaintiff’s “allegations
merely parrot the BIPA’s statutory language; they do not provide any specific facts to ground
[Plaintiff’s] legal claims.” Heard, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 31249, at *13 (internal quotation
marks omitted). While Plaintiff’s current allegations may be sufficient under the federal noticepleading standard, (see Neals v. Par Technology Corp, 419 F. Supp. 3d 1088, 1091 (N.D. Ill.
2019) (“Plaintiff presents ‘a story that holds together’ by alleging that PAR collected such
information through its customer’s use of PAR’s system; nothing more is needed under federal
notice-pleading standards”)), more detailed allegations are required to satisfy Illinois’ factpleading standard in this case. Plaintiff should set out the methodology by which Ceridian
receives and maintains Plaintiff’s protected biometric information and set out any relevant
transactions and/or interactions between Ceridian and Standard Market that facilitate Ceridian
receiving the protected information.
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Given this conclusion, the Court need not address the parties’ arguments regarding
whether Section 15(b) requires a private entity other than an employer to secure an executed
written release. In the interest of judicial economy, however, the Court will undertake this task.
Ceridian appears to argue that because BIPA’s definition of “written release” in Section 10
expressly delegates notice and consent obligations to the employer when biometric data is
collected in the employment context, it cannot be held liable under Section 15(b). BIPA defines
“written release” as “informed written consent or, in the context of employment, a release
executed by an employee as a condition of employment.” 740 ILCS 14/10. However, “the fact
that the statute defines ‘written release’ in a more particularized way for employment situations
has no bearing on which entities face liability under the statute.” Neals v. Par Technology Corp.,
419 F. Supp. 3d 1088, 1092 (N.D. Ill. 2019). Simply put, BIPA obligates any private entity
collecting a person’s biometric information to comply with its requirements.
Ceridian asserts any construction of the statute requiring an entity other than the
individual’s employer to obtain “a release executed by the employee as a condition of
employment” would be nonsensical and yield absurd results.

The Court disagrees.

BIPA

“obligates any private entity that collects a person's biometric information to comply with its
requirements; the salient ‘relationship’ is created by the act of collection. There is nothing
absurd about that.” Neals v. Par Technology Corp., 419 F. Supp. 3d 1088, 1092 (N.D. Ill. 2019).
Nonetheless, for the reasons stated above, Ceridian’s Motion to Dismiss, as to the portion of
Count I asserting a violation of Section 15(b) of BIPA, is granted. Plaintiffs claim for a violation
of Section 15(b) is dismissed without prejudice.
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B.

Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to Section 2-619

Defendant also moves to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint pursuant to section 2-619, arguing
her claim is time-barred. BIPA does not expressly provide for a statute of limitations, and
Ceridian argues the one-year statute of limitations for invasion of privacy claims should apply to
BIPA because “the purpose of BIPA is to prevent inappropriate disclosure of individuals’
biometric information.” (MTD, p. 10.) Section 13-201 of the Code provides, “[a]ctions for
slander, libel or for publication of matter violating the right of privacy, shall be commenced
within one year next after the cause of action accrued.” 735 ILCS 5/13-201. Plaintiff argues the
proper statute of limitations is five years, as provided for in Section 13-205.
Statutes of limitation “discourage the presentation of stale claims and . . . encourage
diligence in the bringing of actions.” Sundance Homes, Inc. v. County of Du Page, 195 Ill. 2d
257, 265–66 (2001). They “represent society’s recognition that predictability and finality are
desirable, indeed indispensable, elements of the orderly administration of justice.” Id. at 266.
The Illinois Supreme Court has held “‘[t]he determination of the applicable statute of limitations
is governed by the type of injury at issue, irrespective of the pleader’s designation of the nature
of the action.’” Travelers Casualty & Surety Co. v. Bowman, 229 Ill. 2d 461, 466 (2008)
(quoting Armstrong v. Guigler, 174 Ill. 2d 281, 286 (1996)). It is the nature of the plaintiff’s
injury rather than the nature of the facts from which the claim arises which should determine
what limitations period should apply. Travelers, 229 Ill. 2d at 466. “To determine the true
character of a plaintiff’s cause of action . . . ‘[t]he focus of the inquiry is on the nature of the
liability and not on the nature of the relief sought.’” Id. at 467 (quoting Armstrong, 174 Ill. 2d at
291).
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Section 20 of BIPA grants any person aggrieved by a violation of BIPA a right of action.
740 ILCS 14/20. The true nature of any potential liability, then, stems from alleged violations of
the BIPA statute. The instant case is clearly an action for a violation of the BIPA statute and not
an action for slander, libel, or for the publication of matter violating the right to privacy.
Travelers, 229 Ill. 2d at 466; 735 ILCS 5/13-201. Even assuming, arguendo, Section 20 of
BIPA created an action for violating a right of privacy in one’s biometric data, the plain and
unambiguous language of Section 13-201 makes clear it applies to actions for publication of any
matter violating the right of privacy. 735 ILCS 5/13-201. Publication is not a necessary element
for a person to be aggrieved by a violation of BIPA. 740 ILCS 14/20. True, Sections 15(d) and
(e) require some form of disclosure or “publication” to establish a violation. But no such
disclosure or “publication” is required to state a claim under Sections 15(a) and (b). BIPA
protecting privacy rights does not bring it within the confines of the one-year statute of
limitations period that applies only when information is “published,” and Ceridian has not cited
any legal authority to justify the application of Section 13-201 to alleged violations of these other
sections of BIPA. Moreover, different statutes of limitations for different sections of BIPA
would lead to absurd results. Section 13-201 does not apply to Plaintiff’s BIPA claim.
Although not argued for by Ceridian, the Court also finds that the two-year statute of
limitations set forth in Section 13-202 does not apply to BIPA claims. Section 13-202 provides
“Actions for . . . a statutory penalty . . . shall be commenced within 2 years next after the cause
of action accrued . . . .” 735 ILCS 5/13-202. A statutory penalty is penal in nature if it
“(1) impose[s] automatic liability for a violation of its terms; (2) set[s] forth a predetermined
amount of damages; and (3) impose[s] damages without regard to the actual damages suffered by
the plaintiff.” Landis v. Marc Realty, LLC, 235 Ill. 2d 1, 13 (2009) (citation omitted).
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Here, it is clear BIPA is a remedial statute, not a penal statute. Section 20 of BIPA does
not impose damages without regard to the actual damages suffered by a plaintiff because it
allows a plaintiff to recover the greater of his actual damages or the applicable liquidated
damages amount. 740 ILCS 14/20. The fact that a plaintiff may be awarded or seeks only
liquidated damages does not mean Section 20 is penal in nature.
BIPA is clearly “within the class of remedial statutes which are designed to grant
remedies for the protection of rights, introduce regulation conducive to the public good or cure
public evils.” Standard Mutual Insurance Co. v. Law, 2013 IL 114617, ¶ 31. Indeed, the Illinois
legislature enacted BIPA because it determined the “public welfare, security, and safety [would]
be served by regulating the collection, use, safeguarding, handling, storage, retention, and
destruction of biometric identifiers and information.” 740 ILCS 14/5(g). BIPA’s procedural
protections are “particularly crucial in our digital world because technology now permits the
wholesale collection and storage of an individual’s unique biometric identifiers – identifiers that
cannot be changed if compromised or misused.” Patel v. Facebook, Inc., 290 F. Supp. 3d 948,
954 (N.D. Cal. 2018). When a private entity disregards BIPA’s procedures, “the right of the
individual to maintain her biometric privacy vanishes into thin air. The precise harm the Illinois
legislature sought to prevent is then realized.” Id. Thus, by allowing private entities to face
liability for violating BIPA, without requiring an individual to show more than a violation of
their statutory rights, “those entities have the strongest possible incentive to conform to the law
and prevent problems before they occur and cannot be undone.” Rosenbach v. Six Flags Entm’t
Corp., 2019 IL 123186, ¶ 37. Whether Section 20’s liquidated damages provisions are viewed
“as a liquidated sum for actual harm, or as an incentive for aggrieved parties to enforce the
statute, or both, the [liquidated damages] amount clearly serves more than purely punitive or
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deterrent goals.” Standard Mutual, 2013 IL 114617, ¶ 32. Section 13-202 does not apply to
Plaintiff’s BIPA claims.
Section 13-205 of the Code states, “[A]ll civil actions not otherwise provided for, shall be
commenced within 5 years next after the cause of action accrued.”

735 ILCS 5/13-205.

Because Section 20 does not contain a limiting provision and neither Section 13-201 nor Section
13-202 applies, the Court finds that Section 13-205 provides the applicable statute of limitations
for Section 20: five years. See, e.g., Motague v. George J. London Mem’l Hosp., 78 Ill. App. 3d
298, 304 (1st Dist. 1979) (recognizing the general rule a statutory right of action is a “civil action
not otherwise provided for”); People ex rel. Powles v. Alexander Cty., 310 Ill. App. 3d 602, 604
(4th Dist. 1941) (“It has been held that where liability results from a statute, an action to enforce
such liability is a ‘civil action not otherwise provided for’”). Ceridian’s Motion to Dismiss
Pursuant to Section 2-619 is denied.
C.

Motions to Strike Class Allegations Pursuant to Section 2-615

Finally, Ceridian argues Plaintiff failed to make the requisite factual showing she meets
the statutory requirements for class certification, and thus the Court should strike Plaintiff’s class
allegations pursuant to Section 2-615. Ceridian contends Plaintiff has not, and cannot, allege
facts relating to employees of other customers of Ceridian—employers she never worked for and
knows nothing about. Ceridian concludes Plaintiff “has not alleged facts supporting the statutory
prerequisites for proceeding via the class that she purports to represent.

Individual

considerations relating to employers other than The Standard Market, as well as their employees,
prevent Plaintiff from alleging facts supporting the statutory prerequisites of 735 ILCS 5/2-801,
and necessitate that Plaintiff’s class action allegations be stricken at this stage.” (MTD Reply,
p. 8.)
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Plaintiff responds Ceridian’s arguments to strike the class allegations are vague and
improper. Plaintiff states there are commonalities of fact and law here, where all the allegations
are based on Ceridian’s collection and retention of biometric data on Ceridian’s servers. Plaintiff
also points out that Ceridian’s fear of different employment mechanisms, i.e., unionized versus
un-unionized, arbitration agreements versus non-arbitration agreements, etc., are speculative and
not allegations included in the Complaint. Therefore, Plaintiff states, the Court cannot consider
those possibilities since they are speculative and go outside the allegations contained in the
Complaint.
When a cause of action is also a class action, to survive a motion to dismiss the plaintiff
must allege facts sufficient to bring the claim within the statutory prerequisites for a class action.
Weiss v. Waterhouse Securities, Inc., 208 Ill. 2d 439, 451 (2004). Section 2-801, “Prerequisites
for the maintenance of a class action,” provides:
An action may be maintained as a class action in any court of this State and a
party may sue or be sued as a representative party of the class only if the court
finds:
(1) The class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.
(2) There are questions of fact or law common to the class, which common
questions predominate over any questions affecting only individual members.
(3) The representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interest of
the class.
(4) The class action is an appropriate method for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the controversy.
735 ILCS 5/2-801. At this stage of the litigation, however, the Court “should not inquire
whether the putative class action [Plaintiff’s Complaint] establishes the statutory class action
prerequisites.” Weiss, 208 Ill. 2d at 453. Plaintiff’s Complaint “simply must contain allegations
which implicate, or bring the complaint, within, these prerequisites. It is enough that the factual
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EXHIBIT 5

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
RACHEL LABARRE, individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
Case No. 19 CH 6489
v.
Judge Moshe Jacobius
CERIDIAN HCM, INC.,
Defendant.
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
This matter comes before the Court for ruling on Defendant’s Section 2-619.1 Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiff’s First Amended Class Action Complaint.
I.

BACKGROUND
Defendant, Ceridian HCM, Inc. (“Ceridian”), is a creator of a cloud-based time and

attendance system called Dayforce. (First Amended Class Action Complaint and Demand for Jury
Trial (“Am. Complaint”), ¶¶ 1, 21.) It offers biometric time clocks enabling businesses to track
their employees’ time by using a biometric finger scanner. (Id.) When employees first begin to
work at a company using a Ceridian biometric time clock, they are required to have their
fingerprints scanned in order to enroll them in the fingerprint database. (Id. ¶ 21.) When an
employee scans their fingerprint, the time clock automatically sends the employee’s biometric
fingerprint data to Ceridian’s servers to be collected and stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database.
(Id. ¶ 22.)
Plaintiff worked at a Standard Market grocery store between April 2018 and March 2019.
(Id. ¶ 28.) Ceridian provided Standard Market its Ceridian Dayforce biometric time clock system
to track its employees’ time. (Id. ¶ 29.) Standard Market required Plaintiff to scan her fingerprint

into Ceridian’s Dayforce biometric time clock system so it could be used as an authentication
method to track her time. (Id. ¶ 30.) When Plaintiff scanned her fingerprint, the time clock system
purportedly automatically sent her biometric identifier and/or biometric information to Ceridian’s
server to be collected and stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database. (Id. ¶ 31.)
Each time Plaintiff began and ended her workday, she was required to scan her fingerprint
into the Dayforce time clock system. (Id. ¶ 32.) Neither Ceridian nor Standard Market informed
Plaintiff of the specific limited purpose or length of time for which it or they collected, stored, or
used her fingerprint. (Id. ¶ 33.) Similarly, Ceridian never informed Plaintiff of any biometric data
retention policy it developed, nor whether it will ever permanently delete her fingerprint. (Id.
¶ 34.) Plaintiff never signed a written release allowing Ceridian to collect or store her fingerprint.
(Id. ¶ 35.) Additionally, Plaintiff alleges that up until after this lawsuit was filed, Ceridian failed
to establish a written, publicly available policy identifying its retention schedule for biometric data,
and guidelines for permanently destroying employees’ finger prints when the initial purpose for
collecting or obtaining their fingerprints is no longer relevant. (Id. ¶ 25.)
Plaintiff filed her Amended Class Action Complaint on September 22, 2020. In the
Amended Complaint, Plaintiff claims Ceridian violated the following sections of BIPA:
•

Section 15(a), by failing to publicly provide a retention schedule or guideline for
permanently destroying employees’ biometric identifiers and biometric information;

•

Section 15(b)(1), by failing to inform Plaintiff and the Class in writing that their biometric
identifiers and biometric information were being collected and stored;

•

Section 15(b)(2), by failing to inform Plaintiff and the Class in writing of the specific
purpose and length of term for which their biometric identifiers or biometric information
was being collected, stored, and used; and

•

Section 15(b)(3), by failing to obtain written releases from Plaintiff and the Class before it
collected, used, and stored their biometric identifiers and biometric information.

(Id. ¶¶ 50–53.)
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With respect to the class allegations, Plaintiff defines the Class as:
All residents of the State of Illinois who had their biometric identifiers, including
fingerprints, collected, captured, received, otherwise obtained, or disclosed by
Ceridian HCM, Inc. while residing in Illinois.
(Id. ¶ 38.) Plaintiff alleges while the exact number of Class Members is unknown at this time, it
is clear individual joinder is impracticable. (Id. ¶ 39.)
On behalf of herself and the Class, Plaintiff seeks a Court Order: (1) certifying this case as
a class action on behalf of the Class identified above, appointing Plaintiff LaBarre as a
representative of the Class, and appointing her counsel as Class Counsel; (2) declaring Defendant’s
actions as set forth in the Amended Complaint violate BIPA; (3) awarding statutory damages of
$5,000 for each willful and/or reckless violation of BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(2) or, in the
alternative, statutory damages of $1,000 for each negligent violation of BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS
14/20(1); (4) awarding injunctive and other equitable relief as is necessary to protect the interests
of the Class, including an Order requiring Defendant to collect, store, and use biometric identifiers
or biometric information in compliance with BIPA; (5) awarding Plaintiff and the Class their
reasonable litigation expenses and attorney fees; (6) awarding Plaintiff and the Class pre- and postjudgment interest to the extent allowable; and (7) awarding such other and further relief as equity
and justice may require.
Ceridian moves to dismiss Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint pursuant to Section 2-615 for
failure to state a claim for violations of Sections 15(a) and 15(b) of BIPA. Ceridian also moves to
dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to Section 2-619(a)(9), arguing the doctrine of
extraterritoriality bars the application of BIPA to Ceridian. Finally, Ceridian requests the Court
stay this matter pending the resolution of the issue of the appropriate statute of limitations for
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BIPA claims, which is currently being considered by the Illinois Appellate Court for the First
District.
II.

LEGAL STANDARD
When bringing a combined motion under Section 2-619.1 of the Illinois Code of Civil

Procedure (the “Code”), parties are still required to adhere to the procedural distinctions between
Section 2-615 and Section 2-619. Reynolds v. Jimmy John’s Enterprises, 2013 IL App (4th)
120139, ¶ 20. Section 2-615 allows a defendant to challenge the legal sufficiency of a complaint.
Id. ¶ 25. A motion to dismiss under Section 2-615 does not raise affirmative defenses; rather, it
only alleges defects on the face of the complaint. Turner v. Memorial Medical Center, 233 Ill. 2d
494, 499 (2009). The question presented by such a motion is whether the well-pleaded facts, and
all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, when taken as true and in a light most
favorable to the plaintiff, sufficiently state a cause of action upon which relief can be granted.
Marshall v. Burger King Corp., 222 Ill. 2d 422, 429 (2006). Thus, a cause of action should not be
dismissed on the pleadings unless it is clearly apparent no set of facts can be proven that would
entitle the plaintiff to recover. Id. “Where unsupported by allegations of fact, legal and factual
conclusions may be disregarded.” Kagan v. Waldheim Cemetery Co., 2016 IL App (1st) 131274,
¶ 29.
A Section 2-619 motion affords a “means of obtaining . . . a summary disposition of issues
of law or of easily proved issues of fact.” Smith v. Waukegan Park District, 231 Ill. 2d 111, 120
(2008). Under this section, a motion to dismiss admits the legal sufficiency of the complaint, but
it raises an “affirmative matter” which acts to defeat the action. Reynolds, 2013 IL App (4th)
120139, ¶ 30; Smith, 231 Ill. 2d at 120–21. In ruling on a Section 2-619 motion, the court must
interpret “all pleadings and supporting documents in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
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party.” Reynolds, 2013 IL App (4th) 1230139, ¶ 31; Borowiec v. Gateway 2000, Inc., 209 Ill. 2d
376, 383 (2004). If the grounds for dismissal or the elements of the defense do not appear on the
face of the complaint, the party seeking dismissal must file an affidavit in support of the motion.
Reynolds, 2013 IL App (4th) 1230139, ¶ 37; see also Jordan v. Knafel, 355 Ill. App. 3d 534, 544
(1st Dist. 2005). On a Section 2-619.1 motion, a court should entertain the Section 2-615 motion
first, and then, only after a legally sufficient cause of action has been found, entertain the Section
2-619 motion with affidavits filed in support. Johannesen v. Eddins, 2011 IL App (2d) 110108,
¶ 29.
III.

DISCUSSION
In 2008, Illinois enacted the Biometric Information Privacy Act, 740 ILCS 14/1 et seq.

(“BIPA” or the “Act”), to help regulate “the collection, use, safeguarding, handling, storage,
retention, and destruction of biometric identifiers and information.” Id. § 5(g). “Biometric
identifier” includes “a retina or iris scan, fingerprint, voiceprint, or scan of hand or face geometry.”
Id. § 10. “Biometric information” means “any information, regardless of how it is captured,
converted, stored, or shared, based on an individual’s biometric identifier used to identify an
individual.” Id.
Section 15 of BIPA imposes on private entities, like Defendant, obligations regarding the
collection, retention, disclosure, and destruction of biometric identifiers and biometric
information, including (i) obtaining consent from individuals if the company intends to collect,
store, or disclose their personal biometric identifiers; (ii) inform the individuals in writing of the
specific purpose and length of term for which a biometric identifier or biometric information is
being collected, stored, and used; (iii) destroying biometric identifiers in a timely manner; and (iv)
securely storing biometric identifiers. Id. § 15. The Act provides a private right of action
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permitting a prevailing party to recover damages of $1,000 (or actual damages if greater) for
negligent violation of the Act and $5,000 (or actual damages if greater) for intentional or reckless
violations, attorney fees, costs, and expenses, and injunctive relief, if appropriate. Id. § 20.
A.

Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-615

Ceridian first argues Plaintiff’s Complaint must be dismissed because it fails to allege
sufficient facts to state a valid cause of action under BIPA. Plaintiff alleges an action based on
allegations Ceridian violated Sections (15)(a) and (b); however, Ceridian contends Plaintiff does
not support her allegations with sufficient facts showing Ceridian did not have a publicly available
retention policy and how Ceridian collected Plaintiff’s biometric information.
1.

Violation of 740 ILCS 14/15(a)

Plaintiff alleges a breach of Section 15(a), which requires private entities in possession of
biometric information to:
develop a written policy, made available to the public, establishing a retention
schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying biometric identifiers and
biometric information when the initial purpose for collecting or obtaining such
identifiers or information has been satisfied or within 3 years of the individual’s
last interaction with the private entity, whichever occurs first. Absent a valid
warrant or subpoena issued by a court of competent jurisdiction, a private entity in
possession of biometric identifiers or biometric information must comply with its
established retention schedule and destruction guidelines.
740 ILCS 14/15(a).
In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges Ceridian violated Section 15(a) “by failing to publicly
provide a retention schedule or guideline for permanently destroying employees’ biometric
identifiers and biometric information.” (Am. Complaint, ¶ 53.) Plaintiff also alleges that, up until
after this lawsuit was filed, Ceridian failed to establish a written, publicly available policy
identifying its retention schedule for biometric data, and guidelines for permanently destroying
employees’ fingerprints when the initial purpose for collecting or obtaining their fingerprints is no
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longer relevant.” (Id. ¶ 25.) Plaintiff further asserts Ceridian never informed her of any biometric
data retention policy it developed. (Id. ¶ 34.)
Ceridian argues Plaintiff’s allegation Ceridian did not “establish” a publicly available
policy is a bare allegation, lacking additional details, and merely parrots the statutory language of
BIPA. Ceridian further contends Plaintiff misconstrues the requirements of Section 15(a), noting
there is nothing in Section 15(a) requiring Ceridian to affirmatively or proactively provide the
publicly available policy to the individual. Ceridian also points out Plaintiff’s failure to allege she:
(1) inquired as to the existence of a policy; (2) inquired as to the location of a policy; (3) looked
for a policy and was unable to locate the policy after searching for it, or (4) made any effort to
obtain a copy of the policy.
Ceridian correctly argues it had no obligation to affirmatively provide information to
Plaintiff. BIPA merely requires Ceridian to develop a policy and make it available to the public.
740 ILCS 14/15(a); see also Bryant v. Compass Group USA, Inc., 958 F.3d 617, 626 (7th Cir.
2020) (“[T]he duty to disclose under section 15(a) is owed to the public generally, not to particular
persons whose biometric information the entity collects.”); Figueroa v. Kronos Inc., No. 19 C
1306, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131093, at *9 (N.D. Ill. July 24, 2020) (“Section 15(a) does not
obligate Kronos to inform specific individuals like Plaintiffs of its policy.”). As for Ceridian’s
complaints Plaintiff failed to conduct any sort of investigation into whether or not Ceridian had a
publicly available retention policy, if Plaintiff was unaware Ceridian was collecting her biometric
data in the first place (Am. Complaint, ¶¶ 24–25), how would she know to seek out Ceridian’s
policy (if one even existed at the time)?
Viewing Plaintiff’s allegations in the light most favorable to her—as the Court must do in
the context of the instant motion—the Court finds Plaintiff sufficiently stated a cause of action for
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a violation of Section 15(a). Plaintiff points out that when facts are alleged which, to a great degree
of certitude are within the knowledge of the defendant, the pleading requirement is somewhat
relaxed. Doe v. Coe, 2019 IL 123521, ¶ 73. Ceridian points out in a footnote that it disclosed to
Plaintiff in communication about the policy which Plaintiff denied; however, the affidavit of
Theodor Jahnke, Product Owner of WFM Clock for Ceridian HCM, Inc., submitted by Ceridian
is totally silent on the existence of such a policy. Discovery will reveal whether or not Ceridian
complied with Section 15(a) at the relevant time. Therefore, Ceridian’s Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiff’s claim of a violation of Section 15(a) is denied.
2.

Violation of 740 ILCS 14/15(b)

Ceridian next argues Plaintiff fails to state a claim for a violation of Section 15(b) because
it does not actively collect biometric information. Section 15(b) of BIPA provides:
No private entity may collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise
obtain a person’s or customer’s biometric identifier or biometric information,
unless it first:
(1) informs the subject . . . in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric
information is being collected or stored;
(2) informs the subject . . . in writing of the specific purpose and length of term
for which a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected,
stored, and used; and
(3) receives a written release executed by the subject of the biometric identifier
or biometric information . . . .
740 ILCS 14/15(b). Significantly, unlike Sections 15(a), (c), (d), and (e) of BIPA—all of which
apply to entities “in possession of” biometric data—Section 15(b) applies to private entities if they
“collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise obtain” biometric data. 740 ILCS
14/15(a)-(e).
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Ceridian first focuses on the fact that Standard Market, not Ceridian, owns the device at
issue, and Standard Market, not Ceridian, required Plaintiff to use the device each time she clocked
into work. Ceridian argues Plaintiff’s allegations pertaining to “Ceridian’s Dayforce biometric
clock system” are misleading and/or inaccurate, and attempts to characterize it as “Standard
Market’s time clock system.” MTD, at 8. This is nothing but a red herring. Just because Standard
Market owns the physical time clock does not mean it is Standard Market’s time clock system.
Ceridian more persuasively argues Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint “fails to address when,
where, and how the purported fingerprint data was supposedly transferred from Standard Market’s
device . . . to Ceridian’s servers outside [of] Illinois.” MTD, at 8. Plaintiff alleges when she
scanned her fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce biometric time clock system, the time clock
system automatically sent her fingerprint data to Ceridian’s servers to be collected and stored in
Ceridian’s fingerprint database. Am. Complaint, ¶¶ 22, 31. But Ceridian says “[s]imply stating
that the clock system ‘automatically’ sends data is not an allegation of conduct on the part of
Ceridian.” MTD Reply, at 11. In its Memorandum Opinion and Order dated August 25, 2020
(“Opinion”), however, the Court addressed Ceridian’s argument it does not actively collect
biometric data and determined the salient point here is that Ceridian purportedly got Plaintiff’s
data. Opinion, at 8–9 (citing Figueroa v. Kronos Inc., No. 19 C 1306, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
64131, at *16–17 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 13, 2020) (“The complaint alleges that Kronos ‘stored,’ ‘used,’
and ‘disclosed’ Plaintiffs’ biometric data . . . and to have done those things Kronos necessarily
first had to ‘obtain’ the data.”)). The Court did suggest Plaintiff “should set out the methodology
by which Ceridian receives and maintains Plaintiff’s protected biometric information and set out
any relevant transactions and/or interactions between Ceridian and Standard Market that facilitate
Ceridian receiving the protected information.” Id. at 10.
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Plaintiff alleges, “When LaBarre scanned her fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce
biometric time clock system, the time clock system automatically sent her biometric identifier
and/or biometric information to Ceridian’s server to be collected and stored in Ceridian’s
fingerprint database.” Am. Complaint, ¶ 31. At this stage of the litigation, Plaintiff cannot be
expected to be privy to all of the intricacies and technical inner workings of the Dayforce system.
The allegations of the First Amended Complaint that Ceridian possessed and collected Plaintiff’s
fingerprint information provides sufficient allegations under Illinois law to overcome Ceridian’s
pleading arguments. In the Court’s view, the allegations in Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint
sufficiently state a cause of action for violation of Section 15(b). Ceridian’s Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiff’s claims for violations of Section 15(b) is denied.
B.

Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-619
1.

Illinois’s Extraterritoriality Doctrine

Defendant argues Plaintiff’s claims should be dismissed with prejudice because her claims
against Ceridian are barred by the doctrine of extraterritoriality. Plaintiff responds applying BIPA
to Ceridian’s conduct at issue does not require “extraterritorial effect” because the vast majority
of the underlying circumstances and conduct occurred in Illinois.
The parties agree BIPA does not apply extraterritorially. Monroy v. Shutterfly, Inc., No.
16 C 10984, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 149604, at *15 (N.D. Ill. Sep. 15, 2017). However, the Illinois
Supreme Court has held an Illinois law can be applied if “the circumstances that relate to the
disputed transaction occur[red] primarily and substantially in Illinois.” Avery v. State Farm Mut.
Auto. Ins. Co., 216 Ill. 2d 100, 187 (2005). “[T]here is no single formula or bright-line test for
determining whether a transaction occurs within [Illinois]” and “each case must be decided on its
own facts.” Id. Thus, the question is whether the events giving rise to this suit occurred primarily
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and substantially in Illinois. This, however, is a highly fact-based analysis that is generally
inappropriate for the motion to dismiss stage. Monroy, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 149604, at *17
(holding the extraterritoriality doctrine is better addressed on a motion for summary judgment);
Rivera v. Google, Inc., 238 F. Supp. 3d 1088, 1101–02 (N.D. Ill. 2017) (same).
According to Ceridian, the “transaction” for purposes of the extraterritoriality analysis can
be defined as “Ceridian’s alleged conduct—the purported collection, storing, and using of
Plaintiff’s biometric information.” MTD, at 12. Ceridian asserts the conduct at issue in this case
occurred exclusively outside of Illinois, citing the following with respect to the allegations of the
Amended Complaint:
•
•

•
•

There is no specific allegation in the Amended Complaint referencing any Ceridian
conduct that occurred within Illinois;
Ceridian is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Minnesota
and, during the pendency of Plaintiff’s employment at Standard Market, Ceridian’s
operations flowed from its principal place of business and corporate residency, which
existed wholly outside Illinois;
Standard Market is alleged to have collected Plaintiff’s fingerprint in Illinois when it
required Plaintiff to scan her finger into the time clock owned by Standard Market, but
Plaintiff does not allege how Ceridian is responsible for that conduct; and
Plaintiff alleges Ceridian was in possession of the information, but does not allege this
information was stored in Illinois.

MTD, at 12–13. Ceridian also points out it does not store the information at issue in Illinois1, and
Ceridian had no direct contact in Illinois with Plaintiff or other employees of Standard Market
concerning their employment enrollment process, timekeeping process, or in connection with
Standard Market employees’ use of any timekeeping device. MTD, Ex. 6, Affidavit of Theodor
Jahnke (“Jahnke Aff.”), ¶¶ 7–8.
1

The geographic location of data servers is but one factor in the territoriality inquiry. In re Facebook
Biometric Information Privacy Litigation, 326 F.R.D. 535, 547 (N.D. Cal. 2018). As Avery cautions,
“focusing solely on [only one circumstance] . . . can create questionable results” where “the bulk of the
circumstances . . . occur within Illinois.” Avery, 216 Ill. 2d at 186; see also Rivera, 238 F. Supp. 3d at 1102
(in BIPA face scan context, even if “the scanning takes place outside of Illinois, that would not necessarily
be dispositive.”).
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Ceridian argues Plaintiff focuses her allegations primarily and substantially on the actions
of Standard Market and fails to allege the necessary legal nexus between Ceridian’s conduct with
regard to her data and whether Ceridian’s conduct occurred in Illinois. Plaintiff contends
Ceridian’s reading of Avery in defining the conduct at issue is too narrow. In Plaintiff’s view,
Avery “refers broadly to ‘the circumstances relating to the transaction,’ encompassing conduct of
both the defendant and the plaintiff, as well as circumstances outside the control of any party.”
MTD Response, at 12 (citing Avery, 216 Ill. 2d at 184–86). But the Court agrees with Ceridian
that any alleged wrongdoing or damages purportedly caused by Ceridian must be tied to Ceridian’s
conduct in or related to Illinois. In an age where communication often occurs through electronic
transmission, the nature of the communication and the connectivity between diverse geographical
locations are certainly relevant and need to be examined, explored, and explained.
Plaintiff alleges she scanned her fingerprints into Ceridian’s system in Illinois. The Court
finds discovery is needed to determine to what extent Ceridian’s alleged acts occurred in Illinois.
There are simply too many unknowns at this stage of the proceedings, which prevent the Court
from making a determination whether BIPA is being applied extraterritorially in this case. See
Vance v. IBM, No. 20 C 577, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 168610, at *7–8 (N.D. Ill. Sep. 15, 2020).
Ceridian’s Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Section 2-619(a)(9) is denied.
2.

Statute of Limitations

Ceridian also moves to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint pursuant to section 2-619(a)(5),
arguing her claim is time-barred by the one-year statute of limitations set forth in 735 ILCS 5/13201. This Court already rejected this argument in its Memorandum Opinion and Order dated
August 25, 2020, and sees no reason to revisit the issue now. Ceridian’s Motion to Dismiss
Pursuant to Section 2-619(a)(5) is denied. The Court further denies Ceridian’s request to stay this
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DEFENDANT CERIDIAN HCM, INC.’S
ANSWER TO FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Defendant, Ceridian HCM, Inc.’s (“Ceridian”), by and through its Attorneys, K&L Gates
LLP, and for its Answer to Plaintiff’s First Amended Class Action Complaint (“First Amended
Complaint”), states as follows:
NATURE OF THE ACTION
1.
Defendant Ceridian is a creator of a cloud-based time and attendance system called
Dayforce. It offers biometric time clocks that enable businesses to track their employees’ time by
using a biometric finger scanner. Ceridian provides its biometric timekeeping system to numerous
employers across Illinois, including Plaintiff’s former employer, Standard Market.
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits that it is a creator of cloud-based software known as Dayforce
(“Dayforce Software”), which may, at the election of the customer, include a time and
attendance module. Ceridian further admits that it offers time clocks, some of which may
include a finger scanner, to its employer customers, including Plaintiff’s former employer,
Standard Market. Ceridian also admits that some of its customers use the time clocks purchased
from Ceridian in Illinois. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies that Dayforce requires the use of a
finger scanner, and admits that various methods of time tracking and various clocks may be used
with Dayforce. Ceridian denies any remaining allegations of Paragraph 1, and specifically

FILED DATE: 4/1/2021 4:36 PM 2019CH06489

denies that it collects, uses or stores any fingerprints or other biometric identifier or biometric
information, as those terms are defined in the Biometric Information Privacy Act 740 ILCS 14/1,
et seq. (“BIPA”).
2.
When employees first begin their jobs at companies that use Ceridian’s Dayforce
system, they are required to scan their fingerprint in its biometric time tracking system as a means
of authentication, instead of using only key fobs or other identification cards.
ANSWER:
“Ceridian Dayforce system,” as used in the First Amended Complaint, is not a defined
term and Ceridian lacks knowledge and information sufficient to admit or deny allegations
concerning “Ceridian’s Dayforce system.” To the extent an answer is required, Ceridian denies
that companies that use Dayforce software must require their employees to use a finger scan time
tracking system. Answering further, Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny
whether an employer requires an employee to scan a finger for time tracking purposes, as such
requirements would be at the discretion of and imposed by each employer. Answering further,
Ceridian expressly denies that it requires any of its customers’ employees to scan a fingerprint
for time tracking purposes and affirmatively states that Dayforce software is used for purposes
other than time-tracking and is used by customers with a variety of clocks that do not utilize
finger scanners. Ceridian further denies that it captures, collects or otherwise stores fingerprints
or images of fingerprints. Ceridian denies any remaining allegations in Paragraph 2.
3.
While there are tremendous benefits to using biometric time clocks in the
workplace, there are also serious risks. Unlike key fobs or identification cards—which can be
changed or replaced if stolen or compromised—fingerprints are unique, permanent biometric
identifiers associated with the employee. This exposes employees to serious and irreversible
privacy risks. For example, if a fingerprint database is hacked, breached, or otherwise exposed,
employees have no means by which to prevent identity theft and unauthorized tracking.
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits that there are tremendous benefits to using finger scan time clocks
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offered by Ceridian, and that fingerprints are unique to each person. Ceridian further admits that
key fobs or identification cards can be replaced. Ceridian denies any remaining allegations of
the first three sentences of Paragraph 3. Ceridian lacks knowledge or information sufficient to
form a belief as to the last sentence of Paragraph 3, and therefore denies such allegations.
4.
Recognizing the need to protect its citizens from situations like these, Illinois
enacted the Biometric Information Privacy Act, 740 ILCS 14/1, et seq. (“BIPA”), specifically to
regulate companies that collect and store Illinois citizens’ biometrics, such as fingerprints.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 4 of the First Amended Complaint alleges legal conclusions, to which no
answer is required. To the extent that an answer may be required, Ceridian admits only that
Illinois enacted BIPA, and states further that the intent or purpose of BIPA is set forth in the
statute itself or the legislative history of that statute. Ceridian denies any remaining allegations of
Paragraph 4.
5.
Despite this law, Ceridian disregards employees’ statutorily protected privacy
rights and unlawfully collects, stores, and uses their biometric data in violation of the BIPA.
Specifically, Ceridian has violated (and continues to violate) the BIPA because it did not:


Properly inform Plaintiff and the Class members in writing of the specific purpose
and length of time for which their fingerprints were being collected, stored, and
used, as required by the BIPA;



Provide a publicly available retention schedule and guidelines for permanently
destroying Plaintiff’s and the Class’s fingerprints, as required by the BIPA; nor



Receive a written release from Plaintiff or the members of the Class to collect,
capture, or otherwise obtain their fingerprints, as required by the BIPA.

ANSWER:
Paragraph 5 of the First Amended Complaint alleges legal conclusions, to which no
answer is required. To the extent that an answer may be required Ceridian denies the allegations
of Paragraph 5. Further answering, Ceridian denies that any class has been certified in this case
or that any class should be certified in this case.
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6.
Accordingly, this Complaint seeks an order: (i) declaring that Defendant’s conduct
violates the BIPA; (ii) requiring Defendant to cease the unlawful activities discussed herein; and
(iii) awarding liquidated damages to Plaintiff and the proposed Class.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 6 of the First Amended Complaint alleges legal conclusions, to which no
answer is required. To the extent that an answer may be required, Ceridian admits that the First
Amended Complaint purports to seek the relief identified in Paragraph 6. Except as so stated,
Ceridian denies the allegations in Paragraph 6 of the First Amended Complaint, and specifically
denies that it has violated BIPA or that its conduct has caused damages of any kind to Plaintiff.
Further answering, Ceridian denies that any class has been certified in this case or that any class
should be certified in this case.
PARTIES
7.

Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre is a natural person and citizen of the State of Illinois.

ANSWER:
Ceridian lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of
Paragraph 7 and therefore denies those allegations.
8.
Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the
laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business located at 3311 East Old
Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425.
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits the allegations of Paragraph 8.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
9.
This Court has jurisdiction over Defendant pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-209 because
Defendant conducts business transactions in Illinois, maintains corporate offices in Illinois, and
has committed tortious acts in Illinois.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 9 of the First Amended Complaint alleges legal conclusions, to which no
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answer is required. To the extent that an answer may be required, Ceridian admits it conducts
business in Illinois but denies that the alleged conduct on the part of Ceridian in the First
Amended Complaint occurred in Illinois. Answering further, Ceridian denies that it currently
maintains corporate offices in Illinois. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of
Paragraph 9.
10.
Venue is proper in Cook County because Defendant transacts business in and
maintains offices in Cook County.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 10 of the First Amended Complaint alleges legal conclusions to which no
answer is required. To the extent that an answer may be required, Ceridian admits it transacts
business in Cook County but denies that the alleged conduct on the part of Ceridian in the First
Amended Complaint occurred in Illinois. Answering further, Ceridian denies that it currently
maintains offices in Cook County. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of
Paragraph 10.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND
I.

The Biometric Information Privacy Act.

11.
In the early 2000’s, major national corporations started using Chicago and other
locations in Illinois to test “new [consumer] applications of biometric-facilitated financial
transactions, including finger-scan technologies at grocery stores, gas stations, and school
cafeterias.” 740 ILCS 14/5(b). Given its relative infancy, an overwhelming portion of the public
became weary of this then-growing, yet unregulated, technology. See 740 ILCS 14/5.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 11 of the First Amended Complaint purports to summarize portions of BIPA
and alleges legal conclusions, to which no answer is required. To the extent that an answer may
be required, Ceridian admits only that the statute is accurately quoted. Except as so stated,
Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 11.
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12.
In late 2007, a biometrics company called Pay By Touch—which provided major
retailers throughout the State of Illinois with fingerprint scanners to facilitate consumer
transactions—filed for bankruptcy. That bankruptcy was alarming to the Illinois Legislature
because suddenly there was a serious risk that millions of fingerprint records—which, are unique
biometric identifiers, can be linked to people’s sensitive financial and personal data—could now
be sold, distributed, or otherwise shared through the bankruptcy proceedings without adequate
protections for Illinois citizens. The bankruptcy also highlighted the fact that most consumers who
had used that company’s biometric scanners were completely unaware that the scanners were not
actually transmitting data to the retailer who deployed the scanner, but rather to the now-bankrupt
company, and that their unique biometric identifiers could now be sold to unknown third parties.
ANSWER:
Ceridian lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of
Paragraph 12 and therefore denies such allegations.
13.
Recognizing the “very serious need [for] protections for the citizens of Illinois
when it [came to their] biometric information,” Illinois enacted the BIPA in 2008. See Illinois
House Transcript, 2008 Reg. Sess. No. 276; 740 ILCS 14/5.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 13 of the First Amended Complaint purports to quote an Illinois House
Transcript and alleges legal conclusions, to which no answer is required. To the extent that an
answer may be required, Ceridian admits only that the transcript is accurately referenced. Except
as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 13.
14.
The BIPA is an informed consent statute which achieves its goal by making it
unlawful for a company to, among other things, “collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade,
or otherwise obtain a person’s or a customer’s biometric identifiers or biometric information,
unless it first:
(1)
informs the subject . . . in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric
information is being collected or stored;
(2)
informs the subject . . . in writing of the specific purpose and length of term
for which a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected, stored,
and used; and
(3)
receives a written release executed by the subject of the biometric identifier
or biometric information.
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740 ILCS 14/15(b).
ANSWER:
Paragraph 14 of the First Amended Complaint purports to summarize portions of BIPA
and alleges legal conclusions, to which no answer is required. To the extent that an answer may
be required, Ceridian admits only that the statute is accurately quoted. Except as so stated,
Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 14.
15.
The BIPA specifically applies to employees who work in the State of Illinois. BIPA
defines a “written release” specifically “in the context of employment [as] a release executed by
an employee as a condition of employment.” 740 ILCS 14/10.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 15 of the First Amended Complaint purports to summarize portions of BIPA
and alleges legal conclusions, to which no answer is required. To the extent that an answer may
be required, Ceridian admits only that the statute is accurately quoted. Except as so stated, Ceridian
denies the allegations of Paragraph 15.
16.
Biometric identifiers include retina and iris scans, voiceprints, scans of hand and
face geometry, and—most importantly here—fingerprint. See 740 ILCS 14/10. Biometric
information is separately defined to include any information based on an individual’s biometric
identifier that is used to identify an individual. See id.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 16 of the First Amended Complaint purports to summarize portions of BIPA
and alleges legal conclusions, to which no answer is required. To the extent that an answer may
be required, Ceridian admits only that the definition of “biometric identifiers” and “biometric
information” are set forth in 740 ILCS 14/10. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations
of Paragraph 16.
17.
The BIPA also establishes standards for how companies in possession of biometric
identifiers and biometric information must handle them. See 740 ILCS 14/15(c)–(d). For instance,
the BIPA requires companies to develop and comply with a written policy—made available to the
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public—establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying biometric
identifiers and biometric information when the initial purpose for collecting such identifiers or
information has been satisfied or within three years of the individual’s last interaction with the
company, whichever occurs first. 740 ILCS 14/15(a).
ANSWER:
The allegations of Paragraph 17 assert conclusions of law and purport to summarize
provisions of BIPA to which no answer is required. To the extent an answer may be required,
Ceridian admits only that BIPA speaks for itself and denies any allegations inconsistent with the
express language of the statute. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph
17.
18.
Ultimately, the BIPA is simply an informed consent statute. Its narrowly tailored
provisions place no absolute bar on the collection, sending, transmitting or communicating of
biometric data. For example, the BIPA does not limit what kinds of biometric data may be
collected, sent, transmitted, or stored. Nor does the BIPA limit to whom biometric data may be
collected, sent, transmitted, or stored. The BIPA simply mandates that entities wishing to engage
in that conduct must make proper disclosures and implement certain reasonable safeguards.
ANSWER:
The allegations of Paragraph 18 assert conclusions of law to which no answer is required.
To the extent an answer may be required, Ceridian admits only that BIPA speaks for itself and
denies any allegations inconsistent with the express language of the statute. Except as so stated,
Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 18.
II.

Ceridian Violates the Biometric Information Privacy Act.

19.
By the time the BIPA passed through the Illinois Legislature in mid-2008, many
companies who had experimented with using biometric data as an authentication method stopped
doing so, at least for a time. That is because Pay By Touch’s bankruptcy, described in Section I
above, was widely publicized and brought attention to consumers’ discomfort with the use of their
biometric data.
ANSWER:
Ceridian lacks knowledge or information sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of
Paragraph 19 and therefore denies those allegations.
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20.
Unfortunately, Ceridian failed to address these concerns. Ceridian continues to
collect, store, and use employees’ biometric data in violation of the BIPA.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 20 asserts conclusions of law to which no answer is required. To the extent an
answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 20.
21.
Specifically, Ceridian sells time clocks with a biometric fingerprint scanner to
employers. When employees first begin work at a company that uses a Ceridian biometric time
clock system, they are required to have their fingerprints scanned in order to enroll them in
Ceridian’s fingerprint database.
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits that it sells time clocks with a finger scanners to employers. Except as so
stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of the first sentence of Paragraph 21 of the First Amended
Complaint. Answering further, Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of the second sentence of Paragraph 21, and therefore denies such allegations.
Answering further, Ceridian denies that it requires employees to scan fingers into a database.
22.
When an employee scans their fingerprint on a Ceridian time clock, the time clock
automatically sends the employee’s biometric fingerprint data to Ceridian’s servers to be collected
and stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database.
ANSWER:
Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 22 of the First Amended Complaint.
Ceridian specifically denies that biometric fingerprint data is sent to, collected by or stored in
Ceridian’s “fingerprint database” that it maintains a “fingerprint database” and that it collects or
stores biometric identifiers or biometric information as those terms are defined by BIPA.
23.
Companies use Ceridian’s biometric time clocks as an employee time tracking
system that requires employees to use their fingerprint as a means of authentication. Unlike a
traditional time clock, employees have to use their fingerprint to “punch” in to or out of work.
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits that customers of Ceridian use time clocks with finger scanners
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purchased from Ceridian for, among other things, time tracking of employees. Except as so
stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of the first sentence of Paragraph 23. Answering further,
Ceridian denies that the time clocks sold by Ceridian require employees to use their fingerprints
to punch in to or out of work. Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the
remaining allegations of the second sentence of Paragraph 23 and therefore denies such
allegations.
24.
Ceridian failed to inform employees of the complete purposes for which it collects
their sensitive biometric data or to whom the data is disclosed, if at all. Indeed, employees are
unaware that by providing their biometric identifiers to their employers they are actually
transmitting their sensitive biometric data to Ceridian.
ANSWER:
The first sentence of Paragraph 24 of the First Amended Complaint consists of legal
conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent an answer is required Ceridian denies
the allegations of the first sentence of Paragraph 24. Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to
admit or deny the allegations of the second sentence of Paragraph 24, and therefore denies such
allegations.
25.
Up until after this lawsuit was filed, Ceridian similarly failed to establish a written,
publicly available policy identifying its retention schedule for biometric data, and guidelines for
permanently destroying employees’ fingerprints when the initial purpose for collecting or
obtaining their fingerprints is no longer relevant, as required by the BIPA. Setting aside that
Ceridian has collected, stored, and used employees’ biometric data for years without such a policy,
the publishing of the recent policy on its website is also problematic. As described above, most
employees don’t know they are interacting with Ceridian when they have their biometrics scanned
by their employer’s Ceridian devices, let alone providing Ceridian their biometric data. As such,
they’d have no reason to affirmatively seek out Ceridian’s website and search for its biometric
data policies. Accordingly, an employee who leaves their job does so without any knowledge of
Ceridian possessing their biometric identifiers or when their biometric identifiers will be removed
from Ceridian’s databases—or if they ever will be.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 25 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of the first and second sentences of
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Paragraph 25. Answering further, Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the
allegations of the third, fourth and fifth sentences of Paragraph 25 and therefore denies such
allegations. Answering further, Ceridian denies that it collected or otherwise stored any
biometric identifiers at any time and affirmatively states that developed a written publicly
available policy identifying retention schedules and guidelines for the deletion of data collected
by the timekeeping devices purchased by the Standard Market.
26.
The Pay By Touch bankruptcy that catalyzed the passage of the BIPA highlights
why conduct such as Ceridian’s—where the employees are aware that they are providing biometric
identifiers to their employer but are not aware of the full extent of the reasons they are doing so,
nor are informed who else is receiving this data—is so dangerous. That bankruptcy spurred Illinois
citizens and legislators to realize a critical point: it is crucial for people to understand when
providing biometric data who exactly is collecting it, who it will be transmitted to, for what
purposes, and for how long. But Ceridian disregards these obligations, and instead unlawfully
collects, stores, and uses employees’ biometric identifiers and information without proper consent.
ANSWER:
Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of the first two
sentences of Paragraph 26. Answering further, the last sentence of Paragraph 26 consists of
legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent an answer may be required,
Ceridian denies the allegations of the last sentence of Paragraph 26.
27.
Ultimately, Ceridian disregards employees’ statutorily protected privacy rights by
violating the BIPA.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 27 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer is required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 27.
FACTS SPECIFIC TO PLAINTIFF LABARRE
28.
Plaintiff LaBarre worked at a Standard Market grocery store between April 2018
and March 2019.
ANSWER:
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Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of Paragraph 28, and
therefore denies such allegations.
29.
Ceridian provided Standard Market its Ceridian Dayforce biometric time clock
system to track its employees’ time.
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits only that Standard Market purchased timeclocks with finger scanning
devices from Ceridian. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 29.
30.
Standard Market required LaBarre to scan her fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce
biometric time clock system so that it could use it as an authentication method to track her time.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 30 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer is required, Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of
Paragraph 30 and therefore denies such allegations. Further responding, Ceridian specifically
denies that it collected, used or stored any fingerprints or other biometric identifier or biometric
information of LaBarre.
31.
When LaBarre scanned her fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce biometric time
clock system, the time clock system automatically sent her biometric identifier and/or biometric
information to Ceridian’s server to be collected and stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 31 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer is required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 31. Further responding,
Ceridian specifically denies that it collected, used or stored any fingerprints, or other biometric
identifier or biometric information of LaBarre.
32.
Each time LaBarre began and ended her workday she was required to scan her
fingerprint into Ceridian’s Dayforce time clock system.
ANSWER:
Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of Paragraph 32 and
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therefore denies such allegations. Further answering, Ceridian specifically denies that it
collected, used or stored any fingerprints, or other biometric identifier or biometric information
of LaBarre.
33.
Neither Ceridian nor Standard Market informed LaBarre of the specific limited
purposes or length of time for which it collected, stored, or used her fingerprint.
ANSWER:
Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny what Standard Market informed
LaBarre, and therefore denies the allegation that Standard Market did not inform LaBarre of the
specific limited purposes or length of time for which it collected, stored or used her fingerprint.
Answering further, Ceridian specifically denies any remaining allegations of Paragraph 33.
34.
Similarly, Ceridian never informed LaBarre of any biometric data retention policy
it developed, nor whether it will ever permanently delete her fingerprint.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 34 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer is required, Ceridian specifically denies that it had an obligation or duty to expressly
inform LaBarre of its data retention policies. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations
of Paragraph 34. Further responding, Ceridian affirmatively states that prior to the filing of the
First Amended Complaint, Ceridian informed Plaintiff, by Declaration of Linda Aguiar, that it
did not have any finger scan information generated from LaBarre’s use of the finger scan
timeclock.
35.
fingerprint.

LaBarre never signed a written release allowing Ceridian to collect or store her

ANSWER:
Ceridian lacks knowledge sufficient to admit or deny the allegations of Paragraph 35, and
therefore denies such allegations. Further responding, Ceridian expressly denies that it ever
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collected, used or stored LaBarre’s fingerprint.
36.
LaBarre has continuously and repeatedly been exposed to the risks and harmful
conditions created by Ceridian’s violations of the BIPA alleged herein.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 36 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer is required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 36.
37.
Plaintiff seeks liquidated damages under BIPA as compensation for the injuries
Ceridian has caused.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 37 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. Ceridian
admits that Plaintiff purports to seek liquidated damages under BIPA, but denies that any such
damages or due or owing and denies that Ceridian has caused any injuries to Plaintiff.
CLASS ALLEGATIONS
38.
Class Definition: Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre brings this action pursuant to 735 ILCS
5/2-801 on behalf of herself and a Class of similarly situated individuals, defined as follows:
All residents of the State of Illinois who had their biometric identifiers, including
fingerprints, collected, captured, received, otherwise obtained, or disclosed by
Ceridian HCM, Inc. while residing in Illinois.
The following people are excluded from the Class: (1) any Judge or Magistrate presiding over this
action and members of their families; (2) Defendant, Defendant’s subsidiaries, parents, successors,
predecessors, and any entity in which the Defendant or its parents have a controlling interest and
its current or former officers and directors; (3) persons who properly execute and file a timely
request for exclusion from the Class; (4) persons whose claims in this matter have been finally
adjudicated on the merits or otherwise released; (5) Plaintiff’s counsel and Defendant’s counsel;
and (6) the legal representatives, successors, and assigns of any such excluded persons.
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits only that Plaintiff seeks to bring this action on behalf of herself and a
class of similarly situated individuals as defined by Paragraph 38. Except as so stated, Ceridian
denies the allegations of Paragraph 38. Answering further, Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class
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has been certified in this action, and states that none should be certified.
39.
Numerosity: The exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this
time, but it is clear that individual joinder is impracticable. Defendant has collected, captured,
received, or otherwise obtained biometric identifiers or biometric information from at least
thousands of employees who fall into the definition of the Class. Ultimately, the Class members
will be easily identified through Defendant’s records.
ANSWER:
The allegations of Paragraph 39 assert conclusions of law to which no answer is required.
To the extent an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 39.
Answering further, Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, and
states that none should be certified.
40.
Commonality and Predominance: There are many questions of law and fact
common to the claims of Plaintiff and the Class, and those questions predominate over any
questions that may affect individual members of the Class. Common questions for the Class
include, but are not necessarily limited to the following:
a) whether Defendant collected, captured, or otherwise obtained Plaintiff’s and
the Class’s biometric identifiers or biometric information;
b) whether Defendant properly informed Plaintiff and the Class of its purposes
for collecting, using, and storing their biometric identifiers or biometric
information;
c) whether Defendant obtained a written release (as defined in 740 ILCS 14/10)
to collect, use, and store Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers or
biometric information;
d) whether Defendant has sold, leased, traded, or otherwise profited from
Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers or biometric information;
e) whether Defendant developed a written policy, made available to the public,
establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying
biometric identifiers and biometric information when the initial purpose for
collecting or obtaining such identifiers or information has been satisfied or
within three years of their last interaction, whichever occurs first;
f) whether Defendant complied with any such written policy (if one existed);
and
g) whether Defendant used Plaintiff’s and the Class’s fingerprint to identify
them.
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ANSWER:
The allegations of Paragraph 40 assert conclusions of law to which no answer is required.
To the extent an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 40.
Answering further, Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, and
states that none should be certified.
41.
Adequate Representation: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect
the interests of the Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in complex litigation
and class actions. Plaintiff has no interests antagonistic to those of the Class, and Defendant has
no defenses unique to Plaintiff. Plaintiff and her counsel are committed to vigorously prosecuting
this action on behalf of the members of the Class, and have the financial resources to do so. Neither
Plaintiff nor her counsel have any interest adverse to those of the other members of the Class.
ANSWER:
The allegations of Paragraph 41 assert conclusions of law to which no answer is required.
To the extent an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 41.
Answering further, Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, and
states that none should be certified.
42.
Appropriateness: This class action is appropriate for certification because class
proceedings are superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of
this controversy and joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable. The damages suffered
by the individual members of the Class are likely to have been small relative to the burden and
expense of individual prosecution of the complex litigation necessitated by Defendant’s wrongful
conduct. Thus, it would be virtually impossible for the individual members of the Class to obtain
effective relief from Defendant’s misconduct. Even if members of the Class could sustain such
individual litigation, it would not be preferable to a class action because individual litigation would
increase the delay and expense to all parties due to the complex legal and factual controversies
presented in their Complaint. By contrast, a class action presents far fewer management difficulties
and provides the benefits of single adjudication, economies of scale, and comprehensive
supervision by a single court. Economies of time, effort, and expense will be fostered and
uniformity of decisions will be ensured.
ANSWER:
The allegations of Paragraph 42 assert conclusions of law to which no answer is required.
To the extent an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 42.
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Answering further, Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, and
states that none should be certified.
CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of 740 ILCS 14/1, et seq.
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class)
43.

Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

ANSWER:
Ceridian incorporates the foregoing responses to the allegations of the Complaint as if
fully set forth herein.
44.
The BIPA requires companies to obtain informed written consent from employees
before acquiring their biometric data. Specifically, the BIPA makes it unlawful for any private
entity to “collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise obtain a person’s or a
customer’s biometric identifiers or biometric information, unless [the entity] first: (1) informs the
subject . . . in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected or
stored; (2) informs the subject . . . in writing of the specific purpose and length of term for which
a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected, stored, and used; and (3) receives
a written release executed by the subject of the biometric identifier or biometric information....”
740 ILCS 14/15(b) (emphasis added).
ANSWER:
Paragraph 44 of the First Amended Complaint purports to summarize portions of BIPA
and alleges legal conclusions, to which no answer is required. To the extent that an answer may
be required, Ceridian admits only that the statute is accurately quoted. Except as so stated, Ceridian
denies the allegations of Paragraph 44. Answering further, Ceridian expressly denies Plaintiff’s
interpretation of the quoted or referenced material.
45.
The BIPA also mandates that companies in possession of biometric data establish
and maintain a satisfactory biometric data retention (and—importantly—deletion) policy.
Specifically, those companies must: (i) make publicly available a written policy establishing a
retention schedule and guidelines for permanent deletion of biometric data (i.e., when the
employment relationship ends); and (ii) actually adhere to that retention schedule and actually
delete the biometric information. See 740 ILCS 14/15(a).
ANSWER:
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Paragraph 45 of the First Amended Complaint purports to summarize portions of BIPA
and alleges legal conclusions, to which no answer is required. To the extent that an answer may
be required, Ceridian admits only that BIPA speaks for itself and denies any allegations
inconsistent with the express language of the statute. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the
allegations of Paragraph 45.
46.

Unfortunately, Ceridian failed to comply with these BIPA mandates.

ANSWER:
Paragraph 46 consists of a legal conclusion to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 46.
47.
Ceridian is corporation and thus qualifies as a “private entity” under the BIPA. See
740 ILCS 14/10.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 47 of the First Amended Complaint asserts conclusions of law to which no
answer is required. To the extent an answer may be required, Ceridian admits only that it is a
corporation. Except as so stated, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 47.
48.
Plaintiff and the Class are individuals who had their “biometric identifiers”
collected by Ceridian (in the form of their fingerprint), as explained in detail in Section II. See 740
ILCS 14/10.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 48 consists of a legal conclusion to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 48, and incorporates by
reference its answers to Paragraphs in Section II. Further answering, Ceridian denies that any
class has been certified in this case or that any class should be certified in this case.
49.
Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers or information based on those
biometric identifiers were used to identify them, constituting “biometric information” as defined
by the BIPA. See 740 ILCS 14/10.
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ANSWER:
Paragraph 49 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 49. Further answering,
Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, states that none should be
certified, and denies that it collected, used or stored any biometric identifier or biometric
information of Plaintiff or the putative class members.
50.
Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(b)(3) by failing to obtain written releases from
Plaintiff and the Class before it collected, used, and stored their biometric identifiers and biometric
information.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 50 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 50. Further answering,
Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, states that none should be
certified, and specifically denies that it collected, used or stored any biometric identifier or
biometric information of Plaintiff or the putative class.
51.
Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(b)(1) by failing to inform Plaintiff and the Class
in writing that their biometric identifiers and biometric information were being collected and
stored.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 51 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 51. Further answering,
Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, states that none should be
certified, and specifically denies that it collected, used or stored any biometric identifier or
biometric information of Plaintiff or the putative class.
52.
Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(b)(2) by failing to inform Plaintiff and the Class
in writing of the specific purpose and length of time for which their biometric identifiers or
biometric information was being collected, stored, and used.
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ANSWER:
Paragraph 52 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 52. Further answering,
Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, states that none should be
certified, and denies that it collected, used or stored any biometric identifier or biometric
information of Plaintiff or the putative class.
53.
Ceridian violated 740 ILCS 14/15(a) by failing to publicly provide a retention
schedule or guideline for permanently destroying employees’ biometric identifiers and biometric
information.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 53 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 53. Further answering,
Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, states that none should be
certified, and denies that it collected, used or stored any biometric identifier or biometric
information of Plaintiff or the putative class.
54.
By collecting, storing, and using Plaintiff’s and the Class’s biometric identifiers
and biometric information as described herein, Ceridian violated Plaintiff’s and the Class’s rights
to privacy in their biometric identifiers or biometric information as set forth in the BIPA, 740 ILCS
14/1, et seq.
ANSWER:
Paragraph 54 consists of legal conclusions to which no answer is required. To the extent
an answer may be required, Ceridian denies the allegations of Paragraph 54. Further answering,
Ceridian denies that a plaintiff class has been certified in this action, states that none should be
certified, and denies that it collected, used or stored any biometric identifier or biometric
information of Plaintiff or the putative class.
55.
On behalf of herself and the Class, Plaintiff seeks: (1) injunctive and equitable relief
as is necessary to protect the interests of Plaintiff and the Class by requiring Defendant to comply
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with the BIPA’s requirements for the collection, storage, and use of biometric identifiers and
biometric information as described herein; (2) liquidated damages of $5,000 for each willful and/or
reckless violation of the BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(2) or, in the alternative, liquidated
damages of $1,000 for each negligent violation of the BIPA pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(1); and
(3) reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses pursuant to 740 ILCS 14/20(3).
ANSWER:
Ceridian admits that Plaintiff purports to seek the relief asserted in Paragraph 55, but
denies that Ceridian is failing to comply with BIPA’s requirements and further denies that it is
liable or responsible for any alleged damages or relief, and further denies that that it either
negligently, recklessly or intentionally violated BIPA.
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
Ceridian asserts the following Affirmative Defenses to the First Amended Complaint
(“Complaint”) and reserves the right to raise such additional affirmative defenses as may be
established during the conduct of discovery and in its investigation of this matter.
FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
The First Amended Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Ceridian was not the proximate cause of any alleged harm or damage to Plaintiff and/or
alleged members of the putative class, and Plaintiff was not aggrieved by Ceridian. Specifically,
the Standard Market was obligated to provide any notice and obtain any consent required to collect
any information from employees that was processed by Ceridian, including information generated
from the timeclocks with finger scanners. To the extent that Plaintiff was harmed or damaged by
the use of the timeclock with a finger scanner used by the Standard Market, such injury was caused
by the Standard Market.
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THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Ceridian is not liable under BIPA or under any other legal theory because, among other
reasons, Plaintiff and/or the alleged members of the putative class consented, either expressly or
constructively, to the use of their finger scans for use on the alleged timekeeping systems at issue.
Further, the claims are barred in whole or in part, to the extent Plaintiff adequately pleads
negligence, by the doctrine of primary assumption of risk. Upon information and belief, Plaintiff
and each putative class member approved and participated in the conduct of which they now
complain, including by voluntarily presenting their fingers to be scanned in connection with their
employer’s use of timeclocks and finger scan devices sold by Ceridian. This conduct indicates that
Plaintiffs and each putative class member implicitly consented to encounter an inherent and known
risk. As such, Plaintiffs and each putative class member excused Ceridian from any legal duty it
may have had in connection with the conduct at issue.
FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Ceridian is not liable under BIPA or under any other legal theory because any alleged
collection, capture, possession, disclosure, or other receipt of any alleged biometric information or
biometric identifiers was by third-parties, including but not limited to Plaintiff’s employer. To the
extent any employee, agent or contractor of Ceridian performed any act or engaged in any conduct
that violated the BIPA any such act or conduct was outside the scope of authority of such
employee, agent or contractor and was not authorized by Ceridian.
Furthermore, all or part of the damages alleged in the Complaint were caused by the acts
and/or omissions of other persons or entities (including, without limitation, acts and/or omissions
of Plaintiff and/or members of the putative class, and/or persons who acted on their behalf), and
for whose conduct Ceridian is not legally responsible, which intervened between the alleged acts
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and/or omissions of Ceridian and the alleged violations of BIPA and/or damages of Plaintiff and/or
members of the asserted putative class. The alleged damages, if any, are therefore not recoverable
from Ceridian. In the alternative, any damages that Plaintiff and/or members of the putative class
may be entitled to recover against Ceridian must be reduced to the extent that such damages are
attributable to persons or entities other than Ceridian.
FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Any award of statutory and/or punitive damages to Plaintiff and/or the putative class would
be grossly disproportionate to any actual injury or harm sustained by Plaintiff or any class member
and would therefore deny Ceridian its rights under the Due Process and Excessive Fines Clauses
of the United States Constitution. Furthermore, BIPA, particularly as applied to class actions,
imposes liabilities, damages, penalties, or fines that are so excessive, severe, and oppressive as to
be obviously unreasonable and wholly disproportionate to the offense of clocking in and our of
work, and BIPA thereby violates the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments
to the United States Constitution. In addition, the prayer for relief is barred in whole or in part
because Plaintiffs and the putative class members are not entitled to recover liquidated damages
under Section 14/20(1) or (2) of BIPA as such would be an unenforceable penalty. On behalf of
themselves and the putative class members, Plaintiffs seek an award of $5,000 for each willful or
reckless violation of the statute and $1,000 for each negligent violation. To the extent Plaintiffs,
allege that each instance of noncompliance with the separate provisions of the Act constitutes a
distinct violation and that Ceridian committed multiple violations of BIPA with respect to
Plaintiffs and each putative class member, any such recovery would not be a reasonable estimate
of actual damages, but instead would amount to a disparate penalty—more akin to punitive

23

FILED DATE: 4/1/2021 4:36 PM 2019CH06489

damages for strict liability—given that Plaintiffs and the putative class members have not suffered
any injury or harm to warrant such relief.
SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Any alleged loss or damage that Plaintiff (or any other alleged member of the putative
class) claims to have sustained is speculative and uncertain, and therefore is not compensable.
SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Any alleged information generated by the finger scan clocks offered by Ceridian is not
biometric information nor biometric identifiers, as those terms are defined by BIPA. The claims
are barred in whole or in part because the timeclocks and finger scan devices sold by Ceridian to
its customers do not collect, store, or capture “biometric identifiers” or “biometric information” as
defined by BIPA. To the extent that the statute applies to the timeclocks and finger scan devices
sold by Ceridian to its customers, the claims are barred in whole or in part based on Ceridian’s
good faith and reasonable interpretation of BIPA, substantial compliance therewith, and/or absence
of any intentional, reckless, or negligent violation of the statute.
EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Ceridian is not liable under BIPA or under any other legal theory because, among other
reasons, the claims of Plaintiff and/or alleged members of the putative class are barred, in whole
or in part, by the applicable statute of limitations and/or laches. Plaintiff’s, and each putative class
member’s, claims may be barred in whole or in part to the extent time-barred by the applicable
one-year statute of limitations for publication of matter violating a right of privacy (735 ILCS
5/13- 201), two-year statute of limitations to recover damages for injury to person or for a statutory
penalty (735 ILCS 5/13-202), and/or five-year statute of limitations for civil actions not otherwise
subject to a limitations period (735 ILCS 5/13-205). To the extent that Plaintiff believes that the
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Standard Market and/or Ceridian violated BIPA with respect to the collection of her data, she could
have provided notice to Ceridian of such purported violation upon the first use of the device. At
no time prior to the filing of the Complaint did Plaintiff notify Ceridian that she believed Ceridian
had violated BIPA with respect to the collection of her data, nor did she inquire as to the existence
of a policy establishing guidelines for the deletion of information collected by the finger scan
timekeeping device.

Further, on information and belief, Plaintiff never made any inquiry

whatsoever, either through Standard Market, Ceridian, or otherwise, seeking any information or
policies regarding the alleged collection of her biometric information or biometric identifiers.
NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
To the extent any employee or agent of Ceridian performed any act or engaged in any
conduct violative of BIPA, any such act or conduct was outside the scope of authority of such
employee or agent and was not authorized by Ceridian.
TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claims are limited to the extent that Plaintiff failed to mitigate the alleged
damages. To the extent that Plaintiff believes that the Standard Market and/or Ceridian violated
BIPA with respect to the collection of her data, she should have provided notice to Ceridian of
such purported violation upon the first use of the device. At no time prior to the filing of the
Complaint did Plaintiff notify Ceridian that she believed Ceridian had violated BIPA with respect
to the collection of her data, nor did she inquire as to the existence of a policy establishing
guidelines for the deletion of information collected by the finger scan timekeeping device.
ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of waiver or estoppel. To
the extent that Plaintiff believes that the Standard Market and/or Ceridian violated BIPA with
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respect to the collection of her data, she could have provided notice to Ceridian of such purported
violation upon the first use of the device. At no time prior to the filing of the Complaint did Plaintiff
notify Ceridian that she believed Ceridian had violated BIPA with respect to the collection of her
data, nor did she inquire as to the existence of a policy establishing guidelines for the deletion of
information collected by the finger scan timekeeping device.
TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
BIPA is violative of Article IV, Section 13 of the Illinois Constitution’s prohibition against
special legislation as it confers benefits or exclusive privileges on certain persons or groups of
persons to the exclusion of other similarly situate

BIPA excludes from its mandates certain

financial institutions, affiliates of certain financial institutions, government agencies, and
government contractors, and it fails to provide its benefits to employees of certain financials
institutions, government employees, and employees of government contractors when working in
their capacity as government contractors. BIPA’s conferral of benefits on certain persons or groups
of persons, including Plaintiff and putative class members, while excluding other persons or groups
of persons, including employees of financial institutions and government entities, for no rational
reason is improper and violative of the Illinois Constitution and the statute should be stricken.
THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff may not maintain this lawsuit as a class action because the purported claims of the
putative class representative are not sufficiently typical of those of the purported class members,
common issues of fact and law do not predominate over individual issues, liability and damages
cannot be proven on a class-wide basis, the putative plaintiff class representative will not
adequately represent the purported plaintiff class, the putative plaintiff class is not ascertainable,
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the proposed class action would not be manageable, and a class action is not a superior method for
adjudication of the purported claims set forth in the Complaint.
Additionally and separately, as a matter of constitutional right and substantive due process,
Ceridian would be entitled to contest its liability to any particular individual plaintiff, even if the
representative of the purported plaintiff class prevails on his claims. Trying this case as a class
action would violate the U.S. Constitution and the Illinois Constitution.
FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Any alleged conduct by Ceridian occurred outside of Illinois and, therefore, the application
of BIPA to the alleged conduct would require the improper extraterritorial application of an Illinois
statute. Each class member’s claims are barred in whole or in part to the extent they require the
extraterritorial application of BIPA and/or violate the Dormant Commerce Clause where the
alleged violations occurred outside of the State of Illinois such that enforcement of the statute
against Ceridian would impermissibly regulate and control commercial activity beyond state
boundaries. Any and all alleged conduct by Ceridian occurred outside of Illinois. Moreover, in
regulating the commercial exchange of information in private hands and requiring significant
disclosures, BIPA infringes First Amendment protections of commercial speech and against
compelled speech.
FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Upon information and belief, Ceridian alleges that some or all members of the putative
class may be bound by an agreement to arbitrate. Accordingly, Ceridian reserves its right to seek
individual arbitration where appropriate.
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SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s and putative class members’ claims are preempted, in whole or in part, by
applicable Federal Law, including but not limited to: the Interstate Commerce Commission
Termination Act (“ICCTA”), 49 U.S.C. § 10101 et seq.; the Federal Railroad Safety Act, 49
U.S.C. § 20101 et seq.; the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act, 49 U.S.C. §
14501(c) et seq.; the Railway Labor Act, 45 U.S.C. § 151, et seq.; and Section 301 of the Labor
Management Relations Act of 1947, 29 U.S.C. § 185(a) (to the extent that Plaintiff /or some or all
of the putative class members are union members).
SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
The Complaint is barred in whole or in part under the doctrines of issue or claim preclusion.
Plaintiff, and other putative class members have pending duplicative claims that overlap with their
claims here, and which therefore may be precluded.
EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, to the extent they are or become moot as
to Plaintiff and some or all members of the putative class. Settlements or dispositive rulings in
overlapping BIPA actions may moot the claims at issue here.
NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claims are barred, in whole or in part, to the extent they have been released as to
Plaintiff and some or all members of the putative class. Plaintiff and putative class members have
released their BIPA related claims through settlements or dispositive rulings in overlapping BIPA
actions against their employers for the same alleged collection, use, storage or dissemination of
their purported biometric information or biometric identifiers at issue here.
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TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Putative class members’ and Plaintiff’s claims may be preempted pursuant to labor law
preemption, preemption under the Illinois Worker’s Compensation Act, or BIPA exclusions as
contained in 740 ILCS 14/25, or as provided in any provision of BIPA.
TWENTY FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
The claims are barred in whole or in part because any alleged disclosure falls within BIPA’s
financial transaction exception. Specifically, BIPA permits disclosure of biometric identifiers or
biometric information to “complete[] a financial transaction requested or authorized by the
subject.” 740 ILCS 14/15(d)(2). Any disclosure by Ceridian of biometric identifiers or biometric
information of Plaintiff or members of the putative class was for the purpose of completing a
financial transaction requested or authorized by Plaintiff or members of the putative class.
TWENTY SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
Upon information and belief, Ceridian alleges that some or all members of the putative
class may be bound by class action waivers. Accordingly, putative class members have waived
their right to participate in a class action and their right to join Plaintiff’s claims asserted in this
matter as a putative class member.

Dated: April 1, 2021

Respectfully submitted,
CERIDIAN HCM, INC., Defendant
By:
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/s/ Molly K. McGinley
One of their Attorneys
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Molly K. McGinley
Kenn Brotman
Marvis A. Barnes, II
K&L GATES LLP
70 W. Madison Street, Suite 3100
Chicago, Illinois 60602
Telephone: (312) 807-4419
Facsimile: (312) 345-9060
molly.mcginley@klgates.com
kenn.brotman@klgates.com
marvis.barnes@klgates.com
Attorney No.: 45515
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
The undersigned, an attorney, certifies that she caused a true and correct copy of the
preceding Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc.’s Answer to Plaintiff’s First Amended Class Action
Complaint, to be served through the Odyssey e-file system on the following counsel of record on
April 1, 2021:
J. Eli Wade-Scott
Edelson PC
350 North LaSalle Street, 14th Floor
Chicago, IL 60654
Tel: 312.589.6370
Fax: 312.589.6378
ewadescott@edelson.com
Firm ID: 62075
David Fish
The Fish Law Firm, P.C.
200 East Fifth Avenue, Suite 123
Naperville, IL 60563
Tel: 630.355.7590
Fax: 630.778.0400
dfish@fishlawfirm.com
Firm ID: 44086
Attorneys for Plaintiff

/s/ Molly K. McGinley
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EXHIBIT 8

EXHIBIT 9

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
RACHEL LABARRE, individually and on
behalf of the Settlement Class,
Case No. 2019 CH 06489
Plaintiff,
Calendar 2
v.
CERIDIAN HCM, INC., an Illinois
corporation,
Defendant.
DECLARATION OF SCHUYLER UFKES
IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S MOTION AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW FOR
ATTORNEYS’ FEES, EXPENSES, AND INCENTIVE AWARD
Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil
Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are true and
correct, except as to matters therein stated to be on information and belief, and as to such matters
the undersigned certifies as aforesaid that he verily believes the same to be true:
1.

I am an attorney admitted to practice before the Supreme Court of the State of

Illinois. I am entering this Declaration in support of Plaintiff’s Motion and Memorandum of Law
for Attorneys’ Fees, Expenses, and Incentive Award (the “Motion”). This Declaration is based
upon my personal knowledge except where expressly noted otherwise. If called upon to testify to
the matters stated herein, I could and would competently do so.
2.

I am an associate at the law firm of Edelson PC (also referred to as the “Firm”),

which has been retained to represent the named Plaintiff in this matter, Rachel LaBarre
(“Plaintiff” or “LaBarre”), and have been appointed Class Counsel—along with Jay Edelson and

1

J. Eli Wade-Scott of my Firm and David Fish of Fish Potter Bolaños, P.C.—on behalf of the
Settlement Class.1
The Litigation and Settlement History
3.

On August 13, 2021, I served Plaintiff’s first set of interrogatories and documents

requests on Defendant Ceridian HCM, Inc. (“Defendant” or “Ceridian”), to which Ceridian
responded on September 20, 2021.
4.

While this discovery was proceeding—and with Defendant’s motion to bifurcate

still pending—my Firm and I began to engage in class-wide settlement discussions with counsel
for Ceridian. After exchanging several demands and counteroffers, the parties agreed that a
formal mediation would be productive. On February 3, 2022, my Firm and I participated in a
full-day, formal mediation session with counsel for Ceridian and representatives from Ceridian,
with the assistance of Honorable James F. Holderman (Ret.) of JAMS in Chicago. My Firm and I
negotiated with counsel for Ceridian throughout the day and ultimately reached an agreement on
the material terms of a class-wide settlement at the end of the mediation session. That agreement
was memorialized in a Memorandum of Understanding, which was executed on February 3,
2022. Counsel for Ceridian and I then prepared and negotiated the final terms of the settlement
over the next several months, and both parties fully executed the final Settlement Agreement on
April 20, 2022.
Class Counsel’s Work in this Litigation
5.

In this case, my Firm agreed to undertake Plaintiffs’ and the class’s case on a

contingent basis. We recognized from the beginning that achieving recovery for the class was far

1

Except as otherwise indicated, all defined terms used in this Declaration shall have the
same meanings ascribed to them in the proposed Settlement Agreement.
2

from guaranteed, given the many issues of first impression presented in a case brought under the
Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act.
6.

Nevertheless, given our Firm’s proven track record of effectively and

successfully prosecuting complex class actions (see Firm Resume of Edelson PC, attached hereto
as Exhibit 9-A), we undertook the prosecution of the class’s claims on a purely contingent basis
7.

The Firm Resume of Edelson PC attached hereto as Exhibit 9-A is a true and

accurate copy.
8.

Throughout litigating this case, our Firm has incurred $16,555.15 in expenses,

which include filing fees, mediation fees, and process server fees for third-party subpoenas.
These expenses are being considered as part of Class Counsel’s percentage-of-the recovery
request—i.e., they are not being requested separately on top of the requested attorneys’ fees.
Plaintiff LaBarre’s Involvement in this Action
9.

Finally, I believe that Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre’s participation was critical to the

case’s resolution and that Ms. LaBarre dutifully represented the interests of the Settlement Class
throughout the case. She was involved in all aspects of the case, including assisting in Class
Counsel’s pre-suit investigation, providing information to Class Counsel to prepare the
pleadings, reviewing the Complaint and First Amended Complaint before filing, conferring with
Class Counsel throughout the litigation and settlement process, and ultimately reviewing and
approving the Settlement Agreement before signing it.
10.

Were it not for Ms. LaBarre’s efforts and contributions to the litigation, the

Settlement Class would not have obtained the substantial benefits conferred by the Settlement.
11.

Neither Ms. LaBarre’s retention agreement nor her participation in this Action

were in any way predicated on her receiving any benefit based on her involvement. Ms. LaBarre

3

was not promised anything in exchange for her service as the named plaintiff or putative class
representative.
12.

Ultimately, Ms. LaBarre’s willingness to commit time to this litigation and

undertake the responsibilities involved in representative litigation resulted in substantial benefits
to the Settlement Class and fully justifies the requested incentive award.
*

*

*

I declare under penalty of the perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed on
August 23, 2022 at Chicago, Illinois.

/s/Schuyler Ufkes
Schuyler Ufkes
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“National reputation as a maverick in [its]

commitment to pursuing big-ticket . . .
cases."
—Law360
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Who We Are
EDELSON PC is a law firm concentrating on high stakes plaintiff’s work
ranging from class and mass actions to public client investigations and
prosecutions. The cases we have litigated—as either lead counsel or as
part of a broader leadership structure—have resulted in settlements and
verdicts totaling over $20 billion.
 e hold records for the largest jury verdict in a privacy case ($925m),
W
the largest consumer privacy settlement ($650m), and the largest TCPA
settlement ($76m). We also secured one of the most important consumer
privacy decisions in the U.S. Supreme Court (Robins v. Spokeo). Our class
actions, brought against the national banks in the wake of the housing
collapse, restored over $5 billion in home equity credit lines. We served
as counsel to a member of the 11-person Tort Claimant’s Committee in the
PG&E Bankruptcy, resulting in a historic $13.5 billion settlement. We are the
only firm to have established that online apps can constitute illegal gambling
under state law, resulting in settlements that are collectively worth $200
million. We are co-lead counsel in the NCAA personal injury concussion
cases, leading an MDL involving over 300 class action lawsuits. And we
are representing, or have represented, regulators in cases involving the
deceptive marketing of opioids, environmental cases, privacy cases against
Facebook, Uber, Google and others, cases related to the marketing of
e-cigarettes to children, and cases asserting claims that energy companies
and for-profit hospitals abused the public trust.
 e have testified before the United States Senate and state legislative
W
and regulatory bodies on class action and consumer protection issues,
cybersecurity and privacy (including election security, children’s privacy and
surreptitious geotracking), sex abuse in children’s sports, and gambling,
and have repeatedly been asked to work on federal, state, and municipal
legislation involving a broad range of issues. We speak regularly at seminars
on consumer protection and class action issues, and routinely lecture at law
schools and other graduate programs.
 e have a “one-of-a-kind” investigation team that sets us apart from others
W
in the plaintiff's bar. Our dedicated “internal lab of computer forensic
engineers and tech-savvy lawyers” investigate issues related to “fraudulent
software and hardware, undisclosed tracking of online consumer activity
and illegal data retention,” among numerous other technology related issues
facing consumers. Cybersecurity & Privacy Practice Group of the Year,
Law360 (January 2019).

edelson.com
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Who We Are

Instead of chasing the headlines, our case development team
is leading the country in both identifying emerging privacy and
technology issues, as well as crafting novel legal theories to match.
Some examples of their groundbreaking accomplishments include:
demonstrating that Microsoft and Apple were continuing to collect
certain geolocation data even after consumers turned “location
services” to “off”; filing multiple suits revealing mobile apps that
“listen” through phone microphones without consent; filing a lawsuit
stemming from personal data collection practices of an intimate IoT
device; and filing suit against a data analytics company alleging that it
had surreptitiously installed tracking software on consumer computers.

As the Hollywood
Reporter explained,
we are “accustomed
to big cases that have
lasting legacy.”

edelson.com
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Our Practice
General Mass/Class Tort Litigation
We currently represent, among others, labor unions seeking to recover
losses arising out of the opioid crisis, classes of student athletes suffering
from the long-term effects of concussive and sub-concussive injuries,
hundreds of families suffering the ill-effects of air and water contamination in
their communities, and individuals damaged by the “Camp Fire” in Northern
California.
Representative cases and settlements include:
 epresenting over 1,000 victims of the Northern California “Camp Fire,” allegedly caused
R
by utility company Pacific Gas & Electric. Served as counsel to a member of the 11-person
Tort Claimants' Committee in the PG&E Bankruptcy, resulting in a historic $13.5 billion
settlement.
Representing hundreds of victims of Oregon's 2020 "Beachie Creek" and "Holiday
Farm" fires, allegedly caused by local utility companies. The Beachie Creek and Holiday
Farm fires together burned approximately 400,000 acres, destroyed more than 2,000
structures, and took the lives of at least six individuals.
In re Nat’l Collegiate Athletic Ass’n Single School/Single Sport Concussion Litig., No. 16cv-8727, MDL No. 2492 (N.D. Ill.): Appointed co-lead counsel in MDL against the NCAA, its
conferences, and member institutions alleging personal injury claims on behalf of college
football players resulting from repeated concussive and sub-concussive hits.
 epresenting numerous labor unions and health and welfare funds seeking to recover
R
losses arising out of the opioid crisis. See, e.g., Illinois Public Risk Fund v. Purdue Pharma
L.P., et al., No. 2019-CH-05847 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.); Int’l Union of Operating Eng’rs, Local
150, et al. v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., No. 2019-CH-01548 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.); Village
of Addison et al. v. Actavis LLC et al., No. 2020-CH-05181 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.).

edelson.com
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Environmental Litigation
We represent hundreds of families harmed by the damaging effects of
ethylene oxide exposure in their communities, consumers and businesses
whose local water supply was contaminated by a known toxic chemical,
and property owners impacted by the flightpath of Navy fighter planes.
Representative cases and settlements include:
Representing three state Attorneys General in their investigations into
contamination and exposure issues resulting from a “forever chemical” commonly
referred to as PFAS.
Representing a state Attorney General in investigating and potentially litigating
matters related to the problematic use of a pesticide used in homes, on agricultural
crops, lawns, and gardens, and as a fumigating agent—that is now known to have
contaminated soil and groundwater.
Representing hundreds of individuals around the country that are suffering the illeffects of ethylene oxide exposure—a gas commonly used in medical sterilization
processes. We have brought over 100 personal injury and wrongful death cases
against EtO emitters across the country, as well as numerous medical monitoring
class actions. Brincks et al. v. Medline Indus., Inc., et al., No. 2020-L-008754 (Cir. Ct.
Cook Cty., Ill.); Leslie v. Steris Isomedix Operations, Inc., et al., No. 20-cv-01654 (N.D.
Ill.); Jackson v. 3M Company, et al., No. 19-cv-00522 (D.S.C.).
Representing hundreds of individuals who have been exposed through their
own drinking water and otherwise to PFAS and related "forever chemicals" used
in various applications. This exposure has allegedly led to serious health issues,
including cancer, as well as the devaluation of private property due to, among
other things, the destruction of the water supply. In conjunction with our work in
this space, we have been appointed to the Plaintiff's Executive Committee in In re:
Aqueous Film-Forming Foams (AFFF) Prods. Liability Litig., 18-mn-2873-RMG, MDL
No. 2873 (D.S.C.).
Representing property owners on Whidbey Island, Washington, whose homes sit
directly in the flightpath of dozens of Navy fighter planes. The Navy is alleged to
have significantly increased the number of these planes at the bases at issue, as
well as the frequency of their flights, to the detriment of our clients’ privacy and
properties. Pickard v. USA, No. 19-1928L (Ct. Fed. Claims); Newkirk v. USA, No. 20628L (Ct. Fed. Claims).
 ur team has been designated as Panel Members on a State Attorney General’s
O
Environmental Counsel Panel.

edelson.com
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Banking, Lending, and Finance Litigation
We were at the forefront of litigation arising from the aftermath of the federal
bailouts of the banks. Our suits included claims that certain banks unlawfully
suspended home credit lines based on pretextual reasons, and that certain
banks failed to honor loan modification programs. We achieved the first
federal appellate decision in the country recognizing the right of borrowers
to enforce HAMP plans under state law. The court noted that “[p]rompt
resolution of this matter is necessary not only for the good of the litigants
but for the good of the Country.” Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 673 F.3d
547, 586 (7th Cir. 2012) (Ripple, J., concurring). Our settlements restored
billions of dollars in home credit lines to people throughout the country.
Representative cases and settlements include:
In re JP Morgan Chase Bank Home Equity Line of Credit Litig., No. 10-cv-3647 (N.D.
Ill.): Co-lead counsel in nationwide putative class action alleging illegal suspensions
of home credit lines. Settlement restored between $3.2 billion and $4.7 billion in
credit to the class.
 amilton v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., No. 09-cv-04152-CW (N.D. Cal.): Lead counsel in
H
class actions challenging Wells Fargo’s suspensions of home equity lines of credit.
Nationwide settlement restored access to over $1 billion in credit and provides
industry leading service enhancements and injunctive relief.
In re Citibank HELOC Reduction Litig., No. 09-cv-0350-MMC (N.D. Cal.): Lead counsel
in class actions challenging Citibank’s suspensions of home equity lines of credit.
The settlement restored up to $653 million worth of credit to affected borrowers.
 W
 igod v. Wells Fargo, No. 10-cv-2348 (N.D. Ill.): Obtained first appellate decision
in the country recognizing the right of private litigants to sue to enforce HAMP
plans. Settlement provided class members with permanent loan modifications and
substantial cash payments.

edelson.com
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Privacy and Data Security
The New York Times has explained that our “cases read like a time capsule
of the last decade, charting how computers have been steadfastly logging
data about our searches, our friends, our bodies.” Courts have described
our attorneys as “pioneers in the electronic privacy class action field,
having litigated some of the largest consumer class actions in the country
on this issue.” See In re Facebook Privacy Litig., No. 10-cv-02389 (N.D.
Cal. Dec. 10, 2010) (order appointing us interim co-lead of privacy class
action); see also In re Netflix Privacy Litig., No. 11-cv-00379 (N.D. Cal. Aug.
12, 2011) (appointing us sole lead counsel due, in part, to our “significant and
particularly specialized expertise in electronic privacy litigation and class
actions”). In Barnes v. Aryzta, No. 17-cv-7358 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 22, 2019), the court
endorsed an expert opinion finding that we “should ‘be counted among
the elite of the profession generally and [in privacy litigation] specifically’
because of [our] expertise in the area.”
Representative cases and settlements include:
In re Facebook Biometric Privacy Litig., No. 15-cv-03747 (N.D.
Cal.): Filed the first of its kind class action against Facebook
under the Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act, alleging
Facebook collected facial recognition data from its users without
authorization. Appointed Class Counsel in securing adversarial
certification of class of Illinois Facebook users. Case settled on the
eve of trial for a record breaking $650 million.
W
 akefield v. Visalus, No. 15-cv-01857 (D. Ore. Apr. 12, 2019): Lead
counsel in class action alleging that defendant violated federal law
by making unsolicited telemarketing calls. Obtained jury verdict
and judgment equating to more than $925 million in damages to
the class.

edelson.com
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Privacy and Data Security
Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540 (2016): Lead counsel in the
landmark case affirming the ability of plaintiffs to bring statutory
claims for relief in federal court. The United States Supreme Court
rejected the argument that individuals must allege “real world”
harm to have standing to sue in federal court; instead the court
recognized that “intangible” harms and even the “risk of future
harm” can establish “standing.” Commentators have called Spokeo
the most significant consumer privacy case in recent years.
 irchmeier v. Caribbean Cruise Line, Inc., et al., No. 12-cv-4069
B
(N.D. Ill.): Co-lead counsel in class action alleging that defendant
violated federal law by making unsolicited telemarketing calls.
On the eve of trial, the case resulted in the largest Telephone
Consumer Protection settlement to date, totaling $76 million.
Satterfield v. Simon & Schuster, Inc., 569 F.3d 946 (9th Cir.
2009): Won first ever federal decision finding that text messages
constituted “calls” under the TCPA. In total, we have secured text
message settlements worth over $100 million.
K
 usinski v. ADP LLC, No. 2017-CH-12364 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty. Ill.):
Secured key victories establishing the liability of time clock vendors
under the Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act and the largestever BIPA settlement in the employment context with a time clock
vendor for $25 million.
Dunstan v. comScore, Inc., No. 11-cv-5807 (N.D. Ill.): Lead counsel
in certified class action accusing Internet analytics company of
improper data collection practices. The case settled for $14 million.
D
 oe v. Ann & Robert H. Lurie Children’s Hosp. of Chi., No. 2020CH-04123 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.): Lead counsel in a class action
alleging breach of contract, breach of confidentiality, negligent
supervision, and other claims against Lurie Children’s Hospital
after employees allegedly accessed medical records without
permission.

edelson.com
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Privacy and Data Security
 merican Civil Liberties Union et al. v. Clearview AI, Inc., No. 2020A
CH-04353 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.): Representing the American Civil
Liberties Union in lawsuit against Clearview AI for violating the
Illinois Biometric Information Privacy Act through its collection and
storage of Illinois residents’ faceprints.
Consumer Watchdog v. Zoom Video Commc'ns, Inc., No. 20-cv02526 (D.D.C): Representing advocacy group Consumer Watchdog
in its lawsuit against Zoom Video Communications Inc, alleging the
company falsely promised to protect communications through endto-end encryption.
M
 ocek v. AllSaints USA Ltd., No. 2016-CH-10056 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty,
Ill.): Lead counsel in a class action alleging the clothing company
AllSaints violated federal law by revealing consumer credit card
numbers and expiration dates. Case settled for $8 million with class
members receiving about $300 each.
R
 esnick v. Avmed, No. 10-cv-24513 (S.D. Fla.): Lead counsel in
data breach case filed against a health insurance company.
Obtained landmark appellate decision endorsing common law
unjust enrichment theory, irrespective of whether identity theft
occurred. Case also resulted in the first class action settlement in
the country to provide data breach victims with monetary payments
irrespective of whether they suffered identity theft.
N
 .P. v. Standard Innovation (US), Corp., No. 1:16-cv-08655 (N.D.
Ill.): Brought and resolved first ever IoT privacy class action against
adult-toy manufacturer accused of collecting and recording highly
intimate and sensitive personal use data. Case resolved for $3.75
million.
H
 alaburda v. Bauer Publ’g Co., No. 12-cv-12831 (E.D. Mich.); Grenke
v. Hearst Commc'ns, Inc., No. 12-cv-14221 (E.D. Mich.); Fox v. Time,
Inc., No. 12-cv-14390 (E.D. Mich.): Lead counsel in consolidated
actions brought under Michigan’s Preservation of Personal
Privacy Act, alleging unlawful disclosure of subscribers’ personal
information to data miners. In a ground-breaking decision, the
court denied three motions to dismiss finding that the magazine
publishers were covered by the act and that the illegal sale of
personal information triggers an automatic $5,000 award to each
aggrieved consumer. Secured a $30 million in cash settlement and
industry-changing injunctive relief.
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

General Consumer Matters
We have represented plaintiffs in consumer fraud cases in courts nationwide
against companies alleged to have been peddling fraudulent software,
engaging in online gambling businesses in violation of state law, selling
defective products, or engaging in otherwise unlawful conduct.
Representative cases and settlements include:
H
 aving secured a watershed Ninth Circuit victory for consumers
in Kater v. Churchill Downs Inc., 886 F.3d 784 (9th Cir. 2018), we
are now pursuing consumer claims against more than a dozen
gambling companies for allegedly profiting off of illegal internet
casinos. Settlements in several of these cases total $200 million.
P
 rosecuted over 100 cases alleging that unauthorized charges for
mobile content were placed on consumer cell phone bills. Cases
collectively settled for over $100 million. See, e.g., McFerren v.
AT&T Mobility LLC, No. 08-cv-151322 (Sup. Ct. Fulton Cty., Ga.);
Paluzzi et al. v. mBlox, Inc., et al., No. 2007-CH-37213, (Cir. Ct. Cook
Cty., Ill.); Williams et al. v. Motricity, Inc. et al., No. 2009-CH-19089
(Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.).
 delson PC v. Christopher Bandas, et al., No. 1:16-cv-11057 (N.D.
E
Ill.): Filed groundbreaking lawsuit seeking to hold professional
objectors and their law firms responsible for, among other things,
alleged practice of objecting to class action settlements in order to
extort payments for themselves, and the unauthorized practice of
law. After several years of litigation and discovery, secured first of
its kind permanent injunction against the objector and his law firm,
which, inter alia, barred them from practicing in Illinois or asserting
objections to class action settlements in any jurisdiction absent
meeting certain criteria.
B
 rought numerous cases alleging that defendants deceptively
designed and marketed computer repair software. Cases
collectively settled for over $45 million. Beaton v. SpeedyPC
Software, 907 F.3d 1018 (7th Cir. 2018).
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

General Consumer Matters
McCormick, et al. v. Adtalem Glob. Educ., Inc., et al., No. 2018-CH04872 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill): After students at one of the country’s
largest for-profit colleges, DeVry University, successfully advanced
their claims that the school allegedly induced them to enroll and
charged a premium based on inflated job placement statistics,
the parties agreed to a $45 million settlement—the largest private
settlement DeVry has entered into regarding the claims.
1050 W. Columbia Condo. Ass’n v. CSC ServiceWorks, Inc., No.
2019-CH-07319 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill): Representing a class of
landlords in securing a multifaceted settlement—including a cash
component of up to $30 million—with a laundry service provider
over claims that the provider charged fees that were allegedly
not permitted in the parties' contracts. The settlement's unique
structure allows class members to choose repayment in the near
term, or to lock in more favorable rates for the next decade.
Dickey v. Advanced Micro Devices, Inc., No. 15-cv-4922 (N.D. Cal.):
Lead counsel in a complex consumer class action alleging AMD
falsely advertised computer chips to consumers as “eight-core”
processors that were, in reality, disguised four-core processors.
The case settled for $12.1 million.
Barrett v. RC2 Corp., No. 2007 CH 20924 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.):
Co-lead counsel in lead paint recall case involving Thomas the
Tank toy trains. Settlement was valued at over $30 million and
provided class with full cash refunds and reimbursement of certain
costs related to blood testing.
In re Pet Food Prods. Liability Litig., No. 07-cv-2867 (D.N.J.): Part
of mediation team in class action involving largest pet food recall
in United States history. Settlement provided $24 million common
fund and $8 million in charge backs.
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Prior to entering academia, I was a lawyer at the national office of the American
Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) for nearly a decade, during which time I pursued
civil rights campaigns on behalf of minority groups. Based on that experience,
it strikes me that what Class Counsel have pursued here is closer in form to a
civil rights litigation campaign than it is to a series of discrete class action settlements. Class Counsel saw an injustice – a thinly disguised form of gambling
preying on those most vulnerable to addictive gambling – and they sought to fix
it. Their goal was not to win a case but to reform an entire industry, much like
a civil rights campaign might aim to reform a particular type of discriminatory practice across an entire employment sector. To accomplish this end, Class
Counsel went far beyond what lawyers pursuing a simple class action case would
normally do. Class Counsel pursued multiple cases. Class Counsel pursued multiple defendants. Class Counsel filed actions in multiple forums. Class Counsel
tested various state laws. Class Counsel built websites to help app users avoid
forced arbitration clauses, lobbied legislators and regulators, and took their efforts to the media. When Class Counsel lost, they did not give up, but changed
tactics or forums and kept going. And they did all of this with their own funds,
risking millions of dollars of their own money to end this practice. What they
have achieved so far, with these initial settlements, is an astounding accomplishment that begins to chip away at the perncious underlying social casinos.
-William B. Rubenstein, Bruce Bromley Professor of Law at Harvard Law School and sole author of
the Newberg on Class Actions (5th Edition).

★

Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Insurance Matters
We have successfully represented individuals and companies in a multitude
of insurance related actions, including dozens of businesses whose business
interruption insurance claims were denied by various insurers in the wake
of the COVID-19 crisis. We successfully prosecuted and settled multi-million
dollar suits against J.C. Penney Life Insurance for allegedly illegally denying
life insurance benefits under an unenforceable policy exclusion and against
a Wisconsin insurance company for terminating the health insurance policies
of groups of self-insureds.
Representative cases and settlements include:
Biscuit Cafe Inc. et al. v. Society Ins., Inc., No. 20-cv-02514 (N.D. Ill.);
America's Kids, LLC v. Zurich American Ins. Co., No. 20-cv-03520
(N.D. Ill.); MAIA Salon Spa and Wellness Corp. et al. v. Sentinel Ins.
Co., Ltd. et al., No. 20-cv-3805 (E.D.N.Y.); Badger Crossing, Inc. v.
Society Ins., Inc., No. 2020CV000957 (Cir. Ct. Dane Cty., WI); and
Sea Land Air Travel, Inc. v. Auto-Owners Inc. Co. et al., No. 20005872-CB (Cir. Ct. Wayne Cty., MI): In one of the most prominent
areas for class action litigation related to the COVID-19 pandemic,
we were among the first to file class action lawsuits against the
insurance industry to recover insurance benefits for business
owners whose businesses were shuttered by the pandemic.
We represent an array of small and family-owned businesses—
including restaurants and eateries, movie theatres, salons, retail
stores, healthcare providers, and travel agencies—in a labyrinthine
legal dispute about whether commercial property insurance
policies cover business income losses that occurred as a result
of business interruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. With
over 800 cases filed nationwide to date, we have played an active
role in efforts to coordinate the work of plaintiffs' attorneys through
the Insurance Law Section of the American Association for Justice
(AAJ), including by leading various roundtables and workgroups
as the State Co-Chairs for Illinois, Wisconsin, and Michigan of
the Business Interruption Litigation Taskforce (BILT), a national
collaborative of nearly 300 practitioners representing policyholders
in insurance claims arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Insurance Matters
Holloway v. J.C. Penney, No. 97-cv-4555 (N.D. Ill.): One of the
primary attorneys in a multi-state class action suit alleging that the
defendant illegally denied life insurance benefits to the class. Case
settled, resulting in a multi-million dollar cash award to the class.
 amlow v. Family Health Plan, 2000CV003886 (Wis. Cir. Ct.): CoR
lead counsel in a class action suit challenging defendant’s termination
of health insurance to groups of self-insureds. The plaintiff won a
temporary injunction, which was sustained on appeal, prohibiting
such termination. Case eventually settled, ensuring that each class
member would remain insured.
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Public Client Litigation and Investigations
We have been retained as outside counsel by states, cities, and other
regulators to handle investigations and litigation relating to environmental
issues, the marketing of opioids and e-cigarettes, privacy issues, and
general consumer fraud.
Representative cases and settlements include:
S
 tate of Idaho v. Purdue Pharma L.P., et al., No. CV01-19-10061 (Cir.
Ct. Ada Cty., Idaho): Representing the State of Idaho, and nearly
50 other governmental entities— with a cumulative constituency
of over three million Americans—in litigation against manufacturers
and distributors of prescription opioids.
D
 istrict of Columbia v. Juul Labs, Inc., No. 2019 CA 07795 B
(D.C. Super. Ct.): Representing the District of Columbia in a suit
against e-cigarette giant Juul Labs, Inc. for alleged predatory and
deceptive marketing.
S
 tate of New Mexico, ex. rel. Hector Balderas v. Google, LLC, No.
20-cv-00143 (D.N.M): Representing the State of New Mexico in a
case against Google for violating the Children’s Online Privacy
Protection Act by collecting data from children under the age of 13
through its G-Suite for Education products and services.
District of Columbia v. Facebook, Inc., No. 2018 CA 8715 B (D.C.
Super. Ct.) and People of Illinois v. Facebook Inc., et al., No. 2018CH-03868 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.): Representing the District of
Columbia as well as the People of the State of Illinois (through the
Cook County State's Attorney) in lawsuits against the world's largest
social network, Facebook, and Cambridge Analytica—a Londonbased electioneering firm—for allegedly collecting (or allowing the
collecting of) and misusing the private data of 50 million Facebook
users.
 omEd Bribery Litigation: Representing the Citizens Utility Board,
C
the statutorily-designated representative of Illinois utility ratepayers,
in pursuing Commonwealth Edison for its alleged role in a decadelong bribery scheme.
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Plaintiff's Class and
Mass Action Practice

Public Client Litigation and Investigations
City of Cincinnati, et al. v. FirstEnergy, et al., No. 20CV007005
(Ohio C.P.): Representing Columbus and Cincinnati in litigation
against First Energy over the largest political corruption scandal in
Ohio's history. Obtained preliminary injunction, which prevented
electric utilities from collecting more than $1 billion of new fees
from being collected from ratepayers
V
 illage of Melrose Park v. Pipeline Health Sys. LLC, et al., No.
19-CH-03041 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.): Successfully represented
the Village of Melrose Park in litigation arising from the closure
of Westlake Hospital in what has been called “one of the most
complicated hospital closure disputes in the state’s history.”
In re Marriott Int’l, Inc. Customer Data Security Breach Litig., 19-md02879, MDL 2879 (D. Md.): Representing the City of Chicago in the
ongoing Marriott data breach litigation.
In re Equifax, Inc., Customer Data Security Breach Litig., 17-md02800 (N.D. Ga.): Successfully represented the City of Chicago in
the Equifax data breach litigation, securing a landmark seven-figure
settlement under Chicago's City-specific ordinance.
C
 ity of Chicago, et al. v. Uber Techs., Inc., No. 17-CH- 15594 (Cir.
Ct. Cook Cty., Ill.): Representing both the City of Chicago and the
People of the State of Illinois (through the Cook County State's
Attorney) in a lawsuit against tech giant Uber Technologies,
stemming from a 2016 data breach at the company and an alleged
cover-up that followed.
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General Commercial
Litigation

Our attorneys have also handled a wide range
of general commercial litigation matters, from
partnership and business-to-business disputes
to litigation involving corporate takeovers. We
have handled cases involving tens of thousands of
dollars to “bet the company” cases involving up to
hundreds of millions of dollars. Our attorneys have
collectively tried hundreds of cases, as well as scores
of arbitrations. We have routinely been brought on
to be “negotiation” counsel in various high-stakes or
otherwise complex commercial disputes.
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Our Team

Our Team

Jay Edelson
Founder and CEO
J ay has received special recognition for his success in taking on Silicon Valley. The
national press has dubbed Jay and the firm the “most feared” litigators in Silicon Valley
and, according to the New York Times, tech’s “babyfaced … boogeyman.” Most recently,
Chicago Lawyer Magazine dubbed Jay “Public Enemy No. 1 in Silicon Valley.” In the
emerging area of privacy law, the international press has called Jay one of the world’s
“profiliertesten (most prominent)” privacy class action attorneys. The National Law
Journal has similarly recognized Jay as a “Cybersecurity Trailblazer”—one of only two
plaintiff’s attorneys to win this recognition.
J ay has taught seminars on class actions and negotiations at Chicago-Kent College
of Law and privacy litigation at UC Berkeley School of Law. He has written a blog for
Thomson Reuters, called Pardon the Disruption, where he focused on ideas necessary to
reform and reinvent the legal industry and has contributed opinion pieces to TechCrunch,
Quartz, the Chicago Tribune, Law360, and others. He also serves on Law360’s Privacy &
Consumer Protection editorial advisory board. In recognition of the fact that his firm runs
like a start-up that “just happens to be a law firm,” Jay was recently named to “Chicago’s
Top Ten Startup Founders over 40” by Tech.co.
J ay has been regularly appointed to lead complicated MDLs and other coordinated
litigation, including those seeking justice for college football players suffering from the
effects of concussions to homeowners whose HELOCs were improperly slashed after the
2008 housing collapse to some of the largest privacy cases of the day.
J ay recieved his JD from the University of Michigan Law School.
F
 or a more complete bio, see https://edelson.com/team/jay-edelson/
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Our Team

Rafey S. Balabanian
Global Managing Partner
Director of Nationwide Litigation
Rafey’s class action practice also includes his work in the privacy sphere, and he has
reached groundbreaking settlements with companies like Netflix, LinkedIn, Walgreens,
and Nationstar. Rafey also served as lead counsel in the case of Dunstan, et al.
v. comScore, Inc., No. 11-cv-5807 (N.D. Ill.), where he led the effort to secure class
certification of what is believed to be the largest adversarial class to be certified in a
privacy case in the history of U.S. jurisprudence.
Rafey’s work in general complex commercial litigation includes representing clients
ranging from “emerging technology” companies, real estate developers, hotels,
insurance companies, lenders, shareholders and attorneys. He has successfully litigated
numerous multi-million dollar cases, including several “bet the company” cases.
Rafey is a frequent speaker on class and mass action issues, and has served as a guest
lecturer on several occasions at UC Berkeley School of Law. Rafey also serves on the
Executive Committee of the Antitrust, Unfair Competition and Privacy Section of the
State Bar of California where he has been appointed Vice Chair of Privacy, as well as the
Executive Committee of the Privacy and Cybersecurity Section of the Bar Association of
San Francisco.
Rafey received his J.D. from the DePaul University College of Law in 2005. A native
of Colorado, Rafey received his B.A. in History, with distinction, from the University of
Colorado – Boulder in 2002.
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Our Team

Eve-Lynn Rapp
Managing Partner, Boulder

Wiretap Act against a company collecting highly sensitive personal information from
consumers, in which she obtained a $5 million (CAD) settlement that afforded individual
class members over one hundred dollars in relief.
In addition to her government and privacy work, Eve has led over a dozen consumer
fraud cases, against a variety of industries, including e-cigarette sellers, on-line gaming
companies, and electronic and sport products distributors. She lead and resolved a case
against a 24 Hour Fitness for misrepresenting its “lifetime memberships,” which resulted
in over 25 million dollars of relief.
Due to Eve’s knowledge and practice in the data privacy, technology and consumer
protection space, Eve serves as the Chair of the San Francisco Bar Association’s
Cybersecurity and Privacy Committee, where she is responsible for hosting and speaking
about a range of cutting-edge issues. She also speaks on various panels about cutting
edge issues ranging from upcoming regulatory efforts, “issues to watch,” and litigation
trends.
Eve is passionate about diversity and social justice. She is a Board Member of the
Law Firm Antiracism Alliance, a coalition of more than 240 law firms that team up with
organizations to amplify voices of communities impacted by systemic racism, promote
racial equality in the law, and support the use of law that benefits communities of color.
She also works with various organizations such as the Diverse Attorney Pipeline Program,
where she helps her firm conduct over 20 mock interviews for women of color each
year in effort to help expand their postgraduate opportunities, and organizations like the
East Bay Community Law Center and Berkeley’s Women of Color Collective. As a young
attorney, Eve likewise devoted a significant amount of time to the Chicago Lawyers’
Committee for Civil Rights Under Law’s Settlement Assistance Project, where she
represented a number of pro bono clients for settlement purposes.
From 2015-2019, Eve was selected as an Illinois Emerging Lawyer by Leading Lawyers.
Eve received her J.D. from Loyola University of Chicago-School of Law, graduating
cum laude, with a Certificate in Trial Advocacy. During law school, she was an Associate
Editor of Loyola’s International Law Review and externed as a “711” at both the Cook
County State’s Attorney’s Office and for Cook County Commissioner Larry Suffredin. Eve
also clerked for both civil and criminal judges (The Honorable Judge Yvonne Lewis and
Plummer Lott) in the Supreme Court of New York. Eve graduated from the University of
Colorado, Boulder, with distinction and Phi Beta Kappa honors, receiving a B.A. in Political
Science.
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Our Team

Benjamin H. Richman
Managing Partner, Chicago
Student-Athlete Concussion Injury Litigation – Single Sport/Single School (Football)
multidistrict litigation, bringing personal injury lawsuits against the NCAA, athletic
conferences, and its member institutions over concussion-related injuries. In addition, Ben
has and is currently acting as lead counsel in numerous class actions involving alleged
violations of class members’ common law and statutory rights (e.g., violations of Alaska’s
Genetic Privacy Act, Illinois’ Biometric Information Privacy Act, the federal Telephone
Consumer Protection Act, and others).
Some of Ben’s notable achievements include acting as class counsel in litigating and
securing a $45 million settlement of claims against for-profit DeVry University related to
its allegedly false reporting of job placement statistics. He has acted as lead counsel in
securing settlements collectively worth $50 million in over a half-dozen nationwide class
actions against software companies involving claims of fraudulent marketing and unfair
business practices. He was part of the team that litigated over a half-dozen nationwide
class actions involving claims of unauthorized charges on cellular telephones, which
ultimately led to settlements collectively worth hundreds of millions of dollars. And he has
been lead counsel in numerous multi-million dollar privacy settlements, including several
that resulted in individual payments to class members reaching into the tens of thousands
of dollars and another that—in addition to securing millions of dollars in monetary relief—
also led to a waiver by the defendants of their primary defenses to claims that were not
otherwise being released.
Ben’s work in complex commercial matters includes successfully defending multiple
actions against the largest medical marijuana producer in the State of Illinois related to
the issuance of its cultivation licenses, and successfully defending one of the largest
mortgage lenders in the country on claims of unjust enrichment, securing dismissals or
settlements that ultimately amounted to a fraction of typical defense costs in such actions.
Ben has also represented startups in various matters, including licensing, intellectual
property, and mergers and acquisitions.
Each year since 2015, Ben has been recognized by Super Lawyers as a Rising Star and
Leading Lawyers as an Emerging Lawyer in both class action and mass tort litigation.
 Ben received his J.D. from the University of Illinois Chicago School of Law, where he was an
Executive Editor of the Law Review and earned a Certificate in Trial Advocacy. While in law
school, Ben served as a judicial extern to the late Honorable John W. Darrah of the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois. Ben also routinely guest-lectures at
various law schools on issues related to class actions, complex litigation and negotiation.
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EXHIBIT 10

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
RACHEL LABARRE, Individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated
Plaintiff,
v.
CERIDIAN HCM, INC., a Delaware
corporation,
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

No. 2019 CH 06489

DECLARATION OF CHESTER CRISTOBAL
I, Chester Cristobal, on oath state as follows:
1. I currently serve in the role of Principal Application Specialist, Product Solutions for
Ceridian HCM, Inc. (“Ceridian”).
2. I am over eighteen (18) years of age. I am fully competent to make this Affidavit.
3. Ceridian hosts customer databases that hold human resources information about employees
of Ceridian’s customers. The databases contain pertinent information necessary for
employers to issue payroll to their employees, such as employee names, addresses, and
hours worked.
4. The hours worked are derived from employer timeclocks that record when an employee
clocks in and out.
5. Ceridian is able to extract data relevant to class members from client databases using SQL
queries
6. Some of the timeclocks utilize finger scanning devices. These timeclocks create a template
of an employee’s finger, which then is converted into an alpha-numeric “Template Value”
using a proprietary algorithm.
7. Prior to May 28, 2019, Ceridian prepared and deployed a script that deletes all Template
Values of employees whose employment had terminated, or whose employee badge has
not been actively used, within the previous 90 days (hereinafter “Deletion Script”).

8. In order to identify individuals that would meet the class definition in this litigation, a query
was developed to search those databases. Because the Deletion Script had removed
Template Values for individuals that stopped using the relevant timeclocks, the query
cannot simply search for Template Values in the databases. Instead, the query was
developed to identify those individuals within the databases that either have, or had, a
Template Value.
9. I worked on the development of the query, reviewed the query and applied the query to the
databases. I have direct knowledge of how the query works, as well as the results of the
query and the necessary filtering of the data.
10. The query first seeks to identify those employers that have Template Values stored in their
Ceridian-hosted database. This indicates that the employer has deployed a timeclock with
a finger scanner.
11. The query then identified all individuals, who worked for those identified employers, that
have a “work in” address located in Illinois, and identifies those individuals who have
punched on any of that employer’s timeclocks.
12. Once the query identified the potential universe of all individuals who worked in Illinois
and who have or had a Template Value stored in the Ceridian-hosted database, the data
was then filtered to identify those employees that have either: (a) a finger scanner timeclock
enrollment date within the relevant time period; or (b) a timeclock punch within the
relevant time period.
13. The relevant time period for purposes of paragraph 12 above, is May 28, 2014 to the date
the employer completed all necessary upgrades that provided for Ceridian’s on screen
consent and continuing deletion protocol, which were first available by April 11, 2019.
14. From the information determined through the query and data filtering described above, I
then removed employees of DPI Specialty Foods, Inc., Richelieu Foods, Inc., Griffith
Foods Group, Inc., Pret a Manger (USA) Limited, and Woodman’s Food Market.
15. The query, the data filtering, and the manual removal of certain employers resulted in the
identification of 14,142 individuals who used a finger scanning timeclock in Illinois.

2

UNDER PENALTIES AS PROVIDED BY LAW PURSUANT TO SECTION 1-109 OF THE
ILLINOIS CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, THE UNDERSIGNED CERTIFIES THAT THE
STATEMENTS SET FORTH IN THIS INSTRUMENT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT, EXCEPT
FOR MATTERS THEREIN STATED TO BE ON INFORMATION AND BELIEF AND AS TO
SUCH MATTERS THE UNDERSIGNED CERTIFIES AS AFORESAID THAT THE AFFIANT
VERILY BELIEVES THE SAME TO BE TRUE.
AFFIANT FURTHER SAYETH NOT.

March 15, 2022

________________________________

Date

Signature
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION
RACHEL LABARRE, individually and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,
Case No. 2019 CH 06489
Plaintiff,
Calendar 2
v.
Judge Raymond W. Mitchell
CERIDIAN HCM, INC., a Delaware corporation,
Defendant,
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR AND MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF
PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT
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I.

INTRODUCTION
The Biometric Information Privacy Act (“BIPA”), 740 ILCS 14/1 et seq., requires

entities that collect protected biometric data—like fingerprints—to (1) inform people that their
data is being collected, who is collecting it, and why it is being collected, and (2) receive written
consent regarding the collection. Numerous class actions have been filed under BIPA against
employers for collecting employees’ biometric data through finger-scanning timeclocks. This
case, too, is a BIPA suit, and one brought by Illinois workers. But it differs from most BIPA
actions in that it is not brought against an employer; instead, it is against the provider of the
biometric timekeeping technology itself, Ceridian HCM, Inc. Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre alleges
that Ceridian provided its cloud-based, finger-scanning Dayforce timeclock system to employers
throughout the state (including her former employer) to facilitate tracking employees’ working
hours using their fingerprints. Unbeknownst to Plaintiff (and thousands of other Illinois
workers), she alleges, when employees used Ceridian’s Dayforce system at work, Ceridian itself
collected and stored their fingerprint information on its servers, without complying with BIPA.
Following multiple motions to dismiss, written discovery, months of negotiation, and a
full-day mediation before the Honorable James F. Holderman (Ret.) of JAMS in Chicago, the
parties have reached a class-wide settlement that, if approved, will provide outstanding monetary
and prospective relief to the Settlement Class.1 Specifically, Ceridian has agreed to pay
$3,493,074.00 into a non-reversionary Settlement Fund for the benefit of approximately 14,142
Settlement Class members who, like Plaintiff, scanned their finger on a Ceridian Dayforce
system timeclock in Illinois. Each Class Member who files a valid Claim Form will be entitled to

1

Capitalized terms used in this motion are those used in the Class Action Settlement
Agreement (the “Settlement” or “Agreement”), attached hereto as Exhibit 1.
1
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a pro rata share of the Settlement Fund, which, assuming a claims rate of 10–20%, will amount
to payments of approximately $790 to $1,580 after costs and any fees are deducted. In addition,
Ceridian has agreed (1) to maintain its publicly-available retention and deletion policy for
biometric data on its website; (2) to destroy biometric data—including biometric data of Class
Members—pursuant to that policy; and (3) to require its customers to obtain written releases—
including through on-screen consent deployed on the timeclocks by default—before those
customers’ employees use Ceridian timeclocks to scan their fingers. In exchange for this
monetary and prospective relief, Class Members will release their BIPA claims against Ceridian
and its affiliates. Importantly, however, Class Members will retain any separate BIPA claims
they have against their employers who may have also violated BIPA by collecting the same
biometric data.
The relief provided by this Settlement is exceptional under any metric. Like other leading
BIPA class action settlements, this one creates a non-reversionary common fund, which the class
shares pro rata. This settlement, however, provides high per-person monetary relief. Cf., e.g.,
Prelipceanu v. Jumio Corp., 2018-CH-15883 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. July 21, 2020) ($7 million
fund for approximately 260,000 class members); Miracle-Pond v. Shutterfly, 2019-CH-07050
(Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. Sept. 9, 2021) ($6.75 million fund for potentially millions of class
members); Rosenbach v. Six Flags Ent. Corp., 2016-CH-00013 (Cir. Ct. Lake Cnty. Oct. 29,
2021) ($36 million fund for approximately 1,110,000 class members, capping class member
payments at $200 or $60 depending on date of finger scan).
Given the relief proposed by the Settlement Agreement, this Court should not hesitate to
find that the settlement is well within the range of possible approval. Accordingly, Plaintiff
respectfully requests that the Court grant her motion for preliminary approval in its entirety,

2
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certify the proposed Settlement Class, appoint Plaintiff as Class Representative and her attorneys
as Class Counsel, direct that the proposed Notice be disseminated to the Settlement Class, and
set a date for a Final Approval Hearing.
II.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A.

Illinois’s Biometric Information Privacy Act

A brief history and overview of BIPA gives context to the reasonableness of the proposed
settlement. In the early 2000s, a company called Pay By Touch began installing fingerprintbased checkout terminals at grocery stores, gas stations, and school cafeterias. (First Amended
Complaint (“FAC”), attached hereto as Exhibit 2, ¶¶ 11–12.) The premise was simple: swipe
your credit card and let the machine scan your index finger, and the next time you buy groceries
or gas, you won’t need to bring your wallet—you’ll just need to provide your fingerprint. By the
end of 2007, however, Pay By Touch had filed for bankruptcy. (Id. ¶ 12.) When Pay By Touch’s
parent company, Solidus, started shopping its database of Illinois consumers’ fingerprints as an
asset to its creditors, a public outcry erupted. 2 Though the bankruptcy court eventually ordered
Pay By Touch to destroy its database of fingerprints (and their ties to credit card numbers), the
Illinois legislature took note of the dangers posed by the irresponsible collection and storage of
biometric data without notice, consent, or other protections. See 95th Ill. Gen. Assemb., House
Proceedings, May 30, 2008, at 249 (statements of Representative Ryg).
Recognizing the “very serious need” to protect Illinoisans’ biometric data—which
includes not just fingerprints, but retina scans, voiceprints, and scans of hand or face geometry—

2

See, e.g., Meg Marco, Creepy Fingerprint Pay Processing Company Shuts Down,
CONSUMERIST, available at https://goo.gl/rKJ8oP (last accessed Apr. 21, 2022); Matt Marshall,
Pay By Touch In Trouble, Founder Filing For Bankruptcy, VENTUREBEAT, available at
http://goo.gl/xT8HZW (last accessed Apr. 21, 2022).
3
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the legislature unanimously passed BIPA in 2008 to provide individuals recourse when
companies fail to protect their biometric data. Id. Thus, BIPA makes it unlawful for any private
entity to “collect, capture, purchase, receive through trade, or otherwise obtain a person’s or a
customer’s biometric identifier or biometric information, unless it first:
(1) informs the subject … in writing that a biometric identifier or biometric information is
being collected or stored;
(2) informs the subject … in writing of the specific purpose and length of term for which
a biometric identifier or biometric information is being collected, stored, and used; and
(3) receives a written release executed by the subject of the biometric identifier or
biometric information.”
740 ILCS 14/15(b). BIPA also requires companies handling biometric data to develop and
comply with a written policy establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently
destroying biometric information, which shall occur after the initial purpose for collecting the
information has been satisfied or within three years of the individual’s last interaction with the
company, whichever comes first. 740 ILCS 14/15(a). To enforce the statute, BIPA provides a
private right of action and allows for the recovery of statutory damages in the amount of $1,000
for negligent violations (or $5,000 for willful violations) plus costs and reasonable attorneys’
fees. 740 ILCS 14/20.
B.

Plaintiff’s Allegations and Defendant’s Dayforce System

As part of a cloud-based time and attendance system called Dayforce, Ceridian sells
timeclocks with a biometric fingerprint scanner to its employer-customers. (FAC ¶¶ 1, 21.)
When employees first begin work at a company that uses Ceridian’s Dayforce system, they are
required to scan their fingerprint into the system as means of authentication and to subsequently
scan their fingerprint with the timeclock each time they “punch” into or out of work. (Id. ¶¶ 2,

4
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21, 23.) Ceridian sells its Dayforce system to employers throughout Illinois, including Plaintiff
Rachel LaBarre’s former employer, Standard Market. (Id. ¶ 1.)
Ms. LaBarre alleges that when an employee scans their fingerprint on a Ceridian
timeclock, the timeclock automatically sends the employee’s biometric fingerprint data to
Ceridian’s servers to be collected and stored in Ceridian’s fingerprint database. (Id. ¶ 22.) Ms.
LaBarre further alleges that Ceridian failed to inform employees like her that it was collecting
their biometric information, failed to obtain written releases from them before doing so, failed to
inform them of the specific purpose and length of time for which their biometric information was
being collected and stored, and failed to establish a publicly-available written policy setting forth
a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying no-longer-needed biometric
information. (Id. ¶¶ 50–53.)
C.

Litigation, Negotiation, and Settlement

In 2019, Ms. LaBarre filed this lawsuit as a putative class action against Ceridian for its
alleged violations of BIPA. In response, Ceridian moved to dismiss the complaint pursuant to
735 ILCS 5/2-619.1 and to strike her class allegations. After briefing and oral argument, Judge
Jacobius granted Ceridian’s motion to dismiss (pursuant to Section 2-615 only), and granted
Plaintiff leave to amend; he denied Ceridian’s motion to strike the class allegations. (See Aug.
25, 2020, Memo. Op. & Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 3.)
Plaintiff amended her complaint, to which Ceridian again responded with a motion to
dismiss. After another round of briefing and oral argument Judge Jacobius denied the motion in
its entirety. (Mar. 4, 2021, Memo. Op. & Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 4.) Defendant
subsequently answered the amended complaint, denying all material allegations and raising
twenty-two affirmative defenses. (Def.’s Ans., attached hereto as Exhibit 5.)

5
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With respect to discovery, Ceridian moved to bifurcate discovery between class
certification and merits issues, which Plaintiff opposed and the parties fully briefed. Following
oral argument, Judge Jacobius continued Defendant’s motion and directed it to file a
supplemental submission providing certain information to aid in ruling on the motion to
bifurcate, such as the number of Ceridian customers who deployed the timeclocks at issue in
Illinois and, of those customers, how many obtained a consent form to collect biometric data that
identified Ceridian. (July 6, 2021, Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 6.) Defendant provided the
information as required. After another hearing on Defendant’s motion to bifurcate discovery,
Judge Jacobius again continued the motion but ordered the parties to commence limited written
discovery into any BIPA-related consent forms obtained or disclosures made by Ceridian or its
customers. (Aug. 9, 2021, Order, attached hereto as Exhibit 7.)
While this discovery was proceeding—and with Defendant’s motion to bifurcate still
pending—the parties began to explore the potential for class-wide resolution. After exchanging
several demands and counteroffers, the parties agreed that a formal mediation would be
productive. (Declaration of Schuyler Ufkes (“Ufkes Decl.”), attached hereto as Exhibit 8, at ¶ 2.)
On February 3, 2022, the parties participated in a full-day, formal mediation session with the
Honorable James F. Holderman (Ret.) of JAMS in Chicago. (Id.) The parties negotiated
throughout the day and ultimately reached an agreement on the material terms of a class-wide
settlement at the end of the mediation session. (Id.) That agreement was memorialized in a
Memorandum of Understanding, after which Ceridian provided confirmatory discovery
demonstrating that the proposed Settlement Class contains 14,142 members. (See Agreement,
Recitals, ¶ L.) Over the next several months the agreed-upon terms were finalized into the
Settlement presented here.

6

FILED DATE: 4/22/2022 12:23 PM 2019CH06489

III.

TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
The terms of the Settlement are set forth in the Class Action Settlement Agreement, and

are briefly summarized here:
A.

Class Definition

The Settlement Class includes all individuals who scanned their fingers in Illinois on a
timeclock issued, leased, or sold by Ceridian, and for whom any alleged biometric data relating
to that scan was shared with or stored by Ceridian, between May 28, 2014, and the date of
preliminary approval of the settlement. (Agreement § 1.26.) In addition to the usual exclusions,3
the Settlement Class excludes individuals who executed Defendant’s on-screen consent prior to
any use of Ceridian finger scanners and individuals who were settlement class members in any of
five other BIPA cases brought against five employers who deployed the Ceridian timeclocks.4
B.

Settlement Payments

The settlement provides that Defendant will create a non-reversionary Settlement Fund in
the amount of $3,493,074.00 for the benefit of the Settlement Class. (Id. § 1.28.) Each Settlement
Class Member filing an approved claim will receive a pro rata share of the Settlement Fund after
payment of settlement administration expenses, any incentive award to Plaintiff, and any

3

Excluded from the settlement class are (1) any Judge or Magistrate presiding over this
action and members of their families, (2) Defendant, Defendant’s subsidiaries, parent companies,
successors, predecessors, and any entity in which Defendant or its parents have a controlling
interest, (3) persons who properly execute and file a timely request for exclusion from the
settlement class, and (4) the legal representatives, successors, or assigns of any such excluded
persons. (Agreement § 1.26.)
4

Those cases are Edmond v. DPI Specialty Foods, Inc., 2018-CH-09573 (Cir. Ct. Cook
Cnty.); Gonzalez v. Richelieu Foods, Inc., No. 20-cv-04354 (N.D. Ill.); Terry v. Griffith Foods
Group, Inc., 2019-CH-12910 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty.); Quarles v. Pret a Manger (USA) Ltd., No.
20-cv-7179 (N.D. Ill.), and Struck & Jones v. Woodman’s Food Market, 2021-CH-053 (19th Jud.
Cir., Lake Cnty.). (Agreement § 1.26.)
7
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attorneys’ fee award. (Id. §§ 1.29, 2.1(a).) Assuming a robust 10–20% claims rate, class
members with approved claims are expected to receive $790 to $1,580 each. Class members
have the option of having their settlement payment transmitted to them via Venmo, Zelle,
Paypal, or check. (Id. § 2.1(g).) Any uncashed checks or electronic payments unable to be
processed within 180 days of issuance will, subject to Court approval, be distributed to the
Illinois Bar Foundation or some other cy pres recipient selected by the Court pursuant to 735
ILCS 5/2-807(b). (Id. § 2.1(j).)
C.

Prospective Relief

Defendant has agreed to maintain a publicly-available written policy on its website,5
establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently destroying any biometric data.
(Id. § 2.2(a).) Defendant has further agreed to destroy biometric data in its possession pursuant to
that policy—including biometric data of Settlement Class members in its possession no longer
needed by its customers—and to maintain a process by which its customers are required to
obtain written releases before individuals can use Ceridian timeclocks to scan their fingers,
including via on-screen consent deployed by default on the clocks. (Id. § 2.2.)
D.

Payment of Settlement Notice and Administrative Costs

Defendant has agreed to pay from the Settlement Fund all notice and administrative
expenses. (Id. § 1.24.)
E.

Payment of Attorneys’ Fees, Costs, and Incentive Award

Defendant has agreed that proposed Class Counsel is entitled to reasonable attorneys’
fees in an amount to be determined by the Court by petition. (Id. § 8.1). Proposed Class Counsel
has agreed, with no consideration from Defendant, to limit its request for fees to 35% of the

5

See Ceridian’s Biometric Statement, available at https://tinyurl.com/4ajtaydj.
8

FILED DATE: 4/22/2022 12:23 PM 2019CH06489

Settlement Fund. (Id.) Defendant has also agreed to pay Plaintiff an incentive award in the
amount of $5,000 from the Settlement Fund, subject to Court approval, in recognition of her
efforts as class representative. (Id. § 8.2.) Plaintiff will move for these payments via a separate
request after preliminary approval and before the Objection/Exclusion Deadline.
F.

Release of Liability

In exchange for the relief described above, Defendant and its related companies will be
released from any and all claims related to its alleged collection, possession, capture, purchase,
receipt through trade, obtaining, sale, profit from, disclosure, redisclosure, dissemination,
storage, transmittal, and/or protection from disclosure of biometric information from its
timeclocks. (Id. § 1.22. 3.1.) Importantly, the release does not include Defendant’s customers—
i.e., employers of Class Members who used Ceridian timeclocks—and Class Members retain any
separate BIPA claims they have against their employers who may have also violated BIPA by
collecting the same biometric data. (Id. § 1.22.)
IV.

THE PROPOSED CLASS SHOULD BE CERTIFIED FOR SETTLEMENT
PURPOSES
Before the Court can grant preliminary approval of the proposed settlement, it must

certify the proposed settlement class. See Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 620
(1997). The proposed settlement class must satisfy the requirements enumerated in 735 ILCS
5/2-801 by showing that (1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable, (2) common questions of law and fact predominate over any questions affecting
only individual interests of the class members, (3) the representative parties fairly and adequately
protect the interests of the class, and (4) class treatment is an appropriate method for the fair and
efficient adjudication of the controversy. Cruz v. Unilock Chicago, Inc., 383 Ill. App. 3d 752,
760–61 (2d Dist. 2008) (citing 735 ILCS 5/2-801). Section 2-801 is modeled on Federal Rule of

9
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Civil Procedure 23, and federal cases interpreting that rule are persuasive authority in Illinois. Id.
at 761 (citing Avery v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 216 Ill. 2d 100, 125 (2005)). When
determining whether a class should be certified, courts accept the allegations in the operative
complaint as true. Ramirez v. Midway Moving & Storage, Inc., 378 Ill. App. 3d 51, 53 (1st Dist.
2007). As explained below, the Settlement Class here satisfies each requirement of Section 2-801
for certification for settlement purposes.
A.

The Proposed Settlement Class is Sufficiently Numerous.

The first requirement of Section 2-801—numerosity—is not a high bar. While there is
“no bright line [and] no magic number,” a class containing more than forty people is typically
sufficient. Wood River Area Dev. Corp. v. Germania Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n, 198 Ill. App. 3d
445, 450 (5th Dist. 1990). Here, the proposed Settlement Class readily satisfies the numerosity
requirement as it includes over 14,000 members. See Cruz, 383 Ill. App. 3d at 771 (finding class
of nearly 200 individuals sufficiently numerous).
B.

Common Issues of Law and Fact Predominate.

The second requirement of Section 2-801 asks whether “questions of fact or law common
to the class … predominate over any questions affecting only individual members.” 735 ILCS
5/2-801(2). To fulfill this requirement, a plaintiff must demonstrate that “successful adjudication
of the purported class representative[’]s individual claims will establish a right of recovery in
other class members.” Ramirez, 378 Ill. App. 3d at 54 (quoting Hall v. Sprint Spectrum, L.P.,
376 Ill. App. 3d 822, 830–32 (5th Dist. 2007)). Common questions typically predominate when
defendants have engaged in standardized conduct toward members of the proposed class. See
Miner v. Gillette Co., 87 Ill. 2d 7, 19 (1981); McCarthy v. LaSalle Nat’l Bank & Tr. Co., 230 Ill.
App. 3d 628, 634 (1st Dist. 1992).

10
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Here, common issues of law and fact clearly predominate. Plaintiff’s and the proposed
Settlement Class’s claims are based upon the same common contention and course of conduct by
Defendant. Each class member was employed in Illinois by a company using Defendant’s
Dayforce system, a biometric time tracking system that uses fingerprints as a means of
identification. (FAC ¶ 23.) When an employee first begins work at a company that uses the
Ceridian Dayforce system, they are required to have their fingerprints scanned in order to enroll
them in Ceridian’s fingerprint database, and the employees then use their fingerprint to “punch”
into or out of work. (Id. ¶¶ 21, 23.) Plaintiff alleges that each time an employee scans their
fingerprint on one of Defendant’s time clocks, the time clock automatically sends the employee’s
biometric fingerprint data to Defendant’s servers to be collected and stored in its fingerprint
database. (Id. ¶ 22.)
Because Ceridian’s alleged method of collection and storage of fingerprint data was the
same as to all Class Members, whether Ceridian violated BIPA as alleged in this suit raises
several issues of law and fact common to the proposed Settlement Class that predominate over
any individualized issues. These issues—many of which were recognized by Judge Jacobius in
his order denying Ceridian’s motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint—include: (1)
whether Ceridian’s time clocks automatically sent employees’ fingerprint data to its servers; (2)
whether the fingerprint data collected by Ceridian constitutes “biometric identifiers” or
“biometric information” as defined by BIPA, 740 ILCS 14/10; (3) whether Ceridian had a
publicly-available policy establishing a retention schedule and guidelines for permanently
destroying biometric data as required by BIPA, 740 ILCS 14/15(a); (4) whether Ceridian
complied with that policy (if one existed); (5) whether Ceridian properly informed Plaintiff and
members of the proposed Settlement Class of its purpose in collecting, using, and storing their

11
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biometric data as required by BIPA, 740 ILCS 14/15(b); (6) whether Ceridian obtained a written
release to collect, use, and store Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ biometric data as required by
BIPA, id.; (7) whether Ceridian’s collection and storage of fingerprint data can be deemed to
have occurred “primarily and substantially” in Illinois so as to avoid extraterritorial application
of BIPA, Avery, 216 Ill. 2d at 187; and (8) whether Ceridian’s alleged violations of BIPA were
committed negligently or recklessly, see 740 ILCS 14/20 (providing different damage amounts
for negligent and reckless violations). Because these questions arise out of Ceridian’s uniform
course of conduct as to all members of the proposed Settlement Class, all will have common,
class-wide answers. These common questions predominate over any individual questions,
satisfying the second requirement of Section 2-801.
C.

The Adequacy Requirement Is Satisfied.

The third requirement of Section 2-801—adequacy—requires the class representative to
demonstrate that she will “fairly and adequately protect the interest[s] of the class.” 735 ILCS
5/2-801(3). This requirement ensures that the entire class “will receive proper and efficient
protection of their interests in the proceedings.” Ramirez v. Smart Corp., 371 Ill. App. 3d 797,
810 (3d Dist. 2007) overruled on other grounds by McIntosh v. Walgreens Boots All. Inc., 2019
IL 123626. To adequately represent a class, a proposed class representative must (1) be a
member of the class and (2) establish that she is not seeking relief that is potentially antagonistic
to the absent class members. Id. Attorneys seeking to represent the proposed class must also be
adequate, which requires a finding that they are “qualified, experienced and generally able to
conduct the proposed litigation.” Steinberg v. Chicago Med. Sch., 69 Ill. 2d 320, 339 (1977).
Here, both Plaintiff and proposed Class Counsel have and will continue to adequately
represent the Settlement Class. Plaintiff LaBarre, like every other member of the proposed

12
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Settlement Class, alleges that Ceridian collected her fingerprint data without notice or informed
written consent. (FAC ¶¶ 21–25, 28–35.) Because Plaintiff suffered the same alleged injury as
every other member of the proposed class, her interests in redressing Defendant’s alleged
violations of BIPA are identical to the interests of all other members of the proposed Settlement
Class. Therefore, she does not have any interests antagonistic to those of the proposed class, and
her interests are entirely representative of and consistent with the interests of the class.
Likewise, proposed Class Counsel have extensive experience litigating class actions of
similar size, scope, and complexity to the instant action. Edelson PC is a national leader in high
stakes’ plaintiffs’ work ranging from class and mass actions to public client investigations and
prosecutions. (See Firm Resume of Edelson PC, attached as Exhibit 8-A to Ufkes Decl.); see also
In re Facebook Privacy Litig., No. 5:10-cv-02389, dkt. 69 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 10, 2010)
(recognizing the firm as a “pioneer[] in the electronic privacy class action field”). The firm filed
the first-ever class action under BIPA against Facebook, Licata v. Facebook, Inc., No. 2015-CH05427 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. Apr. 1, 2015), secured the first-ever adversarially-certified BIPA
class action in that case and successfully defended the ruling in the Ninth Circuit, Patel v.
Facebook, Inc., 932 F.3d 1264, 1277 (9th Cir. 2019), and obtained final approval of a settlement
agreement with Facebook to resolve the case for $650 million. In re Facebook Biometric Info.
Priv. Litig., 522 F. Supp. 3d 617, 621 (N.D. Cal. 2021) (“Overall, the settlement is a major win
for consumers in the hotly contested area of digital privacy.”). The firm is also responsible for
the first-ever BIPA settlement, Sekura v. L.A. Tan Enters., Inc., 2015-CH-16694 (Cir. Ct. Cook
Cnty. Dec. 1, 2016), and has secured many favorable appellate decisions for BIPA plaintiffs. See,
e.g., Rottner v. Palm Beach Tan, Inc., 2019 IL App (1st) 180691-U (BIPA plaintiffs may recover
liquidated damages without proof of actual damages); Sekura v. Krishna Schaumburg Tan, Inc.,
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2018 IL App (1st) 180175 (BIPA plaintiffs not required to prove additional harm beyond
violation of the act); McDonald v. Symphony Bronzeville Park LLC, 2022 IL 126511 (exclusivity
provisions of the Workers’ Compensation Act do not bar BIPA claims by employees against
employers).
Proposed Class Counsel Fish Potter Bolaños, P.C. is a deeply experienced employment
class action firm. (See Declaration of David Fish (“Fish Decl.”), attached hereto as
Exhibit 9, at ¶ 3.) David Fish is a leader in employment law, having served on bar association
councils, as well as routinely presented and published on employment law issues facing
plaintiffs. (Id. ¶¶ 4–6.) Fish Potter Bolaños, P.C. has regularly litigated and settled labor-related
lawsuits, including a host of class actions focused on protecting the rights of thousands of Illinois
employees. (Id. ¶ 3); see also, e.g., Pietrzycki v. Heights Tower Serv., Inc., 197 F. Supp. 3d
1007, 1019 (N.D. Ill. 2016) (appointing David Fish class counsel after noting his “litigation
experience in labor/employment cases as well as class actions,” as well as his and his firm’s
diligence). Their work has been, and will continue to be, directly beneficial to the claims of
Plaintiff and the Settlement Class through the pendency of this action.
Simply put, both Plaintiff and her counsel will fairly and adequately protect the interests
of the class.
D.

The Appropriateness Requirement Is Satisfied.

The final requirement of Section 2-801 is that a “class action is an appropriate method for
the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.” 735 ILCS 5/2-801(4). In making this
determination, courts consider “whether a class action can best secure economies of time, effort,
and expense or accomplish the other ends of equity and justice that class actions seek to obtain.”
Ramirez, 378 Ill. App. 3d at 56 (internal citation omitted). Importantly, “[w]here the first three
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requirements for class certification have been satisfied, the fourth requirement may be
considered fulfilled as well.” Id.
Here, a class action is the most appropriate way to fairly and efficiently resolve the
claims at issue, as it would allow the Court to swiftly evaluate common issues regarding
Ceridian’s alleged fingerprint collecting practices, generating a uniform result that will apply to
all similarly situated persons. See, e.g., Cruz, 383 Ill. App. 3d at 780 (certifying class to “aid
judicial efficiency and administration” and to “prevent inconsistent results”). The class action
device is particularly appropriate here because it allows members of the proposed class to
aggregate relatively modest individual claims. By comparison, the cost of litigating BIPA claims
on an individual basis—including the cost of discovery, motion practice, and trial—would be
prohibitively expensive. See P.J.’s Concrete Pumping Serv., Inc. v. Nextel W. Corp., 345 Ill.
App. 3d 992, 1004 (2d Dist. 2004) (class action appropriate where defendants “cause small
damages to large groups”); In re Rhone-Poulenc Rorer Inc., 51 F.3d 1293, 1299 (7th Cir. 1995)
(“[T]he rationale for the [class action] procedure is most compelling [when] individual suits are
infeasible because the claim of each class member is tiny relative to the expense of litigation.”).
Like the first three requirements of Section 2-801, the final requirement is satisfied here,
and the proposed Settlement Class should therefore be certified for settlement purposes.
V.

THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT WARRANTS PRELIMINARY APPROVAL
Proposed class action settlements are reviewed in a well-established two-step process. 4

NEWBERG ON CLASS ACTIONS § 13:10 (5th ed. 2011). This settlement is currently in the first
step, which is a preliminary, pre-notification hearing where the Court assesses whether the
proposed settlement falls “within the range of possible approval” and determines whether to
notify the class members of the proposed settlement and to proceed with a final fairness hearing.
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Id. (quoting Manual for Complex Litigation (Third) § 30.41 (1995)); see also Steinberg v. Sys.
Software Assocs., Inc., 306 Ill. App. 3d 157, 169 (1st Dist. 1999). At the preliminary approval
stage, the Court need only conduct an initial evaluation of the fairness of the proposed settlement
based on the written submissions and oral presentations from the settling parties and may
withhold stricter review until the final fairness hearing, after class members have had an
opportunity to object to the settlement or exclude themselves. See Manual for Complex
Litigation (Fourth) § 21.632 (2004); see also, e.g., Rosen v. Ingersoll-Rand Co., 372 Ill. App. 3d
440, 442-44 (1st Dist. 2007). If the Court finds that a proposed settlement falls “within the range
of possible approval,” it grants preliminary approval to the agreement, notice is sent to the class,
and the case proceeds to step two in the review process—the final fairness hearing. 4 NEWBERG
ON CLASS ACTIONS

§ 13:10 (5th ed. 2011) (quoting Manual for Complex Litigation (Third)

§ 30.41 (1995)).
While the “[r]eview of class action settlements necessarily proceeds on a case-by-case
basis,” courts typically consider the following guiding factors when determining whether a
settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate: (1) the strength of the case compared to the relief
offered in settlement; (2) the defendant’s ability to pay; (3) the complexity, length, and expense
of further litigation; (4) the amount of opposition to the settlement; (5) the presence of collusion
in reaching a settlement; (6) the reaction of class members to the settlement; (7) the opinion of
competent counsel; and (8) the stage of proceedings and the amount of discovery completed.
GMAC Mortg. Corp. of Pa. v. Stapleton, 236 Ill. App. 3d 486, 493 (1st Dist. 1992) (citing City of
Chicago v. Korshak, 206 Ill. App. 3d 968, 971-72 (1st Dist. 1991)). Here, each relevant factor
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supports approval of the settlement, and thus the Court can appropriately find it is well within the
range of possible approval.6
A.

The Strength of Plaintiff’s Case Compared to the Relief Afforded Under the
Settlement Supports Granting Preliminary Approval.

“The strength of plaintiff’s case on the merits balanced against the settlement amount is
the most important factor in determining whether a settlement should be approved.” Steinberg,
306 Ill. App. 3d at 170. Here, while Plaintiff is confident she would have ultimately certified a
class for litigation and prevailed on the merits, there were not-insignificant obstacles to doing so.
Given the risks, the excellent monetary and prospective relief obtained is remarkable, and this
factor weighs strongly in favor of preliminary approval.
1.

The Relief Afforded by the Settlement Is Exceptional.

The strength of the settlement relief speaks for itself. If approved, it will create a nonreversionary cash fund of $3,493,074.00 to be distributed to up to 14,142 Class Members who
file claims, resulting in estimated individual cash payments (depending on claims rates, approved
fees, and costs) of between $790 and $1,580 each.
This monetary relief dwarfs the amounts recovered in many other statutory privacy class
actions, which have all too often produced no relief to the class or only cy pres relief. See, e.g.,
In re Google LLC Street View Elec. Commc’ns Litig., No. 10-md-02184-CRB, 2020 WL
1288377, at *11–14 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 18, 2020) (approving, over objections of class members and

6

The fourth and sixth factors—the amount of opposition to the settlement and the reaction
of settlement class members—are not relevant at the preliminary approval stage, as the Court
will not have the information necessary to assess them until notice of the settlement has been
disseminated and class members have had an opportunity to respond. Those factors can be
considered at the final approval stage. In addition, the second factor—defendant’s ability to
pay—is not relevant here, as there are no concerns regarding Ceridian’s solvency. See Korshak,
206 Ill. App. 3d at 973 (finding ability to pay factor not relevant).
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state attorney general, a settlement providing only cy pres relief for violations of Electronic
Communications Privacy Act, where $10,000 in statutory damages were available per claim);
Adkins v. Facebook, Inc., No. 18-cv-05982-WHA, dkts. 350, 369 (N.D. Cal. May 6, 2021 and
July 13, 2021) (approving settlement for injunctive relief only in class action arising out of
Facebook data breach and granting $6.5 million in attorneys’ fees and costs). Some BIPA
settlements, too, have depressed the amount defendants have to pay with credit monitoring, caps
on the amount claiming class members can recover, and reversion of unclaimed funds. E.g.,
Carroll v. Crème de la Crème, Inc., 2017-CH-01624 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. June 6, 2018) (credit
monitoring only); Marshall v. Lifetime Fitness, Inc., 2017-CH-14262 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. July
30, 2019) ($270 per-claimant cap and reversion); Zhirovetskiy v. Zayo Grp., LLC, 2017-CH09323 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. Apr. 8, 2019) (fund of $990,000 for 2,200 class members, which
capped payments at $400 and reverted up to $490,000 of unclaimed funds back to defendant).
On the other hand, leading BIPA settlements—like this one—create a substantial fund to
be split among the class with no reversion to defendants. See, e.g., Rottner v. Palm Beach Tan,
Inc., 2015-CH-16695 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. Feb. 25, 2022) (preliminarily approving $10,300,000
non-reversionary settlement estimated to provide $700 to $1,400 per claimant). And here, the
per-person relief provided by the settlement—estimated to be $790 to $1,580—far exceeds most
of its predecessors. See Prelipceanu, 2018-CH-15883 ($7 million fund for approximately
260,000 class members); Miracle-Pond, 2019-CH-07050 ($6.75 million fund for potentially
millions of class members) 7; Rosenbach, ($36 million fund for approximately 1,110,000 class

7

The settlement papers submitted in Miracle-Pond represented that there were
approximately 954,000 class members, but that number only counted Shutterfly users in Illinois;
it did not include the vast number of non-users who appeared in users’ photographs uploaded to
Shutterfly and who were included in the settlement class definition.
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members, capping class member payments at $200 or $60 depending on date of finger scan). In
fact, among all BIPA settlements with timeclock vendors to date, this settlement’s nearly $3.5
million fund for 14,142 class members provides the highest per-person relief. See Thome v.
NOVAtime Tech., Inc., No. 19-cv-6256, dkt. 90 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 8, 2021) ($4.1 million fund for
62,000 class members); Kusinski v. ADP LLC, 2017-CH-12364 (Cir. Ct. Cook Cnty. Feb. 10,
2021) ($25 million fund for approximately 320,000 class members); Figueroa, et al. v. Kronos
Inc., No. 19-cv-01306, dkt. 358 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 18, 2022) (preliminarily approving $15,276,227
fund for approximately 171,643 class members); Neals v. ParTech, Inc., No. 19-cv-05660, dkt.
127 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 3, 2022) (preliminarily approving $790,000 fund for 3,560 class members);
see also Bryant v. Compass Group USA, Inc., No. 19-cv-06622, dkt. 90 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 2, 2021)
(preliminarily approving $6.8 million settlement for 66,159 class members, which releases both
the vendor of the biometric technology and all of its customers). In short, the monetary relief
offered by the settlement is extraordinary.
In addition, the non-monetary benefits created by the settlement—Ceridian’s agreement
to maintain its publicly-available retention and deletion policy on its website, to destroy
biometric data pursuant to that policy, and to maintain a process by which its customers obtain
written releases before their employees use Ceridian timeclocks to scan their fingers—also
support approval. This prospective relief aligns perfectly with both the goals of BIPA and those
of this lawsuit, as it will ensure that past, current, and future employees of companies using
Ceridian timeclocks are protected as the legislature intended.
2.

Continued Litigation Was Not Without Risk.

Balanced against the substantial relief afforded by the settlement are the risks Plaintiff
faced by continuing litigation. These risks were not insignificant.
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First, continued litigation would have likely involved an opposition by Ceridian to class
certification. Although Plaintiff believes this case is amenable to class certification for the
reasons discussed above and that she would ultimately prevail on the issue, an adversarial class
certification process is not without risk. See, e.g., Hudson v. Libre Tech., Inc., No. 3:18-cv-1371,
2020 WL 2467060, at *6 (S.D. Cal. May 13, 2020) (“Proceeding in this litigation in the absence
of settlement poses various risks such as failing to certify a class[.]”).
Second, Ceridian (like nearly all BIPA defendants) was likely to argue that the fingerprint
scans captured by its timeclocks were not actually “biometric identifiers” or “biometric
information” as defined by BIPA, but some other category of finger scan information outside of
BIPA’s purview. Though Plaintiff puts little stock in this argument, it would still need to be
defeated at summary judgment or trial and remains an issue ungoverned by precedent.
Third, and perhaps most significantly, Plaintiff would have had to establish that her
claims were not barred by the general prohibition on the extraterritorial application of state
statutes. See Avery, 216 Ill. 2d at 184. Ceridian, a Delaware corporation with its principal place
of business in Minnesota, argued that its alleged misconduct did not take place primarily and
substantially in Illinois. Though Judge Jacobius rejected that argument at the motion to dismiss
stage, he explained that the inquiry is ultimately a fact-intensive one and noted that “any alleged
wrongdoing or damages purportedly caused by Ceridian must be tied to Ceridian’s conduct in or
related to Illinois.” (Ex. 4, Mar. 4, 2021, Memo. Op. & Order) In order to prevail at summary
judgment or trial, Plaintiff would have needed to overcome this not-insignificant hurdle. But see
In re Facebook Biometric Info. Priv. Litig., No. 3:15-CV-03747-JD, 2018 WL 2197546, at *4
(N.D. Cal. May 14, 2018) (“Facebook’s facial recognition program cannot be understood to have
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occurred wholly outside Illinois, and the same rather metaphysical arguments about where BIPA
was violated fare no better”).
Fourth, the applicable statute of limitations for BIPA claims is still in the balance, as just
recently the Illinois Supreme Court granted a petition for leave to appeal in Tims v. Black Horse
Carriers, Inc., 2021 IL App (1st) 200563, to finally resolve whether a one- or five-year
limitations period applies to the various claims under § 15 of BIPA. If the high court holds that a
one-year period applies to claims under §§ 15(a) and (b)—instead of a five-year period—the vast
majority of the class’s BIPA claims would be time barred absent settlement. (See Agreement §
1.26 (settling a five-year class period).)
Finally, attempts to gut BIPA in the legislature have been relentless. Over the past year,
at least eight such bills have been introduced to amend or repeal BIPA 8, and it is not
unprecedented for legislation to be amended while a class action is pending in a way that
threatens the class’s entire recovery. See, e.g., Perlin v. Time Inc., 237 F. Supp. 3d 623, 629-30
(E.D. Mich. 2017) (evaluating whether legislative amendment to state statute had retroactive
effect on pending class action). Though past attempts to narrow or eliminate BIPA through the
legislature have failed (in part due to the efforts of proposed Class Counsel), there is no
guarantee that opponents of BIPA will not at some point succeed in amending the statute in a
way that could negatively impact this suit were litigation to continue.
Though Plaintiff believes that all these obstacles are manageable and that her claims are
strong, continued litigation is not without risk. When balanced against these risks, the immediate

8

See H.B. 559, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); H.B. 560, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill.
2021); H.B. 1764, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); H.B. 3112, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill.
2021); H.B. 3304, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); H.B. 3414, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill.
2021); S.B. 56, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021); S.B. 300, 102nd Gen. Assembly (Ill. 2021).
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monetary and prospective relief offered by the settlement are compelling. Consequently, this
“most important” factor weighs strongly in favor of preliminarily approving the settlement.
B.

The Settlement is Reasonable Considering the Complexity, Length, and
Expense of Further Litigation.

The next relevant factor in assessing whether this Court should grant approval asks
whether the settlement is fair and reasonable given how lengthy, complex, and expensive further
litigation is likely to be. See Korshak, 206 Ill. App. 3d at 972; GMAC Mortg., 236 Ill. App. 3d at
498 (“One of the principal purposes of an early settlement is to avoid costly and lengthy
discovery.”). This settlement warrants approval because it provides immediate relief to the
Settlement Class while avoiding potentially years of complex litigation and appeals.
Continued litigation would consume significant resources, including the time and costs
associated with additional discovery, securing expert testimony on complex biometric and data
storage issues, briefing and arguing class certification and summary judgment, proceeding to
trial, and resolving any appeals. And “this drawn-out, complex, and costly litigation process …
would provide Class Members with either no in-court recovery or some recovery many years
from now[.]” In re AT & T Sales Tax Litig., 789 F. Supp. 2d 935, 964 (N.D. Ill. 2011). “As
courts recognize, a dollar obtained in settlement today is worth more than a dollar obtained after
a trial and appeals years later.” Goldsmith v. Tech. Sols. Co., No. 92 C 4374, 1995 WL
17009594, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 10, 1995). Because the proposed settlement offers immediate—
and substantial—monetary relief to the Settlement Class while avoiding the need for protracted
litigation, preliminary approval is appropriate. See Schulte v. Fifth Third Bank, 805 F. Supp. 2d
560, 586 (N.D. Ill. 2011) (“Settlement allows the class to avoid the inherent risk, complexity,
time, and cost associated with continued litigation.”).
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C.

The Settlement was Reached without Collusion and as a Result of Arm’sLength Negotiations Between the Parties.

The next preliminary approval factor looks to whether the parties colluded in negotiating
the settlement. See Korshak, 206 Ill. App. 3d at 972. Here, the answer is definitively no. The
parties have been contentiously litigating this case for several years, including contested motion
practice and discovery. In November 2021, after exchanging several demands and counteroffers,
the parties agreed that a formal mediation would be productive, and on February 3, 2022, they
participated in a full-day mediation session with the Honorable James F. Holderman (Ret.) of
JAMS in Chicago. (Ufkes Decl. ¶ 2.) At that mediation, and with the assistance of Judge
Holderman, the parties reached agreement on the material terms of a settlement and executed a
Memorandum of Understanding. (Id.) Over the next several months, the terms of that
understanding were fully hammered out into the Settlement presented here. (Id.)
The arm’s-length nature of these negotiations is further confirmed by the settlement
itself. It is non-reversionary, provides significant cash payments to Class Members, and contains
no provisions that might suggest fraud or collusion such as “clear sailing” or kicker clauses
regarding attorneys’ fees. See Snyder v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, No. 14 C 8461, 2019 WL
2103379, at *4 (N.D. Ill. May 14, 2019) (approving settlement where “there is no provision for
reversion of unclaimed amounts, no clear sailing clause regarding attorneys’ fees, and none of
the other types of settlement terms that sometimes suggest something other than an arm’s length
negotiation.”). The Court should not hesitate to find that this factor weighs strongly in favor of
settlement approval. See Shaun Fauley, Sabon, Inc. v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 2016 IL App (2d)
150236, ¶ 50 (finding there was no collusion where the record showed nothing but “good-faith,
arm’s-length negotiation”).
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D.

Proposed Class Counsel Firmly Believes that this Settlement is in the Best
Interests of the Settlement Class.

The Court should also consider whether counsel believes that the settlement is fair to the
Settlement Class. See Korshak, 206 Ill. App. 3d at 972. Here, proposed Class Counsel are well
versed in the law and facts of this litigation and are recognized leaders in consumer and privacy
class actions generally and in BIPA cases specifically. For the reasons discussed above, and
based on their extensive experience in the area, proposed Class Counsel genuinely believe that
the instant Settlement is fair, reasonable, adequate, and deserving of preliminary approval. See
GMAC Mortg., 236 Ill. App. 3d at 497 (finding this factor weighed in favor of settlement
approval where counsel had extensive class action experience).
E.

The Stage of Litigation and Amount of Discovery Completed Ensures the
Settlement is Fair, Reasonable, and Adequate.

The final factor looks to the amount of discovery completed and the state of proceedings
before the parties entered into the settlement. See Korshak, 206 Ill. App. 3d at 972. Here,
Plaintiff had survived a motion to dismiss and a motion to strike class allegations, and the case
had proceeded into discovery. Prior to agreeing to the settlement, the parties had exchanged
formal and informal discovery on any BIPA-related consent forms obtained or disclosures made
by Defendant, any retention schedules or guidelines of Defendant for destroying biometric
information, and the number of individuals using Defendant’s Dayforce system timeclocks in
Illinois. This discovery—along with the prior motion practice—ensured that the parties had
adequate information to assess the strength of the case and engage in settlement discussions. See
Am. Int’l Grp., Inc., v. ACE INA Holdings, Inc., No. 07 C 2898, 2011 WL 3290302, at *8 (N.D.
Ill. July 26, 2011) (the standard “is not whether it is conceivable that more discovery could
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possibly be conducted” but whether the court and parties have enough information “to evaluate
the merits of this case”).
Consequently, this factor—along with the other relevant factors discussed above—
weighs strongly in favor of preliminary approval.
VI.

THE PROPOSED NOTICE TO THE SETTLEMENT CLASS SHOULD BE
APPROVED
Finally, once a court has found that an action may proceed as a class action, it has

discretion to “order such notice that it deems necessary to protect the interests of the class and
the parties.” 735 ILCS 5/2-803; see also Client Follow-Up Co. v. Hynes, 105 Ill. App. 3d 619,
625 (1st Dist. 1982). Although the statute gives this Court broad discretion with respect to notice,
it must still consider the requirements of due process. Hynes, 105 Ill. App. 3d at 625; Carrao v.
Health Care Serv. Corp., 118 Ill. App. 3d 417, 429 (1st Dist. 1983). “[D]ue process requires
notice to be the best practicable, reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise
interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their
objections.” Shaun Fauley, Sabon, 2016 IL App (2d) 150236, ¶ 36 (internal quotations omitted).
“In addition, the notice should describe the action and the plaintiffs’ rights in it.” Id. (internal
quotations omitted).
Here, the Settlement Agreement contemplates a fulsome, multi-part notice plan, which
starts with compilation of the Class List. To compile the Class List, Ceridian has already sought
consent from its customers to disclose to the Settlement Administrator the names and contact
information (mailing addresses and personal email addresses) of Settlement Class members in
Ceridian’s databases. (Agreement § 4.1(a).) To the extent any customer refuses to provide such
consent to Ceridian, Plaintiff will issue a discovery request to Ceridian seeking the necessary
contact information and will move the Court for an order compelling Ceridian to provide it. (Id.
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§ 4.1(b).) To the extent Ceridian cannot be compelled to provide the contact information,
Ceridian will provide Plaintiff the name and business address of each refusing customer so that
Plaintiff may subpoena such customers for any missing class member contact information. (Id. §
4.1(c).) Finally, Plaintiff will provide all contact information she receives from the customers to
Ceridian for review and to confirm whether such individuals are Settlement Class members, and
Ceridian will then relay the Settlement Class member contact information to the Settlement
Administrator.9 (Id. § 4.1(d).)
Once the Class List has been compiled, the Settlement Administrator will update the
mailing addresses of Settlement Class members using the National Change of Address database
and other available resources. (Id. § 4.2(a).) The Settlement Administrator will then send direct
notice of the settlement via First Class Mail to all physical addresses on the Class List and via
email to all email addresses on the Class List. (Id. § 4.2(b).) Reminder emails will be sent to
Settlement Class members 30 days, 7 days, and—if the claims rate has not yet reached 10%—2
days prior to the Claims Deadline. (Id. § 4.2(c).) Finally, the Settlement Administrator will
develop, host, administer, and maintain a Settlement Website—CeridianBIPASettlement.com—
which will provide access to relevant documents as well as the ability to submit claim forms

9

Compiling the class list will inevitably take some time—it will be completed quickly if
the Court grants Plaintiff’s forthcoming motion to compel Ceridian, and it will take much longer
if Plaintiff must subpoena Ceridian’s customers and respond to their likely motions to quash. In
any event, the Settlement Administrator cannot send out Notice until the class list is complete.
Because any future case deadlines—including the Objection/Exclusion Deadline, the Claims
Deadline, and the date of the Final Approval Hearing—will cascade from the Notice Date, and
because a concrete Notice Date cannot be set at this time, Plaintiff suggests that if the Court is
inclined to grant preliminary approval, that it wait until after the class list is compiled to enter a
Preliminary Approval Order. That way, all future case deadlines will be set forth in one
Preliminary Approval Order. Plaintiff is happy to come back for a status hearing once the class
list is complete and at that time present a proposed Preliminary Approval Order with all future
case dates and deadlines filled in.
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online. (Id. §§ 1.30, 4.2(d).) Among other things, the Notice to be included in correspondence
with Settlement Class members and available on the Settlement Website describes the litigation
and Settlement Class members’ rights and options. (Id., Exs. B, C, D.) All of the Notice
correspondence and Settlement Website content is written in plain, easy-to-read language,
designed to be easily understood by Class Members. (Id.)
Because the proposed Notice Plan effectuates direct notice to all reasonably-identified
Settlement Class members and fully apprises them of their rights, it comports with the
requirements of Section 5/2-801 and due process. See, e.g., Shaun Fauley, Sabon, 2016 IL App
(2d) 150236, ¶ 37; Currie v. Wisc. Cent., Ltd., 2011 IL App (1st) 103095, ¶¶ 53–55.
Consequently, the Court should approve the proposed Notice Plan.
VII.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff Rachel LaBarre respectfully requests that this Court

enter an order (1) certifying the Settlement Class for settlement purposes, (2) naming Plaintiff
Rachel LaBarre as Class Representative, (3) appointing Jay Edelson, J. Eli Wade-Scott, and
Schuyler Ufkes of Edelson PC and David Fish of Fish Potter Bolaños, P.C. as Class Counsel, (4)
granting preliminary approval of the Settlement, (5) approving the proposed Notice Plan, (6)
ordering issuance of Notice, and (7) providing such other and further relief as the Court deems
reasonable and just.
Respectfully submitted,
RACHEL LABARRE, individually and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,
Dated: April 22, 2022

/s/ Schuyler Ufkes
One of Plaintiff’s Attorneys
Jay Edelson
jedelson@edelson.com
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J. Eli Wade-Scott
ewadescott@edelson.com
Schuyler Ufkes
sufkes@edelson.com
EDELSON PC
350 North LaSalle Street, 14th Floor
Chicago, Illinois 60654
Tel: 312.589.6370
Fax: 312.589.6378
Firm ID: 62075
David Fish
dfish@fishlawfirm.com
FISH POTTER BOLAÑOS, P.C.
200 East Fifth Avenue, Suite 123
Naperville, Illinois 60563
Tel: 630.355.7590
Fax: 630.778.0400
Firm ID: 44086
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Schuyler Ufkes, an attorney, hereby certify that I served the above and foregoing
Plaintiff’s Motion and Memorandum in Support of Preliminary Approval of Class Action
Settlement on all counsel of record by causing true and accurate copies of such paper to be
filed through the Court’s electronic filing system on April 22, 2022.
/s/ Schuyler Ufkes
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